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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TEHRE

Dedicated to developing Agraculture

Sincere an serving Ageaculture

n /\g@;ﬂ %%/ wA] %%%

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the "“Board” or the “Director(s)") of
China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company’, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to present to our
shareholders the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the
“Year’ or the “year under review"). During the Year, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$579 million, which was generally constant
as compared to that of the last financial year ended 31 March 2023 (the
"Previous Year").

The Group has built a nationwide chain of wholesale markets and a network
of modern agricultural produce logistics center, linking the southern and
northern regions and across the eastern and south-western parts of the PRC.
During the Year, the Group managed a total of eleven agricultural produce
exchange markets in mainland China, covering Wuhan, Huangshi, Suizhou,
Luoyang, Puyang, Kaifeng, Yulin, Qinzhou, Xuzhou, Huaian and Panjin, with
business spreading across various provinces, including Hubei Province,
Henan Province, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, Jiangsu Province
and Liaoning Province.
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NATIONAL POLICIES

According to the No. 1 Document of the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of China ("CPC") in 2024, national governance still
focuses on agriculture, which proposes various measures to revitalize
rural development, including: to ensure national food security, to
eliminate large-scale poverty, to raise the standards of rural industrial
development, rural construction and rural governance, and to strengthen
CPC's overall leadership over the work of “agriculture rural areas and
farmers” (“Three Rural”). Agricultural and rural departments and rural
revitalization departments at all levels are fully implementing the spirit of
the 20th National Congress of CPC and the Second Plenary Session of the
20th Central Committee of the CPC and the Second Plenary of the 20th
Central Committee of the Chinese Communist Party through in-depth
implementation of the Three Rural work, establishing the goal of building
a strong agricultural country and learning and utilizing the experience of
“Zhejiang's Green Rural Revival Program”, while insisting on people-oriented
development that adapts to local conditions and adopts different polices
as appropriate, making gradual and orderly progress to achieve long-
term results and concentrating on accomplishing practical matters that
are palpable to the public, in order to make substantial progress and meet
milestone targets.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERW|E

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

As a leading agricultural product logistics operator in mainland China,
despite the difficult business environment, the Group has been
consolidating and improving its business foundation, and successfully
stabilized its market share. Internally, the Group achieved standardized
management processes through its self-developed ERP management
platform (enterprise resources management system), with a view to
significantly optimizing management efficiency and saving operating costs.
Externally, the Group has made every effort to promote the intelligent
informatization of agricultural produce exchange markets and actively
developed an electronic transaction settlement platform to effectively
enhance the transaction efficiency of both purchasers and vendors in the
market and reduced the transaction costs. At the same time, through such
electronic management platforms, various operational data can be collected
and analyzed, and methods to enhance the efficiency of markets, operators
and purchasers can be summarized, thus achieving mutual benefits.

The Group will boost the development and construction of cold chains,
cold storage, logistics warehouses and other supporting facilities in existing
market cities, Greater Bay area cities and provincial capital cities. Benefiting
from the support of national policies, the Group firmly believes that the
cold storage industry will have a great potential development with the
improvement of the PRC's economy and consumption level of people.

Besides, the Group actively expands new business sales channels by
leveraging its eleven agricultural produce exchange markets across the
country, enjoying advantages of source resources, channel resources,
circulation service resources and retail resources in various places of origin.
Meanwhile, the Group will use the light asset model and modernized
management system to expand into different agricultural produce
exchange markets across the country to strengthen its competitive edge.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to utilize its leading position in
the industry and comprehensive agricultural produce exchange market
information system to continuously improve its profit model, aggressively
explore new market and adopt diversified market management model,
in order to further consolidate and drive business development and
achieve sustained profit growth. To seize new business opportunities, the
Group has adopted a series of measures: cooperate with different types of
partners using asset-light strategy, in order to expand its operation in China;
capitalize on opportunities arose from the PRC Government's promotion
of data economy through the online and offline platform development
business; utilize operating knowledge and experience in the industry to
expand our business to different provinces in the PRC and various segments.
The Group believes that its forward-looking business strategy and operating
policy will bring long-term benefits to the Company and its shareholders as
awhole.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has always been committed to fulfilling its corporate social
responsibility and actively participate in various public welfare and charity
activities. During the Year, the Group has donated a total of approximately
HKS$3,244 million worth of supplies to various charitable organizations
in PRC and the local community. The Group has also spared no effort in
poverty alleviation work for the country, such as donating essential supplies
like cooking oil and rice, to support impoverished households and uphold
the traditional virtue of helping those in need. Furthermore, it is noteworthy
that the Group attaches great importance to food safety management
by providing relevant training to employees on a regular basis. We are
committed to providing high quality and safe agricultural produce to the
public.

APPRECIATION

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to the customers, business partners, shareholders, bondholders and
employees for their strong support to the Group over the past year. | would
also like to express my heartfelt thanks to the Board, the management
team and employees at all levels for their dedication and loyalty, without
which the Group would not be able to achieve such outstanding results.
The Group will continue to uphold the motto of “dedicated to developing
agriculture with sincere in serving agriculture” to enhance overall efficiency
and effectiveness.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EIRW|E

HEEE

AEB—EHERIRBETLEREET  BiR
2EARAZTREZEY - AFE - A&E
HIB BB (A 432440008 THME T & T HE
AERAMZEEER - REXRBEEIFEFE -
REBITRTERSH - fla: BOBERAM -
AKEREVER  BERKEERMNERE
& HPHERFREEBHE - i - 15
TRAEBE+S2ERERTE2EE » AN
BEIFTHEESEEIAEI  BhhAtE
ARIREESREELZE2NEEDESR

IS &t

Rk AANBERREFERHABZLEFR - X
BEHE BR BFHEARBIBE—F
HAEENANXZSE - FAEEHEESHEH
MK - EHRESE  EEEEBUEER
BTHRLBH - AABLRTRONHE -
AEBKBBERATAHBRRE  UEBR] K
Eamiste  IRABBMEENE -

C ZEFEZEFERNAZ+RH

2024 Annual Report
—E-MEFR

09






MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

&:'EE n_.l-_A i’l\*ﬁ'




12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

Revenue, gross profit and segment result

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”), the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$579 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$17 million as compared to that of the last financial year
ended 31 March 2023. The below table summarises the key financial
performance of the Group:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE-E-MEZA=+-ALFE

Agricultural
Produce
Exchange
Market
Operation
RERER

BEEARBOADL REWE

HK$ million and approximate %

Property
Sales

NEHE

Revenue W& 405 174
Gross Profit 7 296 47
Segment Result NHEE 105 34
Gross Profit to Revenue EHEREZES 73% 27%
Segment Result to Revenue PHBEEEYE ZE 26% 20%

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$579 million for the
Year, representing a decrease of approximately 3% as compared to
approximately HK$596 million of the last financial year, which was mainly
due to a decrease in rental income received from agricultural produce
exchange market operation during the Year. The Group recorded a gross
profit of approximately HK$343 million for the Year (2023: approximately
HK$331 million), representing an increase of approximately 4% as compared
to that of the last financial year. The Group recorded a segment result of
approximately HK$139 million for the Year (2023: approximately HK$189
million). The decrease in segment result was mainly due to the decrease in
rental income received from agricultural produce exchange market
operation during the Year.

Other income and gains

The Group recorded other income and gains of approximately HK$119
million for the Year (2023: approximately HK$25 million). The increase was
mainly due to the reversal of aged payables during the Year.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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General and administrative expenses, selling expenses and
finance costs

General and administrative expenses were approximately HK$ 161 million for
the Year (2023: approximately HK$164 million). The decrease was mainly
due to the decrease in business cost and others during the Year. Selling
expenses were approximately HK$36 million for the Year (2023:
approximately HK$47 million). The decrease in selling expenses was mainly
due to the decrease in agricultural produce exchange market operation and
the related promotion activities during the Year. Finance costs were
approximately HK$112 million for the Year (2023: approximately HK$118
million), and such decrease was mainly due to decrease of the financial cost
of the unsecured notes during the Year.

Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses) on
financial assets, net

The Group recorded reversal of impairment losses on financial assets, net of
approximately HKS1 million for the Year (2023: impairment losses of financial
assets, net of approximately HK$3 million).

Fair value losses on owned investment properties, net and
written down of properties held for sale

During the Year, fair value losses on owned investment properties, net was
approximately HK$83 million (2023: fair value losses on owned investment
properties, net of approximately HKS5 million). The net loss was mainly due
to decrease in fair value on owned investment properties of Wuhan
Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Wuhan
Baisazhou Market") and Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product
Exchange Market (‘Luoyang Market”). Properties held for sale value has
been written down by approximately HK$3 million for the Year (2023:
approximately HKS6 million).

Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, net

During the Year, fair value gain, net of financial assets was approximately
HKS$0.1 million (2023: fair value loss, net of approximately HKS$0.1 million).

Income tax expense

Income tax expense was approximately HK$56 million for the Year (2023:
approximately HK$9 million). The increase was mainly due to the increase in
tax provision arising from higher assessable profits, particularly, as a result of
the increase in tax provision arising from reversal of aged payables during
the Year.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRR DM

Profit attributable to owners of the parent

The profit attributable to owners of the parent for the Year was
approximately HKS7.4 million as compared to the profit of approximately
HK$6.8 million in the last financial year. Profit from operations before fair
value changes and impairment were approximately HK$280 million and the
profit from operations was approximately HK$195 million for the Year (2023:
approximately HK$160 million and approximately HK$146 million,
respectively). The increase in profit attributable to owners of the parent was
mainly due to the reversal of aged payables and offsetted by the combined
effect of a number of items, including (but not limited to) the increase in net
fair value losses on owned investment properties as compared to the last
financial year.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend any payment of final dividend for the Year
(2023: Nil). No interim dividend was paid to the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) for the six months ended 30 September
2023 (30 September 2022: Nil).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in the management of
and sales of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in Hong
Kong and the People’s Republic of China ("PRC"). On one hand, it is
expected that the Chinese economy will experience gradual recovery
post-pandemic. On the other hand, the Chinese real estate market downfall
evened out this positive factor. However, these factors did not significantly
affect the Group's performance due to the nature of its business model. To
cope with the future growth, the Group has been actively evaluating various
business opportunities.

Agricultural Produce Exchange Markets
Hubei Province

Wuhan Baisazhou Market

Wuhan Baisazhou Market is one of the largest agricultural produce
exchange market operators in the PRC. Wuhan Baisazhou Market is situated
in the Hongshan District of Wuhan City, the PRC with a site area of
approximately 310,000 square metres and one of the most notable
agricultural produce exchange markets in Hubei Province. Wuhan Baisazhou
Market was awarded “Top 10 of National Agricultural Products
Comprehensive Wholesale Markets” by China Agricultural Wholesale Market
Association in 2022. The award was a sign to the market contribution being
made by the Group and its effort and expertise as an agricultural produce
exchange market operator in the PRC. Rental income received from
agricultural produce exchange market operation is the major income
generated from Wuhan Baisazhou Market.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
TERERRZERAA

ISINGIE, 2PN S piag

RAFE - FRFHEAE AERGF 47,400,000
BT o m R E B E s B Bl 4 £6,800,0007%8
T e RAFEE » MK AFEEZEERENDN
4R % ) #9280,000,00058 TT NS & E R 4
1950000008 7t (= & = = & : 5 Bl 4
160,000,000/ 7T M 49146,000,0007%% 7T) ° & A A
EEAEBEGMENEEZANBELORERKE
NZRBEUEREUTZEBEE Z2EATEERHE
Frs R eEENREAELE[ENKFER
th - BEREMEAFEBEFELEMN -

iz =

EETEZERNAFEZTMALERE (ZF
—ZHFE)  c AREYERBEE_T =
FANAZF+HENEAEARRRE ([BRE])
RS EERE (ZE-_=—FnA=+H : &) -

£ 61

RAFE  AEEIEEFERFEARHK
ME ([FE) RERERRXITHEINEE
BREE - —HE > EHAELEESNER
BRMELSRE - Z—HE > PEBHMET
BTOTHRETERLHEZRNEZE - Rl
EREBEANLE  RERZXIARABREY
EREEXRR - REHURKER - AEE—
BHEGBH LA GHZHEE -

BERXSHS
Wi

BEEED M
REEDMTE D2 FERA L BES S S
THEEE 2 — o REED NS R E
EOEM LI E - {5 b E FE £9310,000F 5 oK W
BRI ABRERNAERRDTH L — o
EESNTEBR T FAERERD R
HELBASTA (2 ARESEALETS
ta) o RBEEHEAEE A ELE
MRS MGEEREMSMELNERIL X
YHEAREEMMS - R a0 M3
AEEREEERERR ST ERENES
WA -



Huangshi Market

Huangshi Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
("Huangshi Market’) is a joint venture project of the Group founded in
Huangshi City in January 2015 with an operating area of approximately
23,000 square metres. Huangshi City is a county level city in Hubei Province
and is around 100 kilometres away from Wuhan Baisazhou Market. Huangshi
Market, as a second-tier agricultural produce exchange market, created
synergy with Wuhan Baisazhou Market to boost vegetables and by-products
trading. During the Year, the revenue of Huangshi Market decreased by
approximately 0.4% as compared to that of the last financial year.

Suizhou Market

Suizhou Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Suizhou
Market") is another joint venture project of the Group founded in March
2018. It occupies approximately 240,000 square metres. The Group pursued
asset-light operation business model by taking up the contract
management rights to operate this market. During the Year, the revenue of
Suizhou Market increased by approximately 4% as compared to that of the
last financial year.

Henan Province

Luoyang Market

Luoyang Market is the flagship project of the Group in Henan Province, the
PRC, with a site area of approximately 255,000 square metres. Luoyang
Market was awarded “Top 50 of National Agricultural Products
Comprehensive Wholesale Markets” by China Agricultural Wholesale Market
Association in 2021. During the Year, the revenue of Luoyang Market
decreased by approximately 58% due to the decrease of properties sale
recognition as compared to that of the last financial year.

Puyang Market

Puyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market ("Puyang
Market") is one of our joint venture projects in cooperation with a local
partner in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Year, Puyang Market faced
keen competition from a new market. The revenue of Puyang Market
decreased by approximately 17% mainly due to decrease of rental income
received from agricultural produce exchange market operation during the
Year as compared to that of the last financial year.

Kaifeng Market

Kaifeng Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Kaifeng
Market"), with a gross floor construction area of approximately 140,000
square metres, is the Group's third market operation point for the facilitation
of the building of an agricultural produce exchange market network in
Henan Province, the PRC. Kaifeng Market was awarded “Top 50 of National
Agricultural Products Comprehensive Wholesale Markets” by China
Agricultural Wholesale Market Association in 2021. During the Year, the
revenue of Kaifeng Market increased by approximately 11% due to the
increases of properties sale recognition and rental income received from
agricultural produce exchange market operation as compared to that of the
last financial year.
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Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
Yulin Market

Yulin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Yulin
Market’) is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange markets in
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (‘Guangxi Region’) with a site area
of approximately 415,000 square metres. During the Year, the revenue of
Yulin Market increased by approximately 97% due to the increase of
properties sale recognition as compared to that of the last financial year.

Qinzhou Market

Qinzhou Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Qinzhou
Market"), with a gross floor construction area of approximately 180,000
square metres, is the Group’s second market operation point for the
facilitation of the building of an agricultural produce market network in the
Guangxi Region. During the Year, the revenue of Qinzhou Market decreased
by approximately 28% mainly due to decrease of rental income received
from agricultural produce exchange market operation during the Year as
compared to that of the last financial year.

Jiangsu Province
Xuzhou Market

Xuzhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market ("Xuzhou Market")
occupies approximately 200,000 square metres and is located in the
northern part of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. Xuzhou Market was awarded
“Top 100 of National Agricultural Products Wholesale Markets” by China
Agricultural Wholesale Market Association in 2022. During the Year, the
revenue of Xuzhou Market decreased by approximately 2% as compared to
that of the last financial year.

Huai’an Market

Huai'an Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘"Huai’an
Market") occupies approximately 100,000 square metres, is located at
Huai'an City of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. During the Year, the revenue of
Huai'an Market decreased by approximately 56% due to the decrease in
properties sale recognised and rental income received from agricultural
produce exchange market operation as compared to that of the last
financial year. In May 2024, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement for the disposal of, among others, its interests in Huai'an Market.
Please refer to the section of "EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD — THE
DISPOSAL OF THE HUAI'AN MARKET INTERESTS" in this announcement.
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Liaoning Province

Panjin Market

Panjin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Panjin
Market"), with a construction area of around 50,000 square metres, is the
Group's first attempt in investment in Liaoning Province, the PRC. Panjin
Market focused on the trading of river crabs and held regular market fairs.
During the Year, the performance of Panjin Market was steady. The revenue
of Panjin Market increased by approximately 1% as compared to that of the
last financial year.

E-commerce development

With the robust mobile network and widespread use of intelligent mobile
devices in the PRC, the Group allocated cost effective resources to
e-commerce development. The Group has launched a new electronic
trading platform for energising the efficiency of agricultural produce
exchange markets. At the moment, the Group has adopted continuous cost
control measures in electronic trading platform development.

Cyber risk and security

With information technology and internet network playing vital roles in its
operation, the Group has designated professionals to monitor and assess
potential cyber risks. Both hardware and software are kept track with
appropriate company policies. Potential cyber risks and network security is
one of the key concerns of management, thus the Group has formulated
policies and procedures to regulate the use of internet, to physically
safeguard system power supply and to regularly update internet protection
system and firewall to separate the intranet of the Group from outside
network. Designated professionals are responsible for the day-to-day
monitoring on any abnormal network activities.

Data fraud or theft risk

The Group continuously reviews and updates its internal control system on
data and information access. Appropriate policies have been adopted to
protect data, and access permissions are only granted to the authorised
personnel. Management believes that effective policies and procedures
have been put in place to avoid data fraud or theft risk.

Environmental and social risk

Due to the nature of the business, the Group will face a moderate
environmental risk in case of severe and permanent climate change across
the PRC. Such risk may have an adverse impact on agricultural production
thereby affecting the revenue of the Group in agricultural produce
exchange market operation and property sales.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had total cash and cash equivalents
amounting to approximately HK$243 million (31 March 2023: approximately
HK$312 million) whilst total assets and net assets were approximately
HK$4,638 million (31 March 2023: approximately HK$4,915 million) and
approximately HK$2,069 million (31 March 2023: approximately HK$2,127
million), respectively. The Group's gearing ratio as at 31 March 2024 was
approximately 49.9% (31 March 2023: approximately 49.9%), being a ratio of
(i) total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and unsecured notes of
approximately HK$1,315 million (31 March 2023: approximately HKS$1,402
million), net of cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits of
approximately HK$283 million (31 March 2023: approximately HK$341
million) to (ii) shareholders’ funds of approximately HK$2,069 million (31
March 2023: approximately HK$2,127 million).

As at 31 March 2024, the ratio of total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and unsecured notes of approximately HK$1,315 million (31
March 2023: approximately HK$1,402 million) to total assets of
approximately HK$4,638 million (31 March 2023: approximately HK$4,915
million) was approximately 28% (31 March 2023: approximately 29%).

LISTED NOTES DUE IN 2024 (“LISTED NOTES”)
AND PARTIAL REPURCHASE AND EARLY
REDEMPTION DURING THE YEAR

In May 2014, the Company established a HK$1,000,000,000 medium term
note program. The Listed Notes issued under the program are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) by way of
debt issue to professional investors only (stock code: 5755). During the Year,
the Company has repurchased outstanding Listed Notes in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$110 million and has redeemed outstanding Listed
Notes in the aggregate principal amount of HK$40 million.

As at 31 March 2024, carrying value of the Listed Notes was Nil (31 March
2023: approximately HK$ 124 million).
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS, PLEDGES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, outstanding capital commitments, contracted but not
provided for, amounted to approximately HK$167 million (31 March 2023:
approximately HK$195 million) in relation to the purchase of property, plant
and equipment and construction contracts. As at 31 March 2024, the Group
provided guarantees of approximately HK$22.8 million to customers in
favour of certain banks for the loans provided by the banks to the customers
of the properties sold (31 March 2023: approximately HK$36.1 million),
representing the contingent liabilities of approximately HK$129,000 (31
March 2023: approximately HK$328,000) in relation to such guarantees.
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default on
mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of the
guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
principals together with the accrued interest and penalties owed by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any sales proceeds.

As at 31 March 2024, certain property, plant and equipment, owned
investment properties and certain rental income generated therefrom,
properties held for sale and pledged bank deposits with carrying amount of
approximately HK$2,208 million (31 March 2023: approximately HK$2,168
million worth of assets pledged) were pledged to secure certain interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

The Group did not have any outstanding foreign exchange contracts,
interest or currency swaps or other financial derivatives as at 31 March 2024.
The revenue, operating costs and bank deposits of the Group were mainly
denominated in Renminbi ("RMB”") and Hong Kong dollars. The activities of
the Group are exposed to foreign currency risks mainly arising from its
operations in the PRC and certain bank deposits denominated in RMB.
Currently, the Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
During the Year, due to the currency fluctuation of RMB against Hong Kong
dollars, the Group had been considering, from time to time, alternative risk
hedging tools to mitigate RMB currency exchange risk.
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DEBT PROFILES AND FINANCIAL PLANNING

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and unsecured notes of the Group were analyzed as follows:

R-E—

HKS$ million

BEBHET

g
SBBIE L Eo
e

Listed Notes (ot ?
Financial Institution Borrowings e "
Non-financial Institution Borrowings (ot ™7 3F

Total Bat

B AR B2 B 75 35 &1

RZB-ZWF=ZR=+—BE-_T-_=F=
A=4—H  AEEXNFERTREMEER
MEEWRRESFOT
As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023
mE=ZA=+—H E_=4=H=1T—H
Approximate Approximate
Carrying effective Carrying effective
amount interest rate amount interest rate
B4 BA
AR E B BRAI= REE B A=
(per annum) HKS million (per annum)
(B5) BEBTT (B%)
- -% 124 12%
935 6% 882 5%
380 10% 396 10%
1,315 1,402
M -

Notes:

* the Listed Notes which were made in Hong Kong dollars with fixed interest rates;

**  other items as mentioned in the above table were made in Hong Kong dollars and

RMB with fixed and floating interest rates, please refer to note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 March 2024, the financial institution borrowings of the Company
will mature during the period from April 2024 to May 2029 (31 March 2023:
May 2023 to May 2029); and the non-financial institution borrowings of the
Company will mature in May 2027 (31 March 2023: April 2023 to May 2027).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group's treasury policy includes diversification of funding sources.
Internally generated cash flow and interest-bearing bank/non-financial
institution loans were the general sources of fund to finance the operation
of the Group during the Year. The Group regularly reviews its major funding
positions so as to ensure that it has adequate financial resources in meeting
its financial obligations. In order to meet interest-bearing debts and business
capital expenditure, the Group from time to time considers various types of
equity and debt financing alternative, including but not limited to
placement of new shares, rights issue of new shares, financial institution
borrowings, non-financial institution borrowings, bonds issuance,
convertible notes issuance, other debt financial instruments issuance,
disposal of investment properties and sales of properties held for sale.
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MATERIAL VALUATION METHOD OF
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND REVIEW OF
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The investment properties of the Group were stated at fair value as at 31
March 2024. The fair value was arrived at based on the valuations carried out
by an independent firm of qualified professional valuers. The professional
valuers are professional members of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
with experience in the location of the properties being valued. The
valuations are confirmed to be in accordance with The Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors Valuation Standards 2020, which incorporates the International
Valuation Standards (IVS). The professional valuers valued the properties on
the basis of capitalisation of the net income derived from the properties
rental and made reference to the asking or transaction price of market
comparable. For vacant site and inventory portions of the properties, direct
comparison method is adopted based on the principle of substitution,
where comparison is made based on prices realised on actual sales and/or
asking prices of comparable properties. Comparable properties of similar
size, scale, nature, character and location are analysed and carefully weighed
against all the respective advantages and disadvantages of each property in
order to arrive at a fair comparison of market value.

The material valuation methods of investment properties valuation have
been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company (the "Audit
Committee”) and the Board.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO OUR INDUSTRY
AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group operated 11 agricultural produce exchange
markets across five provinces in the PRC. In view of the ever-changing
business environment in the PRC, the following are the principal risks,
challenges and uncertainties faced by the Group, including:

(1) fluctuation in the exchange rate of RMB against Hong Kong dollars,
which affects the translation of the PRC assets and liabilities from RMB
to Hong Kong dollars in the Group's financial reporting, in which the
Group periodically monitors the exchange rate fluctuation, and
prepares effective hedging mechanism to deal with adverse conditions
in forex market, if necessary;

(2) difficulty in obtaining adequate financing, in both equity and debt
financing, to support the Group’s agricultural produce exchange
markets that are capital intensive in nature. The Group regularly
reviews the short-term and long-term liquidity level and prepare for
the future capital need, as and when appropriate;

(3) difficulty in preserving or enhancing the Group's competitive position
in the agricultural produce exchange markets industry, in which the
Group has designated personnel to monitor the market activities of
competitors and formulate effective strategies to preserve our
competitive position;
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(4) difficulty in maintaining or enhancing the level of occupancy in the
Group's agricultural produce exchange markets, in which the Group
launches, from time to time, various marketing campaigns to retain
existing tenants and to attract new tenants;

(5) challenges in obtaining promptly all necessary licenses and permits for
development, construction, operations and acquisition of agricultural
produce exchange markets. The Group hires sufficient local staff
members with professional qualifications to ensure all processes
comply with local rules and regulations; and

(6) the effect of regulatory changes and amendments relating to
agricultural produce exchange markets which affect operation and
development of the Group, in both the national and local levels. The
Group maintains a relatively flat organization structure and a high
autonomous level to enable quick response to any changes in different
aspects.

DEPENDENCE OF EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group is adopting market remuneration practices by reference to
market terms, company performance, and individual qualifications and
performance and well-organized structure management, no key and
specific employee would materially and significantly affect the Group's
success. Meanwhile, there were no major customers and suppliers which
accounted for over 5% of the Group’s income and no major suppliers which
cannot be replaced by other appropriate suppliers. In this connection, no
customers and suppliers would have a material impact on the success of the
Group's business performance.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The operations and development of agricultural produce exchange markets
are subject to a variety of environmental laws and regulations during their
construction and operations. Major environmental impacts are caused by
waste and wastewater generated during the construction and operations of
the markets. The Group has, in compliance with the PRC environmental law,
engaged independent environmental consultants to conduct
environmental impact assessments on all our construction projects in all
material aspects. The environmental investigations conducted to date have
not revealed any environmental liability that would be expected to have a
material adverse effect on our business condition. Upon completion of
construction of each market, the environmental authorities inspect the site
to ensure compliance with all applicable environmental standards. All our
construction projects comply with the “three simultaneities” principles
stipulated in the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC. For further
details of the impact of environmental laws and regulations on our
operations and our environmental policies, please refer to our
Environmental, Social and Governance Report, which will be uploaded on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in due course.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Group complied in material aspects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. The Company also complied with the requirements
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”), the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the laws of
Bermuda during the Year. The Group continuously reviews newly enacted
laws and regulations affecting the operations of the Group, if any, and
provides relevant trainings and guidance to the staff.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
MASTER LICENSING AGREEMENT

On 1 October 2022, Wang On Group Limited ("WOG") (Stock code: 1222)
and the Group entered into a master licensing agreement which sets out
the general principles and key terms governing the definitive licensing
agreements under which relevant members of the WOG may grant license
of, and the Group may take up the license of the premises from 1 October
2022 to 30 September 2025. Details were disclosed in the joint
announcement of the Company, Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 897) and WOG dated 1 October 2022.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no significant investment held, nor was there any material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the Year. As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any concrete plan for
material investments or capital assets nor acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries except for the subsequent disposal of Huai'an Market in May
2024 as mentioned below.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

COMPLETION OF LISTED NOTES REDEMPTION AND
WITHDRAWAL OF LISTING

On 31 March 2024 (the "Redemption Date’), the Company has redeemed
all outstanding Listed Notes (i.e. in the principal amount of HK$40 million)
pursuant to condition 6(B) (Early redemption right of the Issuer) of the terms
and conditions of the Listed Notes (the “Conditions”) set out in the offering
circular dated 19 May 2014 (the "Offering Circular’) and the pricing
supplement to the Offering Circular dated 26 May 2014, at a price equal to
92.88% of the principal amount excluding interest accrued to and including
the Redemption Date.

Subsequent to the redemption of all outstanding Listed Notes, the Listed
Notes were delisted on 8 April 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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THE DISPOSAL OF THE HUAI'AN MARKET INTERESTS

On 25 May 2024, the Group has entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the “SPA") with an independent third party (the “Purchaser”) for the
disposal of the entire equity interests of a subsidiary (the “Target
Company’) holding, among others, the property interests in the Huai'an
Market (the "Disposal’) for an initial consideration of approximately
RMB28.9 million (equivalent to approximately HK$31.9 million) subject to
adjustments. The Purchaser has also undertaken under the SPA to provide
funding to the Target Company in the amount of approximately RMB140.5
million (equivalent to approximately HK$154.9 million) for the Target
Company'’s repayment of certain intercompany loans owned to the
Company'’s subsidiaries. Further details of the Disposal are set out in
announcement of the Company dated 25 May 2024 and the circular of the
Company dated 17 June 2024.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 1,048 employees (31 March 2023:
1,116), approximately 98% of whom were located in the PRC. The Group's
remuneration policy was reviewed periodically by the remuneration
committee of the Company and the Board's remuneration is determined by
reference to market terms, company performance, and individual
qualifications and performance. The Group aimed to recruit, retain and
develop competent individuals who were committed to the Group's long-
term success and growth. Remunerations and other benefits of employees
were reviewed annually in response to both market conditions and trends,
and were based on qualifications, experience, responsibilities and
performance. The share option scheme of the Company was on 26 August
2022 for the primary purpose of rewarding eligible participants and to
encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of the Company for
the benefit of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

PROSPECTS

During the Year, the continuous high tension between the PRC and the
United States, and the downfall of Chinese real estate hindered the
economic growth. However, such effects have little impact on the Group's
operation which is mainly focused on the PRC domestic market. Looking
ahead, the Group will continue to build a nationwide agricultural produce
exchange network by leveraging on its leading position in the industry,
readily replicable business model, well-advanced management system,
information technology infrastructure and quality customer services.
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According to the No. T Document of the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of China (“CPC") in 2024, national governance still focuses
on agriculture, which proposes various measures to revitalize rural
development, including: to ensure national food security, to eliminate
large-scale poverty, to raise the standards of rural industrial development,
rural construction and rural governance, and to strengthen CPC's overall
leadership over the work of “agriculture rural areas and farmers” (“Three
Rural’). Agricultural and rural departments and rural revitalization
departments at all levels are fully implementing the spirit of the 20th
National Congress of CPC and the Second Plenary Session of the 20th
Central Committee of the CPC and the Second Plenary of the 20th Central
Committee of the Chinese Communist Party through in-depth
implementation of the Three Rural work, establishing the goal of building a
strong agricultural country and learning and utilizing the experience of
"Zhejiang's Green Rural Revival Program”, while insisting on people-oriented
development that adapts to local conditions and adopts different polices as
appropriate, making gradual and orderly progress to achieve long-term
results and concentrating on accomplishing practical matters that are
palpable to the public, in order to make substantial progress and meet
milestone targets.

In order to capture new business opportunities, the Group has taken further
steps to expand its operations in the PRC by cooperating with different
partners with an “asset light” strategy. It has also explored electronic
platform development to capture the opportunity of technology
advancement brought by the promotion of data economy by the PRC
government. The Group further expanded its operations to wet market and
trading by leveraging on its leading position in the industry, the Group is
confident that its business strategy and operation model will deliver long-
term benefits to the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

BE_Z_MOFPRHIPR-FXMH - BRE
BERAARRE - EhiEE % H KB HAT3
EWERE  S8F BREBRERZZ - BR
TEERBERE - RABNEZRERKFE -
R ERKF ~ RFBAAEAFE - 10
BEHZRITHENEZERE - EREER
HEM BHEREFFAEZEHEHMEEED
—tREZtTE-fhz2eRe  RABRE
BEI=ZRIWNIHE H#HEEZREXEBREER
NEBERITEIRR] 2&EBIESE  BF
UMARBHRONER - EMHE - 28HEEX
EFEE - AARY - SR OENFHRK—
HERARAMMESE  tMRSGELIHE
B AEEBRMEOKRR -

SAMEHEK  TEBECDKRIE - FHEE -
FRATEEE] RRETRBHESIE - UE
FERPEZZLE - AETRRETFEER -
VA 4 o B DR T B BUR AR 7 2R O A A
THE -  AEBBREETREZIREHMM - £
—SPREBBEREATRESEE - AKE
BELDAEXBRBREEEASRARAR
BRERERTREE®ER -

2024 Annual Report
—E-MEFR

25



F DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
FEaREEE

- China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
TEIRERZSERLT



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEENENEERE




28

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. TANG Ching Ho, G35, Jp, aged 62, joined the Group as a non-executive
director of the Group and the chairman of the Board in February 2021,
and was re-designated as an executive director of the Group on 1 October
2022. He is also an authorised representative, the chairman of the executive
committee and a member of each of the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Tang is a co-founder of
Wang On Group Limited ("WOG"), which was established in 1987, and has
been the chairman of WOG since November 1993. He is also an executive
director of WOG. He has extensive experience in corporate management.
He is also the chairman, managing director and an executive director of Wai
Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited ("WYT", the Company is an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of WYT which in turn is an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of WOG). Mr. Tang is a deputy director of the Committee
on Education, Science, Health and Sports of the National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference ("CPPCC"), a committee
member of the 12th to 14th National Committee of CPPCC and a standing
committee member and convener of the 10th to 13th Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region Committee of CPPCC. Mr. Tang is also appointed as
the first executive chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong
Community Organisations and the chairman of Federation of Hong Kong
Shenzhen Associations. He is a controlling shareholder of the Company and
the brother-in-law of Mr. Yau Yuk Shing, a former executive Director, who
was resigned on 1 April 2024.

Mr. LEUNG Sui Wah, Raymond, aged 56, joined the Group as an
executive director of the Group in June 2010. Mr. Leung is also the chief
executive officer, an authorised representative, and a member of each of
the executive committee and the nomination committee of the Company,
and the chief executive officer of Hongjin Agri-Products Group Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He is responsible for overall
management and supervision of operations of the Group. Mr. Leung had
over 30 years of experience in business operation, business development,
corporate governance, mergers and acquisitions. He is a vice president of
China Agricultural Wholesale Market Association, a council member of the
Chinese Agri-products Marketing Association and China Aquatic Products
Processing and Marketing Alliance. He is accredited as Economist (Finance
and Taxation) by Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the
PRC. He holds a Bachelor Degree of Social Science, a Master Degree in
Business Administration and a Master Degree of Arts from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong, The University of Hong Kong and City University of
Hong Kong, respectively. He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute. He is also a chartered member of Chartered
Institute of Procurement and Supply and Certified Information Security
Manager of Information Systems Audit and Control Association.
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Mr. WONG Ka Kit, aged 52, joined the Group in August 2009 and was
appointed as an executive director of the Group in April 2024. Mr. Wong
is a member of the executive committee of the Company. He is the chief
operating officer of the Group, the chairman of Panjin Hongjin Agricultural

By-Products Wholesale Market Limited, Yulin Hongjin Logistics Development
Limited and Qinzhou Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale
Market Limited and a director of Yulin Hongjin Agricultural By-Products
Wholesale Market Limited, all of which are subsidiaries of the Company.
He is responsible for the business operations and sales in Guangxi Region,

Liaoning Province and Kaifeng City.

Mr. Wong holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from Hong
Kong Baptist University and a Bachelor (Hons) Degree in Accountancy from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, and is a member of the 6th Guangxi Yulin Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Wong has
over 29 years of experience in general management and finance.

Ms. LUO Xu Ying, aged 49, joined the Group in July 2017 and was
appointed as an executive director of the Group in April 2024. Ms. Luo is
a member of the executive committee of the Company. She has over 20
years of experience in human resources management with a graduation
certificate from Zhejiang University in 2007. She is responsible for human
resources management, staff allocation and enhancement of organisational
performance of the Group. Ms. Luo is deputy general manager — human
resources, who has reformed performance management during her tenure
to enhance work efficiency and optimise resource allocation.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LAU King Lung, aged 77, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2013. He is the chairman of the nomination
committee and a member of each of the audit committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Lau has over 43 years’
experience in planning, design and contracting of civil engineering
and building works. Mr. Lau is a chartered engineer with his profession
registration both in the United Kingdom and Hong Kong. He is still a
member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers after his retirement. He
participated in the design of the initial systems of the Mass Transit Railway
in Hong Kong after his graduation from civil engineering department of
Imperial College, University of London for 6 years with Freeman Fox and
Partners, London.
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Mr. WONG Ping Yuen, aged 50, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2018. He is the chairman of the
audit committee and a member of each of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong has been a
certified public accountant of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 2001, and obtained a Master Degree of Business
Administration from the University of Adelaide in August 2005. Mr. Wong
was appointed as a partner of ITA & Co. in 2009 and has changed to the
sole-proprietor of ITA & Co. since 2015. He has been a partner of SRF Partners
& Co. since 2014.

Mr. LI Yin Quan, aged 69, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in April 2024. He is the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Li has been serving as
independent non-executive Director of Genertec Universal Medical Group
Company Limited (formerly known as Universal Medical Financial and
Technical Advisory Services Company Limited) (HKEx: 2666) since June 2015,
Million Cities Holdings Limited (HKEx: 2892) since June 2018, Hong Kong
Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (HKEx: 1001) since July 2018, China
Everbright Bank Company Limited (HKEx: 6818; SSE: 601818) since June 2020
and, Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited (HKEx: 1100) since September
2023.

Mr. Li served respectively as the General Manager of Financial Department,
Chief Financial Officer, Vice President of China Merchants Group, Chief
Executive Officer of China Merchants Capital Investment Co,, Ltd, a director
of China Merchants Holdings (International) Company Limited, a director of
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd., a director of China Merchants China Direct
Investments Limited from 2000 to 2017. Mr. Li also served as an independent
non-executive director of Lizhi Inc. (NASDAQ: LIZI) from January 2020 to
June 2021 and, Kimou Environmental Holding Limited (HKEx: 6805) from
June 2019 to December 2022.

Mr. Li graduated from Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics with a
bachelor's degree in economics. He was also awarded a master's degree in
economics from the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua University (formerly
known as Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China) and a master’s
degree in banking and finance for development from Finafrica Institute in
Milan, Italy.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YUNG Chi Hung, Quincy, aged 56, joined the Group in May 2018. He is
the financial controller of the Group responsible for finance and accounting
matters. Mr. Yung holds a Master Degree in Business Administration and a
Bachelor Degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong and the University of Wisconsin-Madison, USA respectively. He
is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Yung has over 25 years of experience in finance and accounting matters.

Ms. NG Yee Man, Fiona, aged 55, joined the Group in March 2022. She
is the Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Ng is a fellow member
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute
and an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. She has over 26 years of experience in finance, accounting
and corporate secretarial functions, including over 16 years of experience
in handling listed company secretarial and compliance related matters of
Hong Kong listed companies. She holds a Bachelor Degree of Commerce
(Accounting) from Curtin University of Technology, Australia. Before joining
the Group, Ms. Ng worked in various listed companies as company secretary
and financial controller.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance within a sensible framework with a strong emphasis on
transparency, accountability, integrity and independence and enhancing
the Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency, to ensure
its sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the
Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Compliance with Listing Rules and CG Code

The Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices of the
Company and is satisfied that the Company had applied the principles and
complied with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2024.

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors and Relevant
Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the financial year under review.

To comply with code provision C.1.3 of the CG Code, the Company has
also adopted a written code of conduct regarding securities transactions
on terms no less exacting than the Model Code by the relevant employees
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who are considered likely to be in
possession of inside information in relation to the Company or its securities.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The Directors
during the financial year under review and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Tang Ching Ho

Chairman
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond

Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Wong Ka Kit (Appointed on T April 2024)
Ms. Luo Xu Ying (Appointed on 1 April 2024)
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing (Resigned on 1 April 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lau King Lung

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

Mr. Li Yin Quan (Appointed on 1 April 2024)
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (Resigned on 15 April 2024)
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The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 28 to 30 of this
annual report.

Responsibilities

The Board's primary functions are to set corporate policy and overall strategy
for the Group and to provide effective oversight of the management of the
Group's business and affairs. It delegates day-to-day operations of the Group
to executive Directors and senior management. Apart from its statutory
responsibilities, the Board also approves, among others, strategic plans, key
operational issues, investments and loans, reviews the financial performance
of the Group and evaluates the performance and compensation of senior
management. These functions are either carried out directly by the Board or
indirectly through committees established by the Board. Besides, the Board
has delegated general powers to management to deal with day-to-day
management, administration and operations of the Group. Appropriate
insurance coverage in respect of legal action against the Directors is
arranged by the Company.

The Board possesses a balance of skills and experience which are appropriate
for the requirements of the businesses of the Company. Save as Mr. Tang,
an executive Director, is the brother-in-law of Mr. Yau Yuk Shing, a former
executive Director, as at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors
have any financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships
with each other. The opinions raised by the independent non-executive
Directors at the meetings of the Board facilitate the maintenance of
good corporate governance practices. The Board has three independent
non-executive Directors, representing more than one-third of the Board, and
at least one of the independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate
professional qualification and accounting and related financial management
expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules. A balanced
composition of executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors also ensures a strong independent element on the Board, which
allows for an independent and objective decision-making process for the
best interests of the Company. The Company will review the composition
of the Board regularly to ensure the Board possesses the appropriate and
necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet the needs of the Group's
business with due regard for the benefits of diversity, as set out in the
diversity policy adopted by the Board.

All Directors (including both executive and independent non-executive) are
appointed without specific term, but are subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years at the Company’s annual general meetings
in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company. The non-executive
Directors’ terms of office will be renewed automatically after the re-election,
unless prematurely terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions
specified in the respective letters of appointment, the bye-laws of the
Company, the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the Listing Rules.
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All independent non-executive Directors are free from any business or other
relationship with the Company. Each independent non-executive Director
is required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if there is any
change in his own personal particulars that may affect his independence.
No such notification was received during the financial year under review.
The Company has also received from each of the existing independent
non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company continues to
consider the three independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

The Board meets at least four times a year with additional meetings
arranged, as and when necessary, has a schedule of matters reserved for
its review and approval. The specific responsibility reserved for the Board
includes matters in relation to, among others, determining strategies
and objectives of the Group, monitoring the overall management and
operation of the Group, reviewing capital, corporate and control structures,
ensuring financial reporting, risk management and internal control
measures, determining major capital projects and contracts, including
material acquisitions, disposals and other significant potential investments,
communication with the Shareholders, determining the Board composition,
the appointment of company secretary and auditors, evaluating the
effectiveness of internal controls, reviewing adequacy of resources,
qualification and experience of staff, delegation of authority to committees
and reviewing the Group’s overall corporate governance arrangements. The
chairman of the Board also met the independent non-executive directors
without the presence of other Directors during the year under review.

Save as those matters mentioned above, the Board has delegated
general powers to management to deal with day-to-day management,
administration and operations of the Group. At the same time, management
will provide with the Board and its committees with adequate information,
in a timely manner, to enable it to make informed decisions.

At least 14 days’ notice for each regular meeting is given to all Directors.
Agendas accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors 3 days before
the date of a regular meeting of the Board to ensure that the Directors
are given sufficient time to review the same. All minutes of the meetings
of the Board and its committee are kept by the company secretary of the
Company and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice by any Director.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the financial year under review, the Board reviewed (i) the policies
and practices on corporate governance of the Company; (ii) the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;
(iii) the policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) the code of conduct applicable to employees and
Directors; and (v) the compliance with the CG Code which was disclosed in
this annual report.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings

During the financial year under review, the Company held six board
meetings of the Board and an annual general meeting (the “2023 AGM").
The attendance of each Director is set out as follows:

Directors

BEs

Executive Directors
Mr. Tang Ching Ho
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing

(resigned on 1 April 2024)
Mr. Wong Ka Kit

(appointed on 1 April 2024)

Ms. Luo Xu Ying
(appointed on 1 April 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung
(resigned on 15 April 2024)
Mr. Lau King Lung
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen
Mr. Li Yin Quan
(appointed on 1 April 2024)
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Separate resolutions were proposed at the 2023 AGM on each substantive
issue, a total of 8 resolutions and over 99% of votes cast in favour of such
resolutions as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 22

August 2023.

Accordingly, all resolutions put to the Shareholders at the 2023 AGM were
passed. The results of the voting by poll were published on the websites of

the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.

As at the date of this report, the positions of the chairman and the chief
executive officer are held by Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Mr. Leung Sui Wah,
Raymond respectively. There is clear division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer which provides a balance of power and
authority.

TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
DEVELOPMENT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company provides a comprehensive induction package covering the
summary of the responsibilities of a director of a Hong Kong listed company
and the Guides on Directors’ Duties issued by the Companies Registry.
The Company would also arrange seminars on professional knowledge of
regulatory requirements related to director’s duties and responsibilities for
each newly appointed Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware
of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, all Directors received
regular update on corporate governance matters or news or changes to
laws and regulations. Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond, Mr. Lau King Lung and
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen attended briefings or seminars on relevant topics. Mr.
Wong Ka Kit, Ms. Luo Xu Ying and Mr. Li Yin Quan have attended a director’s
training, introduce the duties and responsibility of a director of a company
listed on Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited (‘HKEX") on 28 March
2024 before their appointment. All Directors are requested to provide the
Company with a record of the training they received.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee
(the "Nomination Committee’) and the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), each of which has the specific written terms of reference
that will be renewed and updated, if necessary. Each committee is required
to report to the Board on its decision and recommendations, where
appropriate.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Li Yin Quan (chairman), Mr. Lau King Lung and Mr.
Wong Ping Yuen and one executive Director, namely Mr. Tang Ching Ho.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties, roles and
functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all directors and senior management remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing such policy;

2. to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals by
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives;

3. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management, including,
but not limited to, benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration on
non-executive directors;

5. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group;

6. to review and approve compensation payable to executive directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and
is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they are
consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

8. to ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

9. to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERME

FMEES

FMEESHM=—RBBIUINTESF - B1F 5
REE(XF) - BIREEERERELELE -
R—RHTES - BIBBENEEERK -

FHZE S BREEEIRBIMEAR
WUILERH - FHEESZRE - %é&%z
mr

. RARREZREREEBEZ2BH WM
BERRE  RRRIERMEERAE
ZREFHEHEFMER  MEEER
tljguﬁz ;

2. BRSREFEIULLFERREH
ot R EEEE 2 Hr i

3. MEEENRGTEERSREEEZH
Mo (BRETRREMAE - BRE
BARREARARK BB HEEMED
REMNSE AEFSREESR

4 BIRTEECHMAEESRIEEY

5 EREREARXGZEN  AMHZE
MEBEURAEBREMEBNZER
&4

6. B RHEAERNATEETRSREEREX
NEMRARXRIBBAEZEEHA M
B UERZEBERSOGR B
RFERTBE

7. BMARBEREETR/RREMBERENKE
PEBEEMOIRIBERY - LR
HZERHERSNGER - - aENEE

8 MRENEZFXRHEMBBRAILRT
BEEARGZHM &

£

=~

@

9. BHER/IHMAELTRAUNE7EEATERH
BiEtEINER -

2024 Annual Report
—ENEER

39



40

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

During the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee held
two meetings and the attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out below:

Members of the Remuneration Committee

FMEEERE

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (chairman) REBERE (FE)

(resigned on 15 April 2024)

Mr. Lau King Lung 252 kA&
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FRIR L&
Mr. Tang Ching Ho BB L A&
Mr. Li Yin Quan FEIRELE

(appointed on 1 April 2024 and

REBEMBFERN  HFHZEESCSRTMAX
g FHZESEERBEZHEBREI M

= AR

N

Attendance

HERR

2/2

(RZFB_MmFMNH+ I HEFE)

2/2
2/2
2/2
N/A-T 3 F

(R-ZZFZFENA—HEZERR-F

appointed as chairman on 15 April 2024)) —NEP B+ F A EE L AT E)
During the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee REBEBTHRFERN @ FTHEZEeFHNREH

reviewed the existing remuneration policy, assessed performance of
executive Directors, reviewed the existing remuneration packages and
structure of executive Directors and senior management of the Company
and the existing remuneration packages of independent non-executive
Directors.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to discharge
its major roles to, among other things, make recommendations, if any, to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management of the Company (i.e. the model described in the
CG Code is adopted) and approve the terms of executive Director's service
contracts.

The remuneration payable to the Directors will depend on their respective
contractual terms under their employment contracts or service contracts
and the same were reviewed by the Remuneration Committee. Details
of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Pursuant to the CG Code, the annual remuneration of the members of the
senior management by band for the financial year under review is set out

below:

Remuneration band (HK$)

g E ()

Nil to $1,000,000
$1,000,001 to $1,500,000
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000
Over $2,000,000

= 1,000,000
1,000,001 Z 1,500,000
1,500,001 Z 2,000,000
2,000,000 A =

MEE - FERATEENRR - BHATE
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FMEZE SR eBERTEIERE -
(HHBER) RENATEZTRARASRE
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lau King Lung (chairman), Mr. Wong Ping Yuen and
Mr. Li Yin Quan and two executive Directors, namely Mr. Tang Ching Ho and
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties, roles and
functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

1. to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length of
service) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations to
the Board on any proposed changes to complement the Company's
corporate strategy;

2. toidentify and nominate individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships. In identifying
suitable individuals, the Nomination Committee shall consider
individuals on merit against the objective criteria, with due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors
and review the independent non-executive Directors' annual
confirmations on their independence and make disclosure of its review
results in the corporate governance report of the Company;

4. to regularly review the time required for a Director to perform his/her
responsibilities;

5. to review the balance between executive and non-executive Directors
and the blend of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity on the
Board;

6. to keep under review the leadership and succession needs of the
Group with a view to ensuring the long-term success of the Group;

7. to review the Board diversity policy, as appropriate, and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the
Board diversity policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives;
and make disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance
report annually;

8. to ensure that all Directors offer themselves for re-election every three
years by Shareholders;
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to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment or re-designation of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the chairman/chairwoman and the chief
executive, taking into account the Company's corporate strategy and
the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the
future;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, every Director should
receive a formal letter of appointment or enter into a service contract
with the Company, as appropriate;

where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive Director at the general meeting, the
Nomination Committee should set out in the circular to Shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting why it believes the individual should be elected and
the reasons why it considers the individual to be independent; and

the chairman or another member of the Nomination Committee shall
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be prepared
to respond to questions raised by Shareholders on the Nomination
Committee’s activities and responsibilities.

During the financial year under review, the Nomination Committee held
two meetings and the attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out below:

9.
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Members of the Nomination Committee Attendance

REZEERE HEER

Mr. Lau King Lung (chairman) B RS E (£ 2/2

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung RAEELEE 2/2
(resigned on 15 April 2024) (R=ZFZmFMA+ A HEE)

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FIRIR & A& 2/2

Mr. Li Yin Quan FEREE N/AT i FA
(appointed on 1 April 2024) (R-ZZFZ—mFpA—HEZF)

Mr. Tang Ching Ho BOE 00 % A& 2/2

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond prgi e 2/2
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During the financial year under review, the Nomination Committee
(i) reviewed, inter alia, the policy for the nomination of Directors, the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria to select and
recommend candidates for directorship and the Board diversity policy;
(i) proposed the re-designation of director and change of composition
of Board Committee; and (iii) recommended the re-elections of Mr. Tang
Ching Ho and Mr. Ng Yat Cheung in the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 22 August 2023. The nominations of re-election were
made in accordance with the objective criteria (including without limitation,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length of service), with due
regard for the benefits of diversity, as set out in the Board diversity policy
adopted by the Company. As a good governance practice, Mr. Tang Ching
Ho and Mr. Ng Yat Cheung had abstained from voting at the Nomination
Committee and/or Board meeting on their nominations for election by
the Shareholders. Mr. Yau Yuk Shing, a brother-in-law of Mr. Tang, had
abstained from voting at the Board meeting on Mr. Tang's appointment and
re-election.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to diversify the Board and for which the Nomination Committee
has reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee reviewed and assessed
the Board composition and made recommendations (if any) to the Board
pursuant to the Board diversity policy and the nomination policy.

The Nomination Committee will consider, when designing and reviewing
the Board's composition, from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length of
service. The Nomination Committee will also consider candidates on merit
against the objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven Directors, including
four executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the management process.
The Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether in terms of
professional experience, skills and knowledge. As at the date of this report,
the Board members consists of six male directors, and one female director;
while there is approximately 42.46% of our workforce (including senior
management) comprising of females.

The Company values gender diversity and will continue to take steps to
promote gender diversity at all levels of our Company, including but without
limitation at the Board and senior management levels, to enhance the
effectiveness of our corporate governance as a whole. Taking into account
of our existing business model and the background and experience of our
Directors, the Nomination Committee considered that the composition of
the Board satisfies the Board Diversity Policy. The Company has achieved the
measurable objective which comprise of not less than one female Director
and target to achieve not less than 35% of our workforce (including senior
management) comprising of females by 2024.
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Having reviewed the Board diversity policy and the Board’s composition,
the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the requirements set out in the
Board diversity policy had been met. The Nomination Committee considers
that the current Board composition has provided the Company with a good
balance and diversity of skills and experience appropriate for the business of
the Company. The Nomination Committee will review the implementation
of the Board diversity policy from time to time to ensure its effectiveness on
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
guidelines for the Nomination Committee to nominate suitable candidate(s)
to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to the
Shareholders for election or re-election as Director(s) at a general meeting
of the Company or recommendations to the Board for appointment or
re-election as Director(s).

1. Selection Criteria

1.1 In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee will consider the factors (as reference),
including but not limited to reputation, integrity, accomplishment
and relevant experience in relation to the principal businesses
of the Company from time to time, commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest, diversity in all its aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or above),
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. These factors
are for reference only, and are not meant to be exhaustive and
decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to
nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

1.2 Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election at a general meeting. For those serving
as independent non-executive Directors for a period of 9
years (or above), the Nomination Committee will consider the
independence of such Director for nomination by the Board
to stand for election at a general meeting and state the reason
in a circular to the Shareholders for the re-election. For those
serving as independent non-executive directors for 7 (or more)
listed companies, the Nomination Committee will consider why
they would still be able to devote sufficient time to the Board for
nomination by the Board to stand for appointment or re-election
at a general meeting and state the reason in a circular to the
Shareholders for election or re-election.

1.3 Candidate(s) is required to submit the necessary personal
information pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
together with their written consent to be appointed as Director(s)
and to the public disclosure of their personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in
relation to their standing for election as Director(s).

14 The Nomination Committee may request the candidate(s) to
provide additional information and documents, if necessary.
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2. Nomination Procedures

2.1

22)

23

24

245

26

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting
of the Nomination Committee and invite nominations of
candidate(s) from members of the Board, if any, for consideration
by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee may
nominate candidate(s) without nomination by a member of the
Board.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval. For
proposing candidate(s) to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board
for its consideration and recommendation.

Information (including names, brief biographies (including
qualifications and relevant experience), independence, proposed
remuneration and any other information, as required pursuant
to the applicable laws, rules and regulations) of the candidate(s)
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting
will be stated in a circular to be sent to the Shareholders.

The Shareholder can serve a notice to the Company’s company
secretary to propose a resolution to elect a person as Director,
without the Board’s recommendation or the Nomination
Committee’s nomination pursuant to the applicable laws, rules
and regulations. The particulars of the candidate(s) so proposed
as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations
will be stated in a circular to be sent to the Shareholders.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
Company's company secretary.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for election at any
general meeting.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee pursuant to Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules with specific terms of reference, which are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Audit Committee
consists of all of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wong Ping Yuen (chairman), Mr. Lau King Lung and Mr. Li Yin Quan.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for, inter alia, reviewing the
interim and annual financial statements and making recommendation to the
Board, reviewing the terms of engagement and making recommendation to
the Board regarding the appointment of external auditors of the Company,
monitoring and assessing the independence of external auditors and
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems and
oversight of the Company's financial reporting, controlling, accounting
policies and practices (with external auditors and management of the
Company) and risk management and internal control issues.
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During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee held four
meetings and the attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is
set out below:

REBEMEREERN  BEREZESE8TEAR
BE BERZEESHEZHEEBRAEIIM
N

Members of the Audit Committee Attendance

EREEERE HERR

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen (chairman) FRREE (F/E) 4/4

Mr.Ng Yat Cheung RAERE (R=ZFZ-mFMA 4/4
(resigned on 15 April 2024) + & HBFIT)

Mr. Lau King Lung D4 A 4/4

Mr. Li Yin Quan FEIREE (R-ZF-_MmMFMA N/AA i A
(appointed on 1 April 2024) —HEZT)

During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee reviewed and
discussed with the senior management and the external auditors of the
Company the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2023, the interim
results for the six months ended 30 September 2023 and the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Company. In addition, the Audit
Committee also reviewed with the senior management and/or professional
advisers of the Company, among other things, internal control and risk
management, the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function,
the continuing connected transactions of the Group and the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group's accounting
and financial reporting functions as well as their training programmes and
budget.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and timely
publication of the financial statements and ensure that they are prepared
in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. In preparing the financial statements for the financial year ended
31 March 2024, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies
which are pertinent to the Group’s operations and relevant to the financial
statements and have presented an understandable assessment of the
Group's position and prospects.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out
in the independent auditor’s report.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’s external auditors, Ernst & Young (“EY"), in respect
of audit services and other services is set out as follows which had been
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee based on the scopes of
their works:
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Approximate fees paid/

payable to EY

B ERFREAZ

BAEA

Services rendered for the Group HK$’000
RBEREFEAEBZRE THET
Audit services %8R 2,200
Non-audit services EZ HUR 156
Total HBEr 2,356

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems during the financial year under
review. Regular review is set to be conducted once per year. While the
management of the Group is responsible for implementing and maintaining
sound risk management and internal control systems that safeguard the
Group's assets and stakeholders’ interest in aspects including operation,
financial and compliance, the systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can
only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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Risk management process

The Group has established risk management manual to formulate the
risk management process and management is committed to fostering
a risk aware and control conscious environment. The staff in all levels
within the Group are also required to take the relevant responsibility on
the risk management process. The structure and procedures for the risk
management are as follows:

Both internal and external factors
including economic, political, social,
technology and environmental factors,
laws and regulations, business objectives
and stakeholders’ expectation would be
considered.

Risk identification

The risk identified would be assessed
and rated based on the likelihood and
impact to the achievement of the Group's
objectives.

Risk assessment

Control activities The internal control procedures have been
designed and implemented to address
the risks.

Risk monitoring Risk register has been maintained and
updated regularly to monitor risks on an

ongoing basis.

The Board and the Audit Committee
would perform a review on any change of
significant risks of the Group.

Risk management review

Internal audit function

For the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the Company appointed
external advisers to perform the ongoing monitoring of the systems
of internal control of the Group and report their findings and
recommendations to the Audit Committee and follow up the status of
implementation of the recommendations to ensure all significant control
activities are properly in place within the Group.

The Group has adopted a risk-based approach in developing the annual
audit plan to cover business activities with material risks across the
Group. The rotation basis would be applied to operations with similar risk
associated so as to enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of the internal
audit.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HERERXZERLF

R EERF

REBCRIEREREFM > SlcEBRERE
BF MBEEEBATESRRESZREE
EE2RE - AEERNSHBEZE IH AKX
EEARRREEBREFZ2EMT  EREEERE
FEFOT :

2 B 28k T T IAE B AR R EE
= BaEE g o
g RMEREEZEX &
BEER  EHBEERFSSD

EZHE -

2 B2 5F 5 B & Bl 2 BB A% 1R 5 A] BE 1
RHASEEXRBEREZEE
T UARE(E RREAR o

EEED ERFNRERAREZERF
VA RE 3 B o

[ B BE 2% EREREHMEFARES

AR EFERR -

REiREEiR:: EFSRERZESRER
AEBEANRRZEME

& o

MERF R ThRE

R ECSEWESE =8 IEFEEE -
ARBZEIIBEMBAEE RN IPEEH E
ETHBER  ULKBHZEBARBEZREX
ZEERE  TREHTEZZMRR @ BR
FTEEAREIEEHERAEBRNZEHT -

AEBAMBCEAARRASERZTE - R
FEEERGE  REAEEARERAR
ZE® - ABERURRZEFEBERAREE
B PR ABERZ REERBE -



All findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies for the
financial year under review have been communicated to management, who
are required to establish remedial plans to correct those internal control
deficiencies within a reasonable time period. Post-audit review is performed
to monitor those agreed recommendations having been implemented as
intended and on a timely basis.

Based on the audit result and post-audit review, the advisers reported that
no significant deficiency on the internal control system of the Group for the
financial year under review had been noted.

Review on risk management and internal control systems

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems for the financial year ended
31 March 2024 and confirmed that the Group's risk management and
internal control systems in respect of financial, operational, compliance
controls, risk management functions and adequacy of resources, were
effective and adequate.

Inside information policy

The Group always emphasises the importance of transparency of
communication between the stakeholders and the Group and has
established policies and procedures for timely disclosure of inside
information to the public when available. The senior management of the
Group will take all reasonable measures from time to time to ensure that the
disclosure of inside information is in compliance with the requirements of
all applicable laws and regulations.

Whistleblowing policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate the
achieving of highest possible standards of openness, probity and
accountability. Procedures are formulated to assist individual employee
to disclose internally and at a high level, information which the individual
believes that it shows malpractice or impropriety within the Group. Such
policy is made available on the website of the Company.

Dividend Policy

The Board adopted a dividend policy in order to promote greater dividend
policy transparency. In deciding whether to recommend the payment
of dividend to the Shareholders, the Board will take into account of a
number of factors, including but not limited to the Company’s operation
and financial performance, liquidity condition, capital requirements, future
funding needs, contractual restrictions, availability of reserves and prevailing
economic climate, subject to the applicable rules of Bermuda and the
bye-laws of the Company. Based on these factors, the determination of
dividend distribution, the amount and frequency, will be made at the
discretion of the Board.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is accountable to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively
conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to proper
Board processes and timely preparation of and dissemination to the
Directors comprehensive Board meeting agendas and papers. Minutes of all
meetings of the Board and Board committees are prepared and maintained
by the company secretary to record in sufficient details the matters
considered and decisions reached by the Board or Board committees,
including any concerns raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director.
All draft and finalised minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the
Board committees are sent to the Directors or Board committee members
as appropriate for comments, approval and records. All records are available
for inspection by any Director upon request.

The company secretary reports directly to the Board and is responsible for,
inter alia, providing updated information to all Directors from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, Ms. Ng complied with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and took not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is conscious of its role as an environmentally and socially
responsible group of companies. It has made donations for community
wellbeing from time to time and has environmentally friendly policies in
place. We support the communities and encourage our employees to
participate in charitable events and environmental protection activities. The
environmental policies and performance of the Group are disclosed in a
separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company to
be published on the Company’s website at www.cnagri-products.com and
the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective communications
with shareholders and investors (both individuals and institutions) to ensure
that the Group’s information is disseminated to stakeholders in a timely
manner and enable them to have a clear assessment of the enterprise
performance. A shareholders communication policy has been adopted by
the Company and the same is available on the website of the Company.
During the year under review, the board has reviewed the shareholders
communication policy and considered it effective.
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Based on above, the Company considers the above communication policy
by way of regular updates on the business and financial information of the
Group through the publication of annual and interim reports, meetings with
investors and face-to-face communications at annual general meetings are
effective and adequate.

Convening of Special General Meeting

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of
the Company, to require a special general meeting (the “SGM") to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

Pursuant to bye-law 62 of the bye-laws of the Company, a SGM shall
be convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act’), and, in default, may be convened by the
requisitionist(s).

Pursuant to bye-law 63 of the bye-laws of the Company, a SGM may be
called by notice in writing of not less than fourteen days.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible
for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with
the requirements under Section 74 of the Companies Act once a valid
requisition is received.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights
at the date of the requisition may put forward a proposal at a Shareholders’
meeting, pursuant to the Companies Act, by sending a written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong. The proposal should be stated in
the written requisition and such written requisition should be submitted as
early as practicable to enable the Company to make necessary arrangement
(in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six
weeks before the meeting; and in case of any other requisition, not less than
one week before the meeting).

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must provide their full name,
contact details and identification, in the originally signed written requisition,
notice or statement (as the case may be), in order to give effect thereto.
Information of Shareholder(s) may be disclosed as required by law.
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Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board and/or the secretary
of the Company, either by post, by facsimiles or by email, together with
his/her contact details, such as postal address, email or fax number, via the
following channels:

For corporate affairs:
Address: China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
Suite 3202, 32/F, Skyline Tower

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon
Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2312 8288
Fax: (852) 2312 8148
Email: pr@cnagri-products.com

For shareholding or entitlement affairs:
Address: Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong

The Company encourages the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
annual general meetings and/or other general meetings, at which the
Directors are on hand to answer questions raised by the Shareholders on
the Company’s business operations.

Corporate Website

A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is available on the Company's
website (http://www.cnagri-products.com). Information on the Company’s
website is updated on a regular basis.

Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange, if appropriate,
is also posted on the Company’s website immediately thereafter. Such
information includes financial statements, announcements, circulars and
notices of general meetings and associated explanatory documents etc.

All presentation materials (if any) provided in conjunction with the
Company’s annual general meeting and results announcements each year
will be made available on the Company’s website as soon as practicable
after their release.
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Constitutional Documents

There was no change in the memorandum of association and bye-laws of
the Company during the financial year ended 31 March 2024.

The memorandum of association and bye-laws of the Company are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CONCLUSION

Going ahead, the Board will continue to review regularly its corporate
governance practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance
the Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency to ensure
its sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the
stakeholders of the Company.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 31
March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the business of management and sales of
properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 are
set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a fair review of the
business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the year under review, an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators, an indication of
likely future development in the Group’s business and a discussion on the
Group's environmental policies and performance and compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group, can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. In addition,
a discussion on relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
report of the directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2024 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 189 of this annual report.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
financial year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil). No interim dividend was paid
to the Shareholders during the year under review (2023: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

Details of the dividend policy of the Company are set out in the section
headed “Dividend Policy” in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital and share options of the
Company during the financial year ended 31 March 2024, together with the
reasons therefor, are set out in notes 29 and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year under review, other than the Share Option Scheme as
set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on page 192 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the financial year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the financial year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Details of movements in the financial assets of the Group during the
financial year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in notes 18 to 22 and 35 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year under review, the Company completed the repurchase and
the cancellation of the outstanding Listed Notes in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$110 million under the HKS$1,000,000,000 medium term note
programme on the Stock Exchange.

On 31 March 2024 (the "Redemption Date’), the Company has redeemed
all outstanding Listed Notes (i.e. in the principal amount of HK$40 million)
pursuant to condition 6(B) (Early redemption right of the Issuer) of the terms
and conditions of the Listed Notes (the “Conditions”) set out in the offering
circular dated 19 May 2014 (the "Offering Circular”) and the pricing
supplement to the Offering Circular dated 26 May 2014, at a price equal to
92.88 per cent of the principal amount excluding interest accrued to and
including the Redemption Date.

There are no Listed Notes in issue subsequent to the redemption of the
Listed Notes on the Redemption Date. The Listed Notes was delisted on 8
April 2024.
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Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company
during the year under review.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the financial year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company had no reserves available for distribution
to equity holders of the Company calculated in accordance with the
Companies Act.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
Annual Report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Tang Ching Ho (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Ka Kit
(appointed on 1 April 2024)
Ms. Luo Xu Ying
(appointed on 1 April 2024)
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing
(resigned on 1 April 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lau King Lung
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen
Mr. Li Yin Quan
(appointed on 1 April 2024)
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung
(resigned on 15 April 2024)

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Leung
Sui Wah, Raymond and Mr. Lau King Lung will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

In accordance with bye-law 102(B) of the bye-laws of the Compay, Mr.
Wong Ka Kit ("Mr. Wong"), Ms. Luo Xu Ying (“Ms. Luo”), and Mr. Li Yin Quan
("Mr. Li"), being the Directors appointed by the Board on 1 April 2024 after
the Company's last annual general meeting held on 22 August 2023, shall
hold office until the first annual general meeting of the Company after their
appointments, and being eligible for re-election. Mr. Wong and Ms. Luo will
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM, while Mr. Li will not offer himself
for re-election at the AGM.
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To fill the vacancy, the Board proposes to elect Mr. Shang Hai Long ("Mr.
Shang’) as an independent non-executive Director. The nomination
committee has made recommendation to the Board on the proposed
election of Mr. Shang after having reviewed the Board's composition with
reference to the board diversity policy and taking into account a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. An ordinary resolution will be proposed at the Annual
General Meeting (the "AGM”) to approve the election of Mr. Shang as an
independent non-executive Director which will take effect upon conclusion
at the AGM.

All independent non-executive Directors’ terms of office will be renewed
automatically after the re-election, unless prematurely terminated in
accordance with the terms and conditions of their respective letters of
appointment, the bye-laws of the Company, the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 and the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each of
the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the existing independent non-executive Directors to be
independent as at the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 28 to 30 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with any company in the Group which is
not determinable by such company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with him had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the
end of the year under review.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently
in force and was in force throughout the financial year under review. The
Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance coverage
in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and officers of the
Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EERFETHRAERARTREA
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, #1HE¢ZB R - HERG REE
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES BREBRAR
OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS
As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directorsand R ZZ_MFEF=A=+—H ' EF K AL A
the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates T EZITH A B N SHIAKEL B 2B 2 A
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its AN RA A E T EEEZE (F& R <<E’§‘ 5 &
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securitiesand B & & 61) ([(BH R EHKBF) |) BEXvEE)
Futures Ordinance (the "SFO"), which were required to be notified to the  Z %17 - HERMD K E#EESR - HHEBRE (B
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV %5 R BA & 1) 8 X\/*B F7RESD EBB R A K
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were takenor A Rl R RZX T2 S A B (BIERIE (FH
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required M B & 15 5]) A IE X R FSHE Ek R 8 A%
to be entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 & 2 # %5 32 KE) - KADBER AR ARRIE
of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the (&% K B & & 61) FE3526F B 2 &2t » %
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 1R #5 T B BB S GAE (L BITAESE
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the 1T % R 5 2 1Z % <F T E'J>> ([CEESFRD 1) PR
"Model Code"), were as follows: & ABAMANRQ R BB R AT 2 AT AR SOK
BT

(A) Long positions in the ordinary shares (the “Shares”)and  (A) RAATEER ([BR7]) REBEKRHG
underlying shares of the Company: ZHE

Total Number Approximate

of Shares and percentage of

underlying the Company’s

Name of Director Nature of interest Shares involved total issued Shares

EBRHKE HEAIRAEBTRG

EEEB fEEME B R 0 A BEgoHMABES K
(Note a)
(‘/‘Z/:Tﬁii[a/)

Mr. Tang Ching Ho (“Mr. Tang") Interest of controlled corporations 5,683,958,910 57.10%
B mest ([8EE]) REELEEER (Note b)
(Htith)

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond Beneficial owner 50,000,000 0.50%
(‘Mr. Leung’) EmnEA (Note d)
RinESLE ([REE]) (Htitd)

Mr. Wong Ka Kit (“Mr. Wong") Beneﬂclal owner 25,000,000 0.25%
ERELEE ([BEE]) EnEAA (Note €)
(Hiite)

Ms. Luo Xu Xing (“Ms. Luo”) Beneficial owner 6,000,000 0.06%
‘EIREL LT ([BLL]) EnlEAA (Note )
(K721
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Notes:

(@)

The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure form(s)
filed under the SFO.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the
Stock Exchange, among of the 5,683,958,910 Shares, 2,007,700,062 Shares were
held by Onger Investments Limited (“Onger Investments”), 3,674,814,532
Shares were held by Rich Time Strategy Limited (“Rich time”) and 1,444,316
Shares were held by Goal Success Investments Limited (“Goal Success”).
Onger Investments and Rich Time were directly wholly owned by Wang On
Enterprises (BVI) Limited ("WOE’, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On
Group Limited ("WOG") which was owned as to approximately 47.23%" 9 by
Mr. Tang, together with his associates). On 29 April 2024, after the sell down of
1,444,316 Shares held by Goal Success, Mr. Tang, together with his associates
own China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ("CAP") as to approximately 57.09%.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited ("WYT") made the distribution
in specie of 1,715,665,448 shares of WOG pursuant to the special dividend
approved by its shareholders on 7 March 2024. On 25 March 2024, Rich Time, a
WYT shareholder and a wholly-owned subsidiary of WOG, subsequently received
1,187,123,105 shares of WOG under the distribution in specie. Such 1,187,123,105
shares of WOG have been canceled (the “Cancellation”) on 29 April 2024.
After the Cancellation, Mr. Tang, together with his associates own WOG as to
approximately 42.819%. On 29 April 2024, after the sell down of 1,083,552 Shares
of WOG held by Hearty Limited, Mr. Tang, together with his associates own WOG
as to approximately 42.80%.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the
Stock Exchange, Mr. Leung held 50,000,000 underlying Shares, representing
interests in share options granted to the Director under the share option
scheme of the Company to subscribe for the Shares, further details of which are
set out in the section headed "Share Option Scheme”.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the
Stock Exchange, Mr. Wong held 25,000,000 underlying Shares, representing
interests in share options granted to the Director under the share option
scheme of the Company to subscribe for the Shares, further details of which are
set out in the section headed "Share Option Scheme".

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the
Stock Exchange, Ms. Luo held 6,000,000 underlying Shares, representing interests
in share options granted to the Director under the share option scheme of the
Company to subscribe for the Shares, further details of which are set out in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme”.
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(B) Interest in the shares and underlying shares of associated

corporations:

Name of
Director

E=EE

Mr. Tang
BEa

Name of associated
corporations

BB EE AR

Wang On Properties
Limited ("WOP”)
BEWERRRF
([BRRMBE])

Nature of interest

RSt

Interest of controlled corporation
HERDEEER

Interest of controlled corporation

RIEGE B R

Interest of controlled corporation

A EE S

Beneficial Owner
E=mEAA

Interest of spouse

RECBZ 4

Founder of a discretionary trust

EREEIZA

Total
#aEt

Total number of
shares involved

FTst B 10 48 2
(Note h)
(H#Eh)

810,322,940

11,400,000,000

2,206,121,963

28,026,339

28,026,300

4,989,928,827

7,252,103,429

(B) R IEHEEE 2 R K AR 1D 2 #E %

Approximate
percentage of
the associated
corporation’s
total issued
shares

b MR B
ERTROBH
ZEHBE D
(Note g)
(Ktitg)

%

69.19
(Note i) (1 3Li)

75.00

47.23

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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Notes:

()  The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure form(s)
filed under the SFO.

(h)  With reference to note (b) above, 810,322,940 shares of WYT were held by
Rich Time; 11,400,000,000 shares of WOP were held by Earnest Spot Limited
(a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE). Amongst the 2,206,121,963 shares
of WOG held under interest of controlled corporation, 1,083,552 shares were
held by Hearty Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart
Investments Limited which is directly wholly owned by WYT. WYT is owned
as to approximately 69.19% by Rich Time which is wholly owned by WOE,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of WOG which was owned as to approximately
47.23%"et< by Mr. Tang, together with his associates), 1,187,123,105 shares were
held by Rich Time, 486,915,306 shares were held by Caister Limited (a company
wholly owned by Mr. Tang) and 531,000,000 shares were held by Billion Trader
Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Loyal Fame).

(i) On 3 May 2024, WYT had cancelled an aggregate of 46,000,000 shares ("WYT
Shares”) in its share capital following share repurchases during the period from
2-3,5,and 8-11 April 2024. The said cancellation of WYT Shares had resulted in
an increase of Mr. Tang's interests in WYT from 69.19% to 72.02%.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective
associates had any other interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 3 May 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2012
Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group. During the Year,
25,000,000, 10,000,000 and 15,000,000 share options were lapsed in May
2023, July 2023 and March 2024, respectively. Save as disclosed above, no
share options under 2012 Scheme were granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed. The 2012 Scheme was terminated on 2 May 2022, the last effective
date of the 2012 Scheme, no further share options was granted under it
since then but the share options granted prior to such termination will
continue to be valid and exercisable during the prescribed exercisable
period in accordance with the terms of the 2012 Scheme.
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The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2022 Scheme”)
with the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 26 August 2022 for the primary purpose
of providing incentives and recognition for the eligible participants (the
"Participants”) for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group
with the same terms as the 2012 Scheme as detailed below. During the
Year, no share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under
the 2022 Scheme. Participants include directors of the Group, including
independent non-executive directors and employees, who work for any
member of the Group and/or any person or entity that provides services
to any member of the Group. The 2022 Scheme became effective on 26
August 2022 and will remain in force for a period of 10 years to 25 August
2032.

Under the 2022 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the
Participants to subscribe for the Shares. The offer of a grant of share options
must be accepted by the relevant Participants within 14 days after the date
of grant upon payment of a consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share
options granted. The exercise price is to be determined by the Board and
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

The number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to any
Participants in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Shareholders. Options granted to substantial
Shareholders or independent non-executive Directors, or any of their
respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and with an
aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance
by the Shareholders. There is no specific requirement that an option must
be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board
is empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period at the
time of grant of any particular option. The period during which an option
may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion,
save that no option may be exercised for a period of more than 10 years
from the date of grant.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at general meeting, the Board
may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the date of approval by the Shareholders at general meeting.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2022 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company at
any time shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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Details of the movements of the share options under the 2012 Scheme
during the financial year ended 31 March 2024 were as follows:

Number of share options

BRELE

Outstanding
asat Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed
Name or category of 1 April during during during during

Participant 2023 the year the year the year the year
R-8==
A-H
SRERZAER HATE  REARE  RERGE  REAEE  RERXA
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CE - _FFBZERERBEE T _OF
ZA=+—BUUREFEZEPHBOT :

Outstanding Closing price
asat Exercise immediately

31 March Date of price Validity  before date
2024 grant per share period of grant
“BoRE BERM
AHEIZ

RiEAH  SROEE AR LG

HKS

Director

Bz

Leung Sui Wah, Raymond 50000000 - - - - 50000000 31202 0118 3.1.202- 0117
P E 212032

Wong Ka kit 25000000 - - - - 25000000 31202 0118 3.1.202- 0117
BRA 212032

Luo Xu Xing 6,000,000 - - - - 6,000,000 31202 0118 3.1.20- 0117
g 212032

Other employees 130,000,000 - - - 50000000 80000000 31202 0118 31.20- 0117
HitfES 212032

Total 211,000000 - - - 50000000 161000000

it

Note: Wi EE

The share options granted under the 2012 Scheme were vested as follows:

On the 3rd anniversary of the date of grant: 20% vested
On the 4th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested
On the 5th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested
On the 6th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested
On the 7th anniversary of the date of grant: Remaining 20% vested

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of the Shares available
for issue under the 2012 Scheme is 161,000,000, representing approximately
1.62% of the existing issued share capital of the Company.

As at 31 March 2024, the total number of shares available for issue under
the 2022 Scheme is 995,306,782 Shares, representing 10% of the Company's
total issued share capital.

Other particulars of the 2012 Scheme and the 2022 Scheme are set out in
note 31 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” as set
out above and in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, at no
time during the year ended 31 March 2024 were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 31 March 2024, the following
corporations or persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company) had, or was deemed or taken to have, interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERRZERAA

ESWBEROEER ZER

BREXTBRETS] —SHREEMBEREK
MEAREEN  RBEE_T_ME=A
=t HALEFEREMER  AXFAHER
ERESARESENRBRFHFLER
EEEN > MBELAEBRERNKERZSD
MAZAESHZE  BRERETEENEH
R - HARBREEMN B AR ERT L
TARFREEFEHRBEMEMEAER
BOZSERN -

FERRRROREERD 2 ERS
15979}

RZZB-_WE=A=+—0  BEZHMRM -
THEBHIAL (BEFHARBERTRAR
BN R - AWEFXBRRFEARAAR
B(EH LB B336iGRFE ZELM
Frtdk 2 MO AR MO 2 EIORR -



Long positions in the Shares:

Name of Shareholders

IR R A B

WOE

WOE

Rich Time

Goal Success

Biomore Investments

Total Smart

=

0G
ZHH

M

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin
VR

Nature of interest

EaEME

Beneficial owner

EmfBAA

Beneficial owner
EmnEA A

Beneficial owner

BEmBEAA

Interest of controlled corporation
R A E RS

Interest of controlled corporation

REsEEER

Interest of controlled corporation
REGDEERE R

Interest of controlled corporation
READEEER

Interest of controlled corporation

REsEE RS

Family interest
EN

R 2HR :

Total number of
Shares involved

B IR 6 48 2

3,674,814,532
(Note b)
(B atb)

2,007,700,062
(Note b)
(Ktzte)

1,444,316
(Note b)
(Hi7Eb)

1,444,316
(Note b)
(Htzte)

1,444,316
(Note b)
(Ktatp)

1,444,316
(Note b)
(HtaEb)

1,444,316
(Note b)
(Htatp)

5,683,958,910
(Note b)
(Hi7Eb)

5,683,958910
(Note d)
(Htatd)
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Approximate
percentage of

the Company’s
total issued shares

EERDRERTREG

BY2HWAB D
(Note a)
(K ita)

2017

0.01

0.01

0.01

0.01

0.01

57.10

57.10
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Notes:

(@) The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure form(s) filed
under the SFO.

(b)  Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the Stock
Exchange, among of the 5,683,958,910 Shares, 2,007,700,062 Shares were held by
Onger Investments Limited (“Onger Investments’), 3,674,814,532 Shares were
held by Rich Time Strategy Limited (“Rich time”) and 1,444,316 Shares were held by
Goal Success Investments Limited (“Goal Success”). Onger Investments was directly
wholly owned by Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited ("WOE’, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Wang On Group Limited ("WOG") which was owned as to approximately
47.23%Mete 9 by Mr. Tang, together with his associates). On 29 April 2024, after the sell
down of 1,444,316 Shares held by Goal Success, Mr. Tang, together with his associates
own CAP as to approximately 57.09%.

(c)  Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited ("WYT") made the distribution in specie
of 1,715,665,448 shares of WOG pursuant to the special dividend approved by its
shareholders on 7 March 2024. On 25 March 2024, Rich Time, a WYT shareholder
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of WOG, subsequently received 1,187,123,105 shares
under the distribution in specie. Such 1,187,123,105 shares have been canceled (the
“Cancellation”) on 29 April 2024. After the cancellation, Mr. Tang, together with his
associates own WOG as to approximately 42.81%. On 29 April 2024, after the sell down
of 1,083,552 Shares held by Hearty Limited, Mr. Tang, together with his associates own
WOG as to approximately 42.80%.

(d)  Asat 31 March 2024, pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on
the website of the Stock Exchange, Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (“Mrs. Tang") was taken to be
interested in the 5,683,958,910 Shares in which her spouse, Mr. Tang, was deemed
to be interested under the SFO. On 29 April 2024, after the sell down of 1,444,316
Shares held by Goal Success, Mr. Tang, together with his associates own CAP as to
approximately 57.09%. Mrs. Tang's interest deemed to be taken from her spouse, Mr.
Tang, under the SFO was changed to 5,682,514,594 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, there were no other persons
(other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company) who had
any interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

All of the Group's subsidiaries are equal opportunity employers, with the
selection and promotion of individuals based on suitability for the position
offered. The salary and benefit levels of the Group’s employees are kept at
a competitive level and employees are rewarded on a performance related
basis within the general framework of the Group’s emolument policies.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group and the Directors
are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The Company has adopted the share option
schemes as an incentive to the Directors and eligible participants. Details of
the share option schemes are set out in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” of this annual report and note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The employees of
the subsidiaries established in Mainland China are members of the Central
Pension Scheme operated by the Mainland China government. There were
no forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave
the retirement benefits scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions)
be used to reduce the existing level of contributions during the year ended
31 March 2024. As at 31 March 2024, no forfeited contribution under
the retirement benefits schemes of the Group is available to reduce the
contribution payable in future years. Particulars of these retirement schemes
are set out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

With regard to the environmental policies, the Group aims to minimise
the Group’s environmental impact. The Group is committed to promoting
awareness and decisions that contribute to achieving environmentally
sustainable development. The Group will comply fully with all applicable
environmental laws and regulations. We will use fuel, water and other
natural resources efficiently and conservatively. We recognise this to be
a continuous process of improvement and we seek to actively look for
environmentally-friendly options and carry out environmentally-friendly
practices whenever appropriate and possible. The environmental policies
and performance of the Group are disclosed in a separate Environmental,
Social and Governance Report of the Company to be published on the
Company's website at www.cnagri-products.com and the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the percentages of sales and purchases
attributable to the Group's five largest customers and five largest suppliers,
respectively, were both less than 5%.

At no time during the year under review have the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the issued Shares) had any interests in any
of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
of approximately HK$3,244,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2023:
approximately HK$6,291,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the transactions as disclosed in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements, no controlling Shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries has any contract of significance with the Company or its
subsidiaries during the year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on corporate governance principles
and practices adopted by the Company and any deviation to the code
provisions of the CG Code, if any, during the year under review is set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 32 to 53 of this annual report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 1 October 2022, the Group and WOG entered into a master licensing
agreement which sets out the general principles and key terms governing
the definitive licensing agreements under which relevant members of WOG
may grant license of, and the Group may take up the license of the premises
from 1 October 2022 to 30 September 2025. Details were disclosed in the
joint announcement of, inter alia, the Company, WYT and WOG dated 1
October 2022.

Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the master licensing
agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Rules 14A.55 and 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The aggregate
amount of license fee paid by the Group to WOG and its subsidiaries was
approximately HK$3,210,000 for the year under review, and the aggregate
amount of the right-of use assets recognised by the Group upon entering
into individual licensing agreements with WOG and its subsidiaries was Nil
for the year under review.

The Directors (including all of the independent non-executive Directors)
have reviewed and confirmed that the mentioned continuing connected
transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of
the Group's business; (i) in accordance with the terms of the respective
agreements governing such transactions on terms that were fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole; (jii) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable
to the Group than those available to or from independent third parties; and
(iv) have not exceeded the respective caps.
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Ernst & Young ("EY”), the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

EY have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed,
confirming that (i) nothing has come to their attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Board; (i) for transactions involving the
provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to their
attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were
not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Group; (iii) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;
and (iv) with respect to the aggregate amounts of the disclosed continuing
connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes
the auditor to believe that the amounts have exceeded the annual caps
as disclosed in the announcement dated 1 October 2022. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued Shares as
required under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2024
and up to the date of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Completion of Listed Notes Redemption and Withdrawal of
Listing

On 31 March 2024 (the "Redemption Date"), the Company has redeemed
all outstanding Listed Notes (i.e. in the principal amount of HK$40 million)
pursuant to condition 6(B) (Early redemption right of the Issuer) of the terms
and conditions of the Listed Notes (the “Conditions”) set out in the offering
circular dated 19 May 2014 (the "Offering Circular”) and the pricing
supplement to the Offering Circular dated 26 May 2014, at a price equal to
92.88% of the principal amount excluding interest accrued to and including
the Redemption Date.

Subsequent to the redemption of all outstanding Listed Notes, the Listed
Notes were delisted on 8 April 2024.
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The Disposal of the Huai’an Market Interests

On 25 May 2024, the Group has entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the “SPA") with an independent third party (the “Purchaser”) for the
disposal of the entire equity interests of a subsidiary (the “Target
Company’) holding, among others, the property interests in the Huai'an
Market (the “Disposal’) for an initial consideration of approximately
RMB28.9 million (equivalent to approximately HK$31.9 million) subject to
adjustments. The Purchaser has also undertaken under the SPA to provide
funding to the Target Company in the amount of approximately RMB140.5
million (equivalent to approximately HK$154.9 million) for the Target
Company'’s repayment of certain intercompany loans owned to the
Company's subsidiaries. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 25 May 2024 and the circular of the
Company dated 17 June 2024.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect
from 18 September 2023 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation
of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited. For details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated 18 September 2023.

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31
March 2024 have been audited by Ernst & Young, whose term of office will
expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
A resolution to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the external auditors of the
Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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To the shareholders of China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Agri-Products
Exchange Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 80 to 189, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
BYZEEBRE#&)

Key audit matter

HEEREH

Valuation of investment properties

REWHIEE

The Group holds various investment properties in Chinese
Mainland for rental earning purposes. These investment
properties are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period and the aggregate carrying amount of these investment
properties was HK$2,809,556,000 as at 31 March 2024, which
represented approximately 61% of the total assets of the Group.
EEEATREAMHEZEREYEERRES PSR - RE
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The Group engaged an external valuer to perform the valuations
of these investment properties as at 31 March 2024. In the
absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the external valuer considered information from
a variety of sources such as current prices of properties with
similar locations and conditions and estimated rental value
of the relevant properties and made assumptions about the
capitalisation rates.
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The valuation of investment properties has been identified as
a key audit matter because significant estimation is required to
determine the fair values of the investment properties, which
reflect market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

HREERBREXBEARTESRANRENELFES
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The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
valuation of investment properties are included in notes 2.4, 3
and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMEFRPNEERL X

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment
properties included the following:
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obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared by
the external valuer engaged by the Group;
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assessing the external valuer’s qualification, experience and
expertise and considering their competence, objectivity and
independence;

FHEINEREEMNER KREEXNE  TEZEHE
% BB RBEIM

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
assessment of the valuation methodologies applied and the
key parameters adopted in the valuations, on a sampling
basis; and

B A B ATl E R 17 B B AP R A AT ER AR e (1B 75 0K R il
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comparing property-related data used as inputs for the
valuations with underlying documentation, such as lease
agreements, on a sampling basis.
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Key audit matter
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMEBRPNEERL X

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

TEEYERGFELHEYRZ 25 FE

The Group's properties under development and properties held
for sale are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate carrying amount
of these properties was HK$1,239,121,000, which represented
approximately 27% of the total assets of the Group.
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During the year, a write-down of these properties to net realisable
value of HK$2,919,000 was recognised as an expense in profit or
loss against properties held for sale.
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Management’s assessment of the net realisable value of
properties under development and properties held for sale is
based on the estimated selling prices and costs necessary to
complete the development, if any, and to sell these properties.
Management of the Group has also made reference to the
valuations carried out by the external valuer engaged by the
Group in the estimation. This has been identified as a key audit
matter because significant estimation is required to determine
the net realisable value of the properties under development and
properties held for sale, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.
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The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
properties under development and properties held for sale are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of
properties under development and properties held for sale
included the following:

AAERMELBELEDXENER FENERETFEEN
T&IE

obtaining and reviewing the management’s assessments
and the valuation reports prepared by the external valuer on
which the management’s assessment of the net realisable
value of properties under development and properties held
for sale was based;
RETEHNEREN G UREBEBTEERDER
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assessing the external valuer’s qualification, experience and
expertise and considering their competency, objectivity and
independence; and

FEEINIREEMMER KREREXENE TERHEE
B BFEERBIM R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
assessment of the valuation methodologies applied and
the key parameters adopted in the valuations, including
estimated selling prices and costs necessary to complete the
development by comparing with market available data and
management’s development budget, on a sampling basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)
BYZEEBRE#&)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend
to liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
BYZEEBRE#&)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. Wong Cheuk Keung.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

26 June 2024

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERLF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SeREkHEARERER

Yearended 31 March 2024 BE —Z - =A=+—RHILFE

2024 2023
—EBoNmEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
Revenue Wz 5 579,132 596,400
Cost of sales $HE RN (235,840) (265,635)
Gross profit EX 343,292 330,765
Other income and gains H bW A R Wz 6 119,261 24,918
General and administrative expenses — MR RITHAX (160,745) (163,702)
Selling expenses HEMX (36,373) (47,053)
Gain on early redemption of unsecured notes REELOEEFER 2 WD 14,106 15,556
Profit from operations before fair value AR EEEBRFEEA
changes and impairment KRR 279,541 160,484
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment CRIEEREBERR
losses) on financial assets, net CREER) F58 628 (2,936)
Write-down of properties held for sale FEEH & ¥ % 2 O (2,919) (6,400)
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair & A FELERZ AR Z
value through profit or loss, net ERMEENAFE
W/ (E518) F5 120 (148)
Fair value losses on owned investment BEREMEZATE
properties, net BB (82,678) (4,651)
Profit from operations KRR 194,692 146,349
Finance costs B & KA 8 (111,575) (118,446)
Profit before taxation FR B A% Al 7 83,117 27,903
Income tax expense FrEHiAx 11 (56,241) (9,402)
Profit for the year A E S A 26,876 18,501
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)
GEeEBREREMEEKREERE)
Yearended 31 March 2024 BE —Z - =A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHEIT
Profit for the year REEEF 26,876 18,501
Other comprehensive loss Htt2mEE
Other comprehensive loss that REEREBREFHDEE
may be reclassified to profit or loss in BaRzHME2EEE :
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translating foreign MEIRINETE S| B2
operations, net b H ZFH)F 5 (83,953) (242,568)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEEHEBEBEARH (57,077) (224,067)
Profit for the year attributable to: UTATEBERFERR
Owners of the parent ISTNCIETREWN 7,353 6,836
Non-controlling interests I IR b 19,523 11,665
26,876 18,501
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for DTATEAEAEER2E
the year attributable to: Wi (E58) 458
Owners of the parent ISNCIET RN (66,353) (206,327)
Non-controlling interests FE2 B b 2 9,276 (17,740)
(57,077) (224,067)
Earnings per share attributable to ordinary R AT EBEREZEIZTEA
equity holders of the parent EEERER
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — EAR RS (BL) 13 0.07 0.07

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERLF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B AR R

31 March2024 R —ZE —WME=A=+—H

2024 2023
—EomE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERERE 14 61,988 57,853
Right-of-use assets EAREE 15(a) 18,270 24,555
Investment properties REYE 16 2,809,556 2,933,376
Loan and interest receivables EURE 2K F B 20 8,021 17,209
Prepayments TETFIE 19 6,787 =
Deferred tax assets EEBIEEE 27 5,320 -
Total non-current assets ERBEERLE 2,909,942 3,032,993
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties under development TR 17 65,531 136,001
Properties held for sale RHERE 2m= 17 1,173,590 1,187,708
Trade receivables B 5 RWIA 18 2,055 1,964
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TERRIE  Re REM
JE MR IE 19 183,806 205,351
Loan and interest receivables U E R F B 20 19,621 9,870
Financial assets at fair value through BRATELERARZ
profit or loss TREE 21 475 355
Pledged bank deposits B RITER 22 39,611 28,517
Cash and cash equivalents BekReERE 27 243,435 312,434
Total current assets mENEELRE 1,728,124 1,882,200
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & E bR FRIAE 23 255,504 386,641
Contract liabilities EHEE 24 158,693 166,096
Receipts in advance 8 Y K18 192,143 200,089
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFERITREMEE 25 362,624 229,173
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) 6,064 6,436
Land appreciation tax payable FE AT 3t 3B AT 31,304 30,864
Income tax payable AN 76,222 51,384
Total current liabilities mE A ERE 1,082,554 1,070,683
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 645,570 811,517
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERTE AR 3,555,512 3,844,510
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

HREMBARREXE)

31 March2024 R ZZEZWME=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_NEF —FT_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREAE
Unsecured notes IR TR E 26 - 124,146
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SERITREMEES 25 951,889 1,048,555
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) 26,805 23,198
Deferred tax liabilities REFIBEAE 27 508,074 521,199
Total non-current liabilities ERBAERE 1,486,768 1,717,098
Net assets BEFE 2,068,744 2,127,412
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &R FHEE AELER
Issued capital BEITRA 29(a) 99,531 99,531
Reserves i 29(b) 1,575,980 1,638,495
1,675,511 1,738,026
Non-controlling interests FEREDS 393,233 389,386
Total equity s EE 2,068,744 2,127,412

Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
REE
Director

EF

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERLF

Tang Ching Ho
BB
Director

EF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEERBEE

Yearended 31 March204 B Z —E —_NNF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BLAREARG

Capital
Share  redemption  Contributed Shareholders' Other  Exchange
premium reserve surplus  contribution reserve reserve

ROER SAREERE REBR BRRME  RMRE  EXRR

Share
option

reserve

BREER

HKS

Non-

controlling

Subotal interests  Total equity
Mt #BRER  BREE

At 1 April 2022 W-Z-ZERA-A 3903147 945 2215409 064 1648 10828 1139 1939313 a0 2351532
Bichange difrences on transtioninto~~ BEAZRER EYZE

presentation currency - - - (213,83) - (213,83) (2940) (242568)
Proft for the year KERAT - - - s 6836 11665 18501
Totel comprehensive income/oss) KEERENN/ (BE)4E

for the year = = = 163) = (206327) (17740) (224067)
Adjustment for busiess combination under ‘} ERA %‘ITB‘M%AM

common control Note 37/ = = 393 = - 3% 08 601
Recognition of equity-sttled shared-based ﬁ?

peyment ot 3/) ﬁ%ﬁ%Zﬁ’f’wﬂzﬁ - 464 4641 E 4647
Lapse of shae options Aot 37) ERExnma) - - - B1) E 2
Transferto statutory resenve ER BN % Y 5 i 7. v 5, ¥
Dividend pad tonon-<ontroling nteests B PR R 22 - = = - 5 - (5301) (5301)
A at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 203

1) 3,923,147% 945* 2,215,409 664* 2041 (202,335)* 5475¢ 1,738,026 389,386 2,127,412

Bichange dferences ontransatoninte.~~ REAZREMZEZE

presentation curtency - - - - (73,706) - (3706 (10247) (83953
Proft forthe year KERET - - - - - - 1B 1958 26876
Total comprehensve income/oss) KEERENA/ (BB)

for the year 8% - - - - (73,706) - 66,353) 9,216 (57,077)
Recogniton o equityettled sharecbased ~ ERANEREENRE

payment (Vote 1) BERZRR ) - - - 3,838 3838 = 3838
Lapse of share ptions 4ote 3 ERExn ) - - - (1,760) - -
Transferto statutory resene BRTEERE - - - - - -
Dividend ped tonon-<ontoling nteests B PR RS - - - - (5429)  (5429)
At31 March 2024 i1 o 3,923,147 945* 2,215,409 664* 2041 (276,041} 7,553 1,675,511 393233 2,068,744

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$1,575,980,000
(2023: HK$1,638,495,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

7T)

* ZEREEREE
1,575,980,000% 7T (= &

R AR A B

& 1 1,638495,00078
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER
Yearended 31 March2024 B E T -—WMF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EomE

HK$’000 HKS$'000
FB FiET

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& E#KRERE

Profit before tax R 25 Bl 4 A 83,117 27,903
Adjustments for: MATEIE 2 BE :
Depreciation of property, plant and Y- - BEREBINE
equipment 7 15,598 14,227
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7 5,827 4,264
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment CREERERBE
losses) on financial assets, net CREEBERD) FEE 7 (628) 2,936
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets at BAFELERARZ
fair value through profit or loss, net SREENANFE
Was/ (E518) F48 7 (120) 148
Fair value losses on owned investment BEEREMELATE
properties, net BB 16 82,678 4651
Fair value gains on sub-leased investment PEREMERTE
properties g 16 (15,183) a
Write-down of properties held for sale FE{EH & ¥ EM0R 17 2,919 6,400
Gain on early redemption on unsecured notes 2 P iE Bl E K IFEH 2
& (14,106) (15,556)
Finance costs BE KA 8 111,575 118,446
Bank and other interest income R1T R E A A B WA 6 (2,808) (5,946)
Equity-settled share option expense R EE 2 BRERS 7 3,838 4,647
Gain on lease modification HEESR .z W 6 - (2112)
Losses/(gains) on disposal of property, plant HEMHE  BERREEZ
and equipment, net BE,/ (=) FE 7 134 (539)
Reversal of aged payables 7 0] & BR #4 FE 1~ 7K08 6 (101,840) 4
171,001 159,469
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B SR E R (1 hn) 746 (1,213)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayment, deposits and FE{ I8 « &4 &k H Aty
other receivables FE YRR IB R A (1 0) 10,614 (19,164)
Decrease in properties held for sale FELEWMER D 198,538 173,344
Increase in properties under development Ry M (150,656) (85,398)
Increase/(decrease) in receipts in advance T8 R IBE N, CRi ) 2,983 (25,368)
Decrease in contract liabilities AHEaERD (9,067) (49,873)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 N B th FE A~ FRIE R (31,002) (41,763)
Cash generated from operations MELRMBZRE 193,157 110,034
Interest received on bank deposits 2 SR 1T 17 2 B 2,349 3,035
Income tax paid B TSR (34,033) (48,993)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEBS2RERE
R ER 161,473 64,076

8 4 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Ta
Year ended 31 March 2024 &{ & — & — I F =

2024
“E-OMEF

HK$'000
THERT

REXBREZRERE

Net cash flows from operating activities

EHRERERH)
A=Z+—BL%EE

2023
—E—F
HK$'000
T T

R 161,473 64,076

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEXBKZEHESRE
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BMERZREZ

plant and equipment Fr 5 5kI8 108 1,244
Proceeds from disposal of REREYHEZ FTSHRIE

investment properties - 20,853
Payments for purchase of EEREME MR

investment properties (7,897) (17,506)
Payments for purchases of property, BEWE BEREKEZ

plant and equipment INE:N 14 (21,922) (17,974)
Net cash outflows for common control HEEHGHZEER

combination FRE 32 = (175)
Settlement of loan and interest receivables EEEWEREFE 6,781 5,400
Increase in loan and interest receivables E&E\H&Em&ﬂ%% hn (7,966) (2,911)
Net cash flows used in investing activities BEEKMARSREFHE (30,896) (11,069)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REXBK2HESRE
Proceeds from new interest-bearing bank and ~ #¥1i& &t B R1T &

other borrowings HEMEEZMERIE 305,328 1,172,476
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and EBEFERITREMEE

other borrowings (256,154) (1,117,368}
Increase in pledged deposits B E 38 0 (11,690) &
Early redemption of unsecured notes REELOEEAES (118,326) (95,937)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests EENERZ - Tl Y (5,429) (5,301)
Repayments of leases liabilities including EEEERE

related interests BIEEEFE (8,387) (5,964)
Interest paid B FIE (99,355) (93,543)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEXKFTRARSREFHE (194,013) (145,637)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRASEERL FHE

EQUIVALENTS (63,436) (92,630)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year REVIZ RS RIS EEB 22 312,434 440,328
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [EREH 55 (5,563) (35,264)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REXRZESRASEH

END OF YEAR 22 243,435 312,434

2024 Annual Report
— IR

85



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBER MR

31 March2024 —E-_E=HA=+—8”

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. EEREEER

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries the “Group”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The registered office of the Company is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of business is Suite 3202,
32/F, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
holding company of the Company is Rich Time Strategy Limited, which
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Wang On Group Limited (“Wang On"), which
is incorporated in Bermuda and is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

The Group is principally engaged in the management of and sales of
properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital
BRTEE/

T AR A

R,
BRRREHE

Novel Talent Limited British Virgin United States dollars
Islands/Hong ("UsD") 1
Kong
Novel Talent Limited RBREZEE,/ 1%
BB
BMNBREEEREAR QA (Note ) PRC/Chinese Renminbi ("RMB”)
Mainland 61,220,000
MR FEEERARRA HE AR #61,220,0007C
(Ki#ti)
REAPNREIERATS PRC/Chinese RMB180,610,000
AR AR (Note i) Mainland
RZEB DM REIERAT S HE AR #180,610,0007C

BRAE (i)

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERLF

FEEERRSERAA ([Fa7] @ &
BEMBAGGE [FEE]) AR BERET
MLz EREBERAR - HRHEFRH
BMAERSMAERAR ([BRA]) ERE™T -
KA B Z 5 fft # = B L B Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda @ 1 = &
B AL BB LB N BE R K 8395
RRESNEDRNE « RRAARIZEEERA
Al AR B 2 B S & 5L 32 AIRich Time Strategy
Limited * if1 48 2 7] 2 £ 42 % J& A &) A Wang
On Group Limited (Z&Z&BBRAF) * ([&
Z])  ZARRBREFMAT - WA
RETEREMT ©

AEBEEIE2HEPEARAME ([HEH]) §
FREMRIMBZMEEERHEERRE
BRERMMRBIEMBEE -

BB ATNER
ARREEMBRANFHBOT

Percentage of
equity attributable

to the Company Principal activities

AT EERET D
Direct Indirect

HE %

EEXER

100% - Investment holding

REZR

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation

REREMRS
R

7.23% 92.77%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation

RERERRXS

i



1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

IMEEREERBETS
HR 2 8 (Note /)

INEEREERBENS
BRAR (Ha)

EMEEDTERBR QA
(Note ii)

EMNEEDRERBR DA
(K1 2Eii)

PN R REERMETS
BRA Al (Note /i)

PINRERBERIETS
B IR AR (A 2tii)

R RERIERMETS
AR A 7] (Note ii)

A RE R ERLETS
BRAR (H2i)

BEREREERIENS
AR A 7] (Note i)

RE R R R E R ETS
BRR A (A i)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

KL
ERREEHE

PRC/Chinese
Mainland

FE

PRC/Chinese
Mainland

R E

PRC/Chinese
Mainland

R E

PRC/Chinese
Mainland

i

PRC/Chinese
Mainland

R

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital
ERTEE/
oF fi AR Ak

RMB34,285,700

AR #£34,285,7007C

RMB320,000,000

A K #320,000,00070

RMB450,000,000

AR #450,000,00070

UsD23,230,000

23,230,0005 7T

RMB443,000,000

A R #443,000,00070

1.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
SREMEERMEEE)

31March2024 —E W& =HA=+—H

TtEREEER »

FRMELARNER (@)
ARRETEMBARMFEOT « (&)

Percentage of
equity attributable

to the Company Principal activities

AT EIERET DL
Direct Indirect

HE fE

FEREH

- 51%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

REREMRSHT
5 RS E

- 100%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

REREMRST
5 R YFEHE

- 100%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

REREMRX ST
BRI E

- 100%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

ReREMRST
BRMEHEE

- 100%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

REREMR ST
SR YFEHE

2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FREMBERMEE)
31March2024 — - F=H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. tEREEER @)

88

(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EREMBEARNER (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARREFEZEWBRAAIMFEBENT : (&)

(continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

AL
BEREEHE

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital
ERTER
EIH}HEZF

Percentage of
equity attributable

to the Company Principal activities

EAEEERET DL
Direct Indirect

HE %

FREHR

B RERRERMETS PRC/Chinese RMB140,000,000 = 75%  Agricultural produce
BRAa] (Note i) Mainland exchange market
operation and
property sales
S ERREIERAE TS i A R #140,000,0007T REBRERMR ST
BRAA (A ati) BRMEHE
BBLERIEDRIETS PRC/Chinese RMB200,000,000 - 100%  Agricultural produce
BR AT (Note i) Mainland exchange market
operation and
property sales
BHRZERRIERMETS HE AR #200,000,0007T REREMR ST
BRAR] (K iti) BRMEHE
HRRERBERWREMRAR  PRC/Chinese USD35,000,000 - 100%  Agricultural produce
(Note ii) Mainland exchange market
operation and
property sales
EZRERBERDRERAR HFE 35,000,000% 7T REREMR ST
(Wi ##ii) B RYEHE
R AR IRREMRILETS PRC/Chinese RMB12,820,000 = 5858%  Agricultural produce
AR A A (Note i) Mainland exchange market
operation
ERTRER LERIERLETS # AR #12,820,0007C ReREMRS
BR XA (Ht i) %

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERLF



1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(continued)

Place of

incorporation/  Issued ordinary/
registration and registered share
business capital
ERTEE/

AL
BFRREEBE FEMRA

BEMaPMNERIERYR PRC/Chinese RMB3,000,000
B R 2R T (Note jii) Mainland

BN aPMERIERYR H AR #3,000,0007T
BB AR (B i)

BALERIERBENS PRC/Chinese RMB2,000,000
BR A7 (Note i) Mainland

BERALERBERBETS H A R #2,000,0007T
BRAR (Afizi)

Notes:

(i)  Registered as a sino-foreign equity joint venture under the laws of the PRC.
(i)  Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under the laws of the PRC.
(i)  Registered as a domestic-funded enterprise under the laws of the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the Company’s directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
mEMEERMET®)
31March2024 —E W& =HA=+—H

EREEER »

FRMELARNER (@)
ARRETEMBARMFEOT « (&)

Percentage of
equity attributable

to the Company Principal activities

AT EIERET DL
Direct Indirect

HE fE

FEREH

- 51%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation

RERERRS
Mm%

- 80%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss which have been measured at fair
value.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$") and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2024. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e, existing rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continved)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ReRBERME )

31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year's financial statements.

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the 2020 Amendments”)
(early adopted)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments’) (early
adopted)

Definition of Accounting Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(@) Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide non-
mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the material
accounting policy information in note 2 to the financial statements.
The amendments did not have any impact on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the Group's financial

statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by a right
to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of
the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity
instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a convertible
liability is itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on or
before the reporting date affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has early adopted the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments from 1 April 2023 and in accordance with the
transition provisions of the amendments, the Group has adopted
the amendments retrospectively. The amendments did not have any
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group's approach and policy
align with the amendments, the amendments had no impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences arising from these transactions.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group has determined
the temporary differences arising from right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately, which have been reflected in the reconciliation
disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements. However, they did
not have any material impact on the overall deferred tax balances
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as the
related deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting under HKAS 12.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FREMBERMEE)
31March2024 — - F=H=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 BERRIBECZES »)
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(&)  Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model () BECIERFEIR ZIEFT RNEEH#
Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception from the recognition HE — T =AM A N — IE 58
and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the implementation of MHEREGIN  REBRARBEERE
the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic BEEAERBRABAMZIE_&
Co-operation and Development. The amendments also introduce Amal Bz BLERE - BIATRE
disclosure requirements for the affected entities to help users of the FENBEBSIATEEZSR - LB
financial statements better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar B HRRERAEEA M TRERBEE E’]
Two income taxes, including the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar YTHE_FEHRER  BREAEXE=
Two income taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation FHEBPHEBREEASIE_MER *ﬁ
is effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable AR - AREMLED B/M K
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in BEE FEEMESRERNARABEEZEER
which the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but not yet in BRI XEZAMEREARKE M3k A &8
effect. The Group has applied the amendments retrospectively. Since HEER  c AEBEEEVERAZEE
the Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the AR - AERAEBTBRIE &K
amendments did not have any impact to the Group. RAMEE  BAUEZEBIAHERE

B EEAEE -

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 238 M EMRERZH ] BB
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 7% EHZE A
Except for the early adoption of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 ﬁf}mi%iﬁq_y —EFBIARZT
Amendments, the Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that BEIAN  AEEIW E Bt 5 B 7 3Rk
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements. AR A TP B B/MAE R RERZLEETE
The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they BB mELED - REBBNLEITES
become effective. MBREER (WMEA) ENEBER -
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between BRMBHREENE RELSHEHENAE
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint 10 REBEBRNE BERACHMEELNE
Venture’ BI85 ZAERTAR B EAS
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback' BERMBREER ERAHEEZHEEREF
F165% ZIEFT AR
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements’ BB ERNES. HEFHEZH
and HKFRS 7 BB RELE
RIZE75% 2 (B FT AR
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? BB ERNEN R s KL
ZAERTAR
| Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 R ZE_NE-A-—HIAZERBRZEE
HA E %
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 ? RIZE-_RAF— A BRZEHBZFE
HA P A K
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption P O RMKREEEBIEMBE - EAHER
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable
to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency between
the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do
not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor's interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments
are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses
in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to
ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e, 1 April 2019). Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are
intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding the
effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows
and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the amendments is
permitted. The amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at the beginning
of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combination and goodwill
Business combinations under common control

Business combinations of entities under common control are accounted
for using the principle of the pooling-of-interests method. The assets and
liabilities of the acquiree are stated at their historical book values carried
in the consolidated accounts of the controlling shareholder at the date
of acquisition. The difference between the consideration transferred for
a business combination under common control and the total of (i) the
acquisition date historical net asset values of the acquiree attributable to
the Group; and (i) the pre-acquisition reserves of the acquiree combined
by the Group is accounted for as a contribution from or a distributed to, as
appropriate, holding companies in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Accordingly, there is no goodwill or a gain on bargain purchase
as a result of a business combination under common control. The results
of the acquiree under a business combination under common control are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date such
control ceases.

Other business combinations

Business combinations other than those under common control are
accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the
acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation
of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Business combination and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned
to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss
on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative financial
instruments and equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the
use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level2 ~— based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including right-
of-use assets) held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including

properties under construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, which reflects market conditions at

the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment

properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the property) is included

in profit or loss in the period which the property is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are

stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management, including costs of testing whether the
related assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment commences when the

assets are ready for their intended use.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceed and the carrying amount of the item and are

recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant
and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives. The principal annual rates

used for depreciation are as follows:

Buildings
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of the items is allocated on a reasonable basis between
the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an
asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Leasing

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of staff quarter and office premises that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for any
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
any leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

(b) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). The
cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
AR ERIHIE

31March2024 —E W& =HA=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 24E R BER )
HE ©)
REBEBEBA (2)

(b) 1&/REERER

Leasing (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held
as inventories, they are subsequently measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's policy for
“properties under development” or “properties held for sale”. When
a right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property, it
is included in investment properties. The corresponding right-of-
use asset is initially measured at cost, and subsequently measured
at fair value, in accordance with the Group's policy for “investment
properties”.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful
live. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful live and the lease term as
follows:

Leasehold land 2% or over the terms of the relevant leases ranging
from 16 to 30 years, whichever is shorter

Buildings Over the lease terms of 2 to 6 years

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property or inventory as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets
that meet the definition of investment property or inventories are
presented within “investment properties” and “properties under
development” or “properties held for sale”, respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FREMBERMEE)
31March2024 — - F=H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)
Leasing (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

Lease payments included:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially
measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual
value guarantees;

the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise the options; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leasing (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review/expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives
receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
assets with any differences recognised in profit or loss for early/
partial termination of a lease. When the modified contract contains
one or more additional lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component. The
associated non-lease components are included in the respective lease
components.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as a lessor

(a) Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as
receivables at the commencement date at amounts equal to the
Group's net investment in the leases, measured using the interest rate
implicit in the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than those
incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included in the initial
measurement of the net investments in the leases. Interest income
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of
the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as
a finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short term
lease to which the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition
exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

(b) Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocate the consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously

recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment;
right-of-use assets; and

prepayments

In any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belongs.

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generated unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying amount of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal, or value-in-use, if
determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwiill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

¢ Allocation of corporate assets

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-

generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees, payments for land use rights and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development period.
Net realisable value is estimated by the Company’s directors based on
the prevailing market prices and estimated construction cost and costs

necessary to make the sale on an individual property basis.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless the
construction of the relevant property development project is expected
to complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On completion, the

properties are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Sales deposits/instalments received and receivable from purchasers
in respect of the pre-sale of properties under development prior to

completion of the development are included in contract liabilities.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties under development, they are subsequently measured at the
lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's policy

for properties under development.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total land and
building costs attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is
estimated by the Group's directors based on the prevailing market prices
and estimated costs necessary to make the sale on an individual property

basis.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties held for sale, they are subsequently measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's policy for

properties held for sale.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI")
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it
manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity investments are also
recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-
financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as a separate
derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract
is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through
profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host together
with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its entirety as a
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e,, removed

from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the

asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group

has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could

be required to repay.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERME e
31March2024 —E W& =HA=+—H

2Q4E KR HE @)

BHRRERMEE

CREE (RWER  SREEZETEN
F-HBEUZERMEBEEZETHN) T2H
THBERATEE®R (At AREEEA M
ARRKRFBE)

BEEWDBRSREZEMNEREW @ =X

AEBCEEREEERDREREZ
A RREBE(EBE] RFEREREE
RYBERERZBERTRAE=ZT2H
XNERBRzESRE  YAQAEH
EEBREEZABOARKER - Hb)
AEBETEEERREEEZ RN R
BROW - HEBEEEZEHE -

EASECERHEOEENDRE S RE 2R
MKBFTUEELRHE - AEEeyHE
EZBEZRBEOBRZFEEREBREE
TR - WETEERXREEEZK
MORREE®R  TFEEEREEZE G E
ZBERAT  AAEHEERASEFTES
HyBRERAZBREE - £EHBRLT -
AEBETEEREHEEE BEEHREER
HEEETIERRASERE 2 &N REE
ZEEGFE -

AEEAERTVAFEL2EEEREE
HZEEBEEEDUZREEZREAERK
SETREFEXNZERREME ZRES

HE

2024 Annual Report
—E-MEFR

109



110

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLSs")
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the

contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the

default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days

past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit

enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of

recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables (including any lease
receivables) which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables (including lease receivables) that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and

borrowings and payables at amortised cost, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, lease liabilities and unsecured notes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, unsecured notes and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Offsetting of financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits
as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group's cash management.

Employee benefits
(a) Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its eligible employees
in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Chinese
Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. This subsidiary is
required to contribute to a certain percentage of its payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

Defined benefit plan

The Group's statutory obligation to pay long service payment in Hong Kong
is a defined benefit plan. The cost of providing benefits relating to long
service payment is determined using the projected unit credit actuarial
valuation method. The liability recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position in respect of long service payment is the net obligation,
representing the present value of the future long service payment
benefits reduced by entitlements from accrued benefits arising from MPF
contributions made by the Group.

In the opinion of the directors, the liabilities recognised for the net defined
benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of financial position and
expenses/credits recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income in respect of the long service payment
were not significant to the Group's consolidated financial statements.

(b) Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The fair value of share option granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in share option
reserve within equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The fair value is measured
at grant date using the binomial model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value
of the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Where the terms of an equity-settled
award are modified, an expense is recognised for any modification
that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate
to the market price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount
is recognised in the share option reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the option expires (when it is released directly to accumulated
losses). Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs
from profit before taxation because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s current tax asset and liabilities are measured at the amounts
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
in the countries in which the Group operates by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,

except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to

equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the

temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax

losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available

against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Revenue from properties sales

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point in time
when the purchasers obtain the physical possession and the legal title
of the completed property and the Group has the present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

(b) Revenue from the provision of property ancillary
services

Revenue from the property ancillary services is recognised over the
scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

(c) Commission income from agricultural produce exchange
market
Commission income from the agricultural exchange markets is
recognised over time when the services are rendered.

(d) Food and agricultural by-products merchandising
Revenue is recognised when the control of the goods is transferred to
the customers.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Otherincome

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment
is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers
the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with
a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that
the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be
used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance obligations
in the future.

(©) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit or loss
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of
the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Translation of foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are currencies other than
the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent that
the differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising
on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation

and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates

of the year.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding after the related asset is
ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool

for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the

Group if that person:
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or

of a parent of the Group.

or
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group.
(If the Group s itself such a plan) the sponsoring employers of
the post-employment benefit plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified

in (a)();

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or to
the Group's parent.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
Such grants are presented under “other income and gains”.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FREMBERMEE)
31March2024 — - F=H=+—H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that
may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties, which comprise agricultural produce exchange
markets in Chinese Mainland, are revalued at the end of the reporting
period on a market value, existing use basis by independent professionally
qualified valuers. Such valuations are based on certain assumptions,
which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimation, information from current prices
in an active market for similar properties and estimated rental value of the
relevant properties are considered and assumptions that are mainly based
on market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period are used.
Further details of the valuation are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development and
properties held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale are measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of each unit is
determined using the weighted average method. In determining the
net realisable value of properties under development and properties
held for sale, management takes into consideration of (i) independent
valuations performed by professional valuers; (ii) current market conditions;
(iii) estimated selling prices of properties of a similar nature, conditions
and locations; and (iv) estimated costs to completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale, if any. Write-down on properties under
development and/or properties held for sale to net realisable value is
made if the estimated or actual net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale is less than their carrying
amounts.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables, other receivables and
loan and interest receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by service type,
customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information.

The Group uses the general approach to calculate ECLs for other receivables
and loan and interest receivables. The probability of default and loss given
default are based on published market data. The Group will adjust the
probability of default with forward-looking information.

For the forward-looking information, for instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the
historical default rates/the probability of default are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates/the probability of
default are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates/the probability of default, forecast economic conditions and ECLs
is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical
credit loss experience/probability of default adopted and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade
receivables, other receivables and loan and interest receivables is disclosed
in notes 18, 19, 20 and 35 to the financial statements, respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FREMBERME e
31 March2024:%:@$:ﬁ =+—AH

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. DPHEEEHR
The Group has two reportable segments under HKFRS 8: (i) the agricultural REBEEF BB iﬁz EERIESR  AEBEBEMW
produce exchange market operation segment which engages in the BEE2E|RAI: (ERERMRSMIHD I -

%ﬁé%*ﬁ&&éqjlﬁ\]imﬁ’ﬂ%z%%?&%ﬁ%

management and investment of agricultural produce exchange markets

in Chinese Mainland and fresh food stores in Hong Kong and (ii) property LREBEHRDAERNDEHE B -

sales segment which engages in the development of properties. The NEMEER - 7 BESHIREBEAEEZ
segmentations are based on the information about the operation of the BEERET  BEEEBEMNAZEERMIER
Group that management uses to make decisions and regularly review by KRBT EEEARARATHEN  UEA
the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of allocating resources DEAMERIGTMEESE - FEKBEER

Txﬁ#%%”i@ﬁ’]@l&ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁf’ﬁﬁ%‘«*@%Z

to segments and assessing their performance. The Group has restated

certain comparative segment information below to conform with the WREFADBEE  AEEEEINETH
current year's presentation by the inclusion of net loss in fair value of BEMLEERER M RERFENIRA
owned investment properties and write-down of properties held for sale in = o

segment results.

Segment revenue and results DR EE

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by reportable AEBRMEFEZREHRS HE 5 Wik

EEAOMAMT -

segments for both years:

Agricultural produce
exchange market operation

Property sales Unallocated Consolidated

BERERRSTS MEHE ROE me
2024 2023 2024 2024 2024
ZECME -EC —ECME —E-mE —ECME z
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TER TAT TET TER T
Revenue W&
External sales IMEBHE 404,801 427,380 174,331 169,020 - - 579,132 596,400
Results E3-
Segment results PEEE 104,810 161,998 33,899 27123 - - 138,709 189,121
Other income and gains A RME 113,442 15,744 - - 5,819 9,174 119,261 24918
Reversal of impairment losses/ £ Bb& R (E
(impairment losses) on EEEE/
financial assets, net (REEE)
Pt 1,190 (1,513) - - (562) (1423) 628 (2936)
Fair value gains/(losseson R AFEBER
financial assets at fairvalue ~ ABRZ &R
through profit or loss, net BEMATE
Wa/ (&)
kil - - - - 120 (148) 120 (148)
Unallocated corporate RARBERT
expenses (64,026) (64,600) (64,026) (64,606)
Profit from operations e EF 194,692 146,349
Finance costs HERA (44,206) (45,39) - - (67,369) (73050)  (111,575) (118446)
Profit before taxation BR % B R 83,117 27,903
Income tax expense FERRAX (56,241) (9402)
Profit for the year RER R 26,876 18,501
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

Segment results represent the profit from each segment without allocation
of certain other income and gains, impairment losses or its reversal on
financial assets, net, fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, net, head office and corporate income and expenses,
finance costs and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by reportable

segment:

Agricultural produce
exchange market operation

REEERRETH
2024 2023
k- S 1 5 To=F
HK$'000 HKS'000
TERL THAL
Assets BE
Segment assets PHEE 3,252,023 3,398,330
Unallocated corporate assets AP RMEEE
Consolidated total assets GREESE
Liabilities af
Segment liabilities AHAE 1,623,472 1,661,121
Unallocated corporate liabilities R AELEA B
Consolidated total liabilities 44 & EA(E

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, deferred tax assets and
corporate assets.

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
unsecured notes, certain deferred tax liabilities and corporate
liabilities.

4. o

—B-QE
HK$000

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
mEMEERMET®)
31March2024 —E W& =HA=+—H

TEEEE R @)

N

D EB I EE e SRR ()

DEEBRRESDBRABEZEF - B
%“?Eﬂtﬂﬁl)\&”ﬂlm - eREERES
Sk HBEFHE  RATELERARZ
THMEENRATERZ (BE) FE - 4
NAIRBEBARREZ - BEAKRKARRFRE
BASX - WHhHERIBEED BRRTE
mMAXFEEERRAERZEEEE -

THEERAER

REEREHRHME N ZEERABZI M
s ;

Consolidated
)
2024
s ol |3
HK$'000
TERL

Property sales
NEHE
2024 2023
—E-=F
HKS'000
TAT

HK$'000
THL

TER

1,239,121 1,323,709 4,491,144 4,722,039
146,922 193,154

4,638,066 4915193

189,997 196,960 1,813,469 1,858,081
755,853 929,700

2,569,322 2,787,181

HRERSMZOBRARDEERM = :

BREAFTEINEREESREEZS
MEE  ELEHRREENRCEBEEZ
Sy MBBEEHDETEHOH -

BrEEARE
EREBEZN
HOE e

ETRERBEER
PRERBEADETZ
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, THEEER »
(continued)
Other segment information Hith o IE R
The following is an analysis of the Group's other segment information: REBEMDBERSTET

Agricultural produce

exchange market operation Property sales Unallocated Consolidated
RERERRENS NEHEE L g8
2024 202 2024 2024 2024
—E-ME = ZE-@f £ ZB-RE “E-ME
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 ‘ HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL TER THART TEL TAR TERT TR
Interest income MEBRA 1,344 2245 - - 1,464 3701 2,808 5946
Capital expenditure (Note) BEARX
(i) 39,207 37492 - - 613 869 39,820 38,361
Gain on early redemptionof ~ RFEEEH
unsecured notes RER - - - - 14,106 15,556 14,106 15,556

Fair value losses on owned BERENE
investment properties, net ZATEE

BEFE 82,678 4651 - - - - 82,678 4651
Fair value gains on sub-leased AR ENE
investment properties ZRTE
Yz 15,183 - - - - - 15,183 -
Write-down of properties held ~ His f fEH &
for sale IS - - 2,919 6,400 - - 2,919 6400
Depreciation of property, plant  #1% * B &
and equipment RENE 14,014 11843 - - 1,584 2,384 15,598 14227
Depreciation of right-ofuse ~ EFEEE
assets ik 5,827 4264 - - - - 5,827 4264
Gains/(losses) on disposal HENE
of property, plant and LT E
equipment, net W/
(BR)#8 (133) 610 - - (1) (71) (134) 539
Note: Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and Wit BERARIZBEDE  BERLKEZR
equipment and investment properties and lease modification for sub- E REVERSHEAREMEZHE
leased investment properties. &2 -
For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no single customers HE-_Z-_NER-_ZT-_=F=A=+—H
contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue. IEFE @ WEBE-FFERASE10% A
s -
Geographical information & &R
During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, over 90% of the revenue HE_Z_WNFR-_T_=F=A=+—H
of the Group were generated from external customers located in Chinese IEFEE - NEBE 0% s Ty E A B MR P
Mainland and over 90% of non-current assets of the Group were located B Az RS - RASK B E80%IER
in Chinese Mainland. Accordingly, no geographical segment analysis is BEMPRPEAM - At - WEZ5 R
presented. DEDHM o

1 2 6 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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5. REVENUE

Revenue is analysed as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Bk

SREMEERMEEE)

31March2024 —E W& =HA=+—H

WaEnrmT :

2024 2023
—E-mE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T

Revenue from contracts with customers BEA#HWEH 375,675 376,226
Revenue from other sources H 0RO 2 Yz

Gross rental income from investment property KREMELEHRE L
operating leases HeWAEE 203,457 220,174
579,132 596,400

Notes:

(a)

Disaggregated revenue information

Bt -

(@) WHERDH

2024 2023
—EonE T ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Types of goods or services & ms R E R
Property sales segment YEHED
Revenue from property sales MIZESHE 2 W 174,331 169,020
Agricultural produce exchange market IEEBERRZ TS IE
operation segment
Commission income from agricultural produce BEMRFGMHZAEBA
exchange market 83,688 94,915
Revenue from property ancillary services MR ERY 2 Y 87,062 97,576
Revenue from food and agricultural by-products B R ERIEMNE 2 W
merchandising 30,594 14,715
Total by 375,675 376,226
Geographical markets & T 5
Chinese Mainland AR, 345,624 365,735
Hong Kong B 30,051 10,491
Total #BEt 375,675 376,226
Timing of revenue recognition 1 2 2 B
Goods or services transferred at a point in time ERS R R R 204,925 183,735
Services transferred over time BRI EES 170,750 192,491
Total revenue from contracts with customers BEEAHRZREE 375,675 376,226
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

5. REVENUE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the
current reporting period that were included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included in the

contract liabilities at the beginning of the B iR
reporting period
Sales of properties MEHE

5. W& (2

Hrat

(a)

REMUFFAGHAERN

(%)

&R D IFGE)

TRINTREAREFHRAZRELE &
SHEORBSHUFAGHARE

2024
—E-mEF

HK$’000
TET

HK$'000
THETL

29,170 169,020

The amount of unsatisfied performance obligation regarding sales of
properties principally comprises the balance of contract liabilities, which
are expected to be recognised in one to two years as of 31 March 2024 and
2023.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a) of
HKFRS 15 to its contracts for property ancillary services such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that the Group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance obligations
under the contracts for property ancillary services that had an original
expected duration of one year or less.

Performance obligation

The following information about the Group’s performance obligation is
summarised below:

Revenue from property sales

The performance obligation is satisfied when the physical possession and
the legal title of the property is obtained by the purchaser.

Commission income from agricultural produce exchange
market

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered.

Revenue from food and agricultural by-products merchandising

The performance obligation is satisfied upon the delivery of goods.

Revenue from property ancillary services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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(b)

HEMEABTRAOEASBIERRKA
HNEEEE  BHERBE-T-_NFR
CEC=F=A=t—HLE—"EWNFARE

e
=7
=2 o

Vor

AEERERBBEEMBEHRS EAFISHESE
NIQREEREET EZNDERERB &
7 BEMBR B RERN RSN AEE
BIMEEERBSOBETHBRENRE
RAEEKED - MeanRBRBARS —FHN
T ATEREEHAENES -
EHEE

AEERORENERBROT

L/ES A=Al &

BHOBERETRESYXERER#ERA
EXRERET

BRERXSWHEZAZEWA

BHOREHEERREERET -
ERRBEIERHEEZWE
BHEERZNEMBET -

LES RS el
BHOREERERERHRET -



6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

mEMEERMET®)
31March2024 —E W& =HA=+—H

6. Ef AR

2024 2023

—E-ME —TZ=F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

TExT T

Bank and other interest income R1T R E AL F B WA 2,808 5,946
PRC government grants (note (i) AR B R AT AL (AT aEG)) 4,618 8,975
Gain on lease modification & &kl = = 2,112
Reversal of aged payables (note (i) [0 5= AR R B <P 3RIE (B 223i) 101,840 =
Others Hith 9,995 7,885
Other income and gains N PN E 119,261 24,918

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

PRC government grants represent various form of subsidies granted to the
Group by the local governmental authorities in the PRC for compensation
and expenses incurred by the Group. These grants are generally made for
business support and awarded to enterprises on a discretionary basis. The
Group received these government grants for the business support on its
investments in the agricultural products exchange markets in the Chinese
Mainland. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to
these grants.

In the opinion of the Company's directors, after taking into account the
legal opinion from the Group's legal advisor, the limitation period of
claims for all the related aged payables have expired during the year and
therefore it is remote that the Group is required to settle the related aged
payables. Accordingly, the full amount of the related aged payables was
reversed during the year.

(0]

(i)

Brat

TERAEMETEENBREE REAS
BELANBELAXRTASENEER
fh oo ZEWB—RAZHEBIELLME
BT AEEESRNREMMERE
RABEABEERZX ST HEREZEEX
o 2 SMUEMEBERERNGEXHAS
et

ARAREERAS  BERAKEEZEM
MOREER - MARBEHEMNFANR
BEERERAFEIH Bl A5H
FEBERBRDENRIENRA RN
Hit - HEARBENFBEESREAFELE
B[ o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

7. BRBL AR R

AEBEZBRBAREF LM GEA) A

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

The Group's profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

TRIBERER:

2024
—E-mE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T
Cost of properties sold I ES R WiN 127,359 124,310
Cost of services provided B2 12 AR 75 B A 97,717 130,210
Cost of goods sold 72 om 85 B R 10,764 11,115
Auditor’s remuneration ZERT N & 2,200 2,260
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BEREREITE
equipment 14 15,598 14,227
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 15 5,827 4,264
Losses/(gains) on disposal of property, plant  HEWE - BE&EEZ
and equipment, net B8 (W) B5E 134 (539)
Expenses relating to short-term leases EEEERAEIY 15 487 394
Employee benefit expenses (including EERAMAXZ
directors’ remuneration (note 9): (BRESHS)
(H1a£9) -
Wages and salaries and other benefits IE HFehkHmEH 78,991 62,135
Equity-settled share option expense LA A E 2 AR
53 3,838 4,647
Pension scheme contributions* BRINE BB R 3,957 4,105
86,786 70,887
Foreign exchange difference, net M W =R )F R (313) 1,886
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment & @& E R EEE,
losses) on financial assets, net: CREEERE) F5E
Trade receivables B 5 W FRIB 18 (855) 993
Financial assets included in prepayment, FAENRIE B2k
deposits and other receivables H th JEUGRIE 2
CREE 19 (187) (460)
Loan and interest receivables EUWE R F & 20 414 2,403
(628) 2,936
Gross rental income e WALz 203,457 220,174
Less: Direct outgoing expense B B (25,969) (27,860)
177,488 192,314
Fair value gains on sub-leased investment AEREMEZ R FE
properties** g w5 > (15,183) —

* There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group, as the
employer, to reduce the existing level of contributions.

** This item is included in “Cost of sales” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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8. FINANCE COSTS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

8.

SREMEERMEEE)

31March2024 —E W& =HA=+—H

BB R A

2024 2023

—S-mE —E-=fF

HK$’000 HKS$'000

TExT T

Interest on bank and other borrowings RTREMEEZRE 100,262 95,735
Interest on unsecured notes EIRHEEZFE 9,210 20,995
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBEZHE 2,103 1,716
111,575 118,446

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules’) issued by the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

9. EERBSTHRAEHMH

FARBB AT BN ZMES EHA R
(TEmRAL) - BB QA GREGIZE383(1)@) -
b~ QROEARAR (BEEZNEER)
BROIF2HENESHMAOT ¢

2024 2023

—E-_ME —ET_=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHE T

Directors’ fees Ex0s 15,887 8,851
Other emoluments: HEMHe :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RUAREYANE 2,520 1,724

Pension scheme contributions BRIRE B R 57 42

Equity-settled share option expense EREEERERS 1,048 1,045

3,625 2,811

19,512 11,662
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERESITHRABEHM =
REMUNERATION (coninued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-ZE-_NE=A=+—HLEE
Salaries,
allowances Pension Equity-
Directors’  and benefits scheme  settled share
fees inkind  contributions option expense Total
¢ 2HR BikE BingH
E=he BENF# I BRERX #zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TER THERT TER THERT
Executive directors: YTES:
Tang Ching Ho (Chairman) WEm ()
(note (3)) (H#t@) 13,000 1,810 18 - 14,828
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond PSS
(Chief Executive Officer) (TTH#%) 2,125 710 24 1,048 3,907
Yau Yuk Shing (note (b)) BB (A7 b)) 300 - 15 - 315

Independent non-executive directors: ~ BIUFHTES :

Ng Yat Cheung (note (c)) REE(H#0) 154 - 5 - 154
Lau King Lung Bt 154 - - - 154
Wong Ping Yuen TRR 154 - - - 154
15,887 2,520 57 1,048 19,512
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_Z_=F=-A=+—HILFE
Salaries,
allowances Pension Equity-
Directors’ and benefits scheme settled share
fees in kind contributions  option expense
¥4 RIkE i Ci
ok BWHR aTEIE ;
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET THT TET
Executive directors: BTES:
Tang Ching Ho (Chairman) (note () BB (£ /)
(Writa) 6,120 775 9 = 6,904
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond RinE
(Chief Executive Officer) (f78#3) 1939 949 18 1,045 3,951
Yau Yuk Shing (note (b)) MBI (Hitw) 300 - 15 - 315

Independent non-executive directors: ~ BYFHTEES :

Ng Yat Cheung (note (c)) REE (M) 164 - - - 164
Lau King Lung 2|5 164 - - - 164
Wong Ping Yuen TR 164 - - - 164

8,851 1,724 42 1,045 11,662

1 3 2 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMBEMME )

3 March2024 —E-_ME=A=+—H

=
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERBEITHRAEFM »
REMUNERATION (continued)
During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no emoluments were REBEE-_ZT-_NFEFR-_T-_=ZF=ZA=+—
paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an inducement to HEFE  AEEHERARAAESFIN
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No RS  ERBEMBNNBEAEER
directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive any emoluments Z R ﬁ f’E AEBAEE REE-FT-@
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. ERZBZ=ZF=ZA=ZT-—BLFE  #
EAMAAREETREXRERETAHE -
Notes: Kiat -
(@ Mr. Tang Ching Ho, formerly an non-executive director, was re-designated @ AMEBTESHFIANLEEATANTE
as an executive director with effect from 1 October 2022. £ BT FTA—HEBEX -
(b)  Mr. Yau Yuk Shing resigned as an executive director of the Company on 1 b HEREER-_ZE_NEMNA—BELAK
April 2024 RAMITESE ©
(@  Mr.Ng Yat Cheung resigned as an independent non-executive director of © RAEAER-ZT-_NFMNA+AH %’H:t_ .
the Company on 15 April 2024. KA 73543F$ﬁﬁ§$

(d)  Mr. Wong Ka Kit was appointed as an executive dlrector of the Company () BRELEN_-Z ': . ) )5] EI ﬁ;{- Sl
on1ApnI2024 ! : » I =y g ,ﬁz'g,_‘jgﬂﬁ-%; 1

Ms. Luo Xu Ymg was arppomted a? an ex.ecutve dlrector of t~he Company*. (_
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

(@) Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023: two)
are directors whose emolument are disclosed in note 9 to the financial
statements. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
remaining three (2023: three) individuals who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

10 EERSHMAL

@ ITEERFMALEFMmE (ZT=_=
F MB) REE  BEZHMEHBHE
MBEMEMEOWE - HB=%(=F
TZHEZR) AT (HEFARAE
FAERTHRAR) ZHMSEENOT :

2024 2023

—EmE —EZ=%F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHET T

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENKEMER 9,789 6,674
Pension scheme contributions RRET &I R 54 45
Equity-settled share option expense i HERERSE 210 209
10,053 6,928

(b) The emoluments of three (2023: three) individuals with the highest
emoluments are within the following bands:

) =B (ZE==F:Z2) ZRFHHA
TZMENFATHE :

2024

—ET-lmF
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% 7T & 2,500,0007% 7T 1 3
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T 2£4,000,0007%5 7T 2 ~
3 3

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration received
and receivable from the Group by these members of senior
management in their capacity as employees to the Group and/or in
their capacity as the members of senior management of the Company
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any of the senior management as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The
provision for PRC land appreciation tax (‘LAT") is estimated according to
the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations.
LAT has been provided at a fix rate or ranges of progressive rates of the
appreciation value, with certain allowable deductions.

mEMEERMET®)
31March2024 —E W& =HA=+—H

FriEBiBx

ERBMNERIBERNFELEBEELNMGET
FERT A EIR165% (ZE =% : 165%) &
BERGFRE - -HM T ERBFE 2B IE
BEAEBKEMAERZEER 2 RITH X
H oo L IBER ([LHIBER]) #E
TIRBERETEBBERER CRERHE
THEEREZEEMN RN ERRER X
BE&ftiR - WBHETAFMKRKIE -

2024
—E-ME
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT T T
Current — Hong Kong BNEl — &/
Charge for the year FRNAX 505 220
Current — Chinese Mainland BDE — AR B A i
Charge for the year FRFEX 47,575 27,015
LAT + IR E R 13,456 2
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERE - (16,668)
Deferred (note 27) RIE (B at27) (5,295) (1,165)
Total tax charge for the year FRIIAR S AFE 56,241 9,402

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax

RERMEFEZHERI R shEfz 8

rates: iR
2024
—E-mEF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#Ex FHIT
Profit before taxation R 351 Al g Al 83,117 27,903
Tax at the statutory rate BEEMEFERNTIR 20,780 6,984
Lower tax rate(s) for specific provinces or enacted S FEA D KRB HBEH 2
by local authority BIER = 7,152 7,852
Adjustments in respect of current tax of ERARTAEEN ST 2
previous periods FEE - (16,668)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses and A HIFRAIRERERE Y
temporary differences BB E 6,396 (3,563)
LAT =+ 3t 3 E T 13,456 -
Tax effect of LAT T IR ER 2 B & (3,364) =
Tax effect of non-taxable income DA IR WA 2 T 7w 22 (4,563) (1,913)
Tax losses not recognised RIERZ BB EE 21,786 22,382
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised A ZAIARERZ BT E 1B (5,402) (5,672)
Income tax expense for the year REFBEHRAX 56,241 9,402

2024 Annual Report
—E-NEER

135



136

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FREMBERMEE)
31March2024 — - F=H=+—H

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continved)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the weighted average applicable
tax rate was 33.6% (2023: 53.2%). The change in the weighted average
applicable rate was resulted from changes in the profitability of the Group

in the respective jurisdictions.

12. DIVIDENDS

.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends in respect

of the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based on the
profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue of 9,953,067,822 (2023:

9,953,067,822) during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share amounts
presented for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 in respect of a
dilution as the impact of the share options outstanding had no dilutive

effect on the basic earnings per share amounts presented.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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HE-_ZT_NF=ZAZ+—HBLFE -
hiEF @ AR R A336% (ZF = = F ¢
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EETEARNEBEZE_Z_NEE_ZT_=
FZRA=t+—RIEFEZE[MRE -

BARERESKEAERGE
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EufEAFEEBITEBRIMEFIE
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

mEMEERMET®)
31March2024 —E W& =HA=+—H

4. 9% - BERXHE

Furniture,
equipment
and motor Leasehold
Buildings vehicles improvements Total
BF HEWELEL st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHIT
Cost: RS :
At 1 April 2022 R—T——
MmA—A 5,737 142,389 15,627 163,753
Exchange realignment R (433) (10,708) (1,177) (12,318)
Additions AE - 17,943 31 17,974
Acquisition of subsidiaries W HE B /B A A = 23 48 71
Disposals e = (9,606) = (9,606)
At 31 March 2023 and R=T = =4
1 April 2023 =5 = [E%
=ER T =ks
MA—H 5,304 140,041 14,529 159,874
Exchange realignment ME 5, 78 & (133) (3,319) (364) (3,816)
Additions RNE - 21,916 6 21,922
Disposals e - (3,065) - (3,065)
At 31 March 2024 R=ZZTE-MF
SE=nr=8 5,171 155,573 14,171 174,915
Accumulated depreciation: ZoHiTEE
At 1 April 2022 e
MmA—A 2,424 94,357 7,772 104,553
Exchange realignment RS (181) (7,093) (584) (7,858)
Charge for the year KEERZ 410 13,111 706 14,227
Disposals HE - (8,901) = (8,901)
At 31 March 2023 and RZZTZ=%F
1 April 2023 =A=+—H8k
—EZ=%F
mA—H 2,653 91,474 7,894 102,021
Exchange realignment ME 5 2 (63) (1,616) (190) (1,869)
Charge for the year RNEEHRL 379 14,377 842 15,598
Disposals HE - (2,823) - (2,823)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZT_MF
=H=—8 2,969 101,412 8,546 112,927
Carrying amount: BRMEE :
At 31 March 2024 M-ZT=ZMF
=ZA=+—H 2,202 54,161 5,625 61,988
At 31 March 2023 RZZEZ=%F
—A=+—H 2,651 48,567 6,635 57,853
At 31 March 2024, certain of the Group's furniture and equipment with an R-ZZE-_MWF=A=+—H  BEAEE
aggregate carrying amount of HK$1,793,000 (2023: HK$2,463,000) were 1,793,000% 7T (= & = = 4 : 2,463,000/ 7T )

pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 25).

METAEBRRERRBEERAEEERZ
—RIBITRE T SAE IR (F=E25)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

15. LEASES 15. &

The Group as a lessee EEBEREBEA

The Group has lease contracts for various leasehold land and buildings AEERAREBEELHEMES -1 k&
used in its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire FEREIZHBEESGY - BRAEL — XM
the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 16 to 30 years, and NHRAMEFWERE i - HEIR16E30
no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land leases. F - mMBEZSIHHEENKRK  #1g
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms of 2 to 6 years. BESZNAMNKIE BFOEBBER2ZE

6%F ©

In addition, on 1 October 2022, the Group and Wang On entered into the o RZE-_—_F+A—8 " A&EEHE
master licensing agreement which sets out the general principles and key REFVLBRETHE  ERPHIREZK
terms governing the definitive licensing agreements under which relevant Bamas —RRAREZHER - Bt
members of Wang On may grant license of, and the Group may take up the RREZIHEBAKERBIAIR T __F+H—
license of the premises from 1 October 2022 to 25 September 2025. AE-ZT-_AFNA-+HAAHEELEME

TR MAREARSYEL IR -

(a) Right-of-use assets (@) EREEE
Leased land Buildings Total
HELH BgF et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT FHET TExT
At 1 April 2022 R-—ZE__—FpAH—H 2,828 12,475 15,303
Additions N - 25,140 25,140
Modification (EH) - (10,476) (10,476)
Depreciation charge WERAX (168) (4,096) (4,264)
Exchange realignment DR (119) (1,029) (1,148)

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZ-ZT=—=F=A=+—H

E—_ZTE_=FmWAH—H 2,541 22,014 24,555
Depreciation charge TERX (163) (5,664) (5,827)
Exchange realignment PE 3 A% (58) (400) (458)
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZMFE=A=+—H 2,320 15,950 18,270
During the year, additions of right-of-use assets of HK$10,001,000 as a FR - EREHERNFEAEEERE
result of extension of lease periods (2023: 2,881,000) were included in 10,001,000/ JT (=& = = 4 : 2,881,000/
investment properties. TL) BEEFAREWE -

1 3 8 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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15. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the

year are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
mEMEERMET®)
31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

15. 88 »)
AEEEREBA (8)

(b) HESE
AEEMNHEEREERESHOT

2024
—EomE

HK$'000
TAT

HK$'000
THERT

Carrying amount at 1 April MU A—BREREE 29,634 19,947
New leases e - 28,021
Lease modification HEB®R 10,001 (12,588)
Accretion of interest recognised during the year  4F P RE 32 8918 10 A1) & 2,103 1,716
Payments F 3% (8,387) (5,964)
Exchange realignment R (482) (1,498)
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—H®MEREE 32,869 29,634
Analysis into: bakiw=1%

Current portion B ED 6,064 6,436

Non-current portion JER BB 26,805 23,198
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—BHEREE 32,869 29,634
Analysed into: baRiw=1E
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEERE:

Within one year —FR 6,064 6,436

Over one year but within two years BiE—FEREAN 4,502 6,601

Over two years but within five years BRMEERFA 10,757 11,378

Over five years HBBRF 11,546 5,219
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—HBWEEE 32,869 29,634

The maturity analysis of undiscounted lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 35 to the financial statements.

AHBRBAEAENINBLMRBBRER
B FE35IHE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

15. 1€ @)
AEEEREBA (#)
(0 RESEEREZEINSENT

15. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

pLip 2 2023

—E-WEF —E-=4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Interest on lease liabilities HEEBEONE 2,103 1,716
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FEAEEENTERS 5,827 4,264

Expense relating to short-term leases (included — E2%G BiFH EMARI AR 2

in general and administrative expenses) (GFA—M EITHFA ) 487 394
Gain on lease modification HEE Rz W - (2112)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBHEROAE 8,417 4,262

(d) Total cash outflow for leases amounted to approximately d) € - HEWIE S KB ETEL 28874000

HK$8,874,000 (2023: HK$6,358,000) for the year of which HK$8,387,000
(2023: HK$5,964,000) is financing cash outflow and HK$487,000 (2023:
HK$394,000) is operating cash outflow.

BT (ZE =4 : 63580008 7T) @ H
78,387,000 7T (= T = = 4 : 5,964,000
BIL) B AR SR &487,0008 7T (=
T - =4 3940008 T) BREEHER
Hj °

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases and sub-leases its properties consisting of 11 (2023:
11) agricultural produce exchange markets in Chinese Mainland under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require
the tenants to pay security deposits and rent in advance. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was HK$203,457,000 (2023:
HK$220,174,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the financial

statements.

At 31 March 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivables by the
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its

tenants are as follows:

AEEERLHEA

AEBHER>PANYERBEIE (ZE
Z=F1E) RELERETHEERER
WEERMXIMHEZ2WE - BEER—K
DXAFBAINERREERAS - &%
RERERDMES WA 520345700078 7T
(=T = =4 : 220174000 7T) @ #HBEHR
BF IS SRR M £S5 o

RZB-_ME=A=+—H ' "EERRK
RHRBBEBS 2 PR B EHENE
WoRRBEIREERIBMT

2024 2023

—EC-mEF —E-=%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Within one year —F R 23,295 18,869
After one year but within two years BB —FEMEA 20,158 26,242
After two years but within three years BRMEE=FA 3,992 10,269
After three years but within four years BB=FEEOFEA 467 3,559
After four years but within five years HBOFEERFA 84 2,902
After five years BBAF 141 4,904
Total Bt 48,137 66,745

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
mEMEERMET®)
31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

16. REWHE

2024

—E-ME T ——fF

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHET T

Carrying amount at beginning of year FYRMEE 2,933,376 3,178,403

Additions of owned properties NER=R=E/ES 7,897 17,506

Lease modification for sub-leased properties SHEYEZHEBEN 10,001 2,881

Disposal HeE - (20,853)
Fair value losses from fair value adjustments BEMELAFEAREZ

for owned properties NEEEE (82,678) (4,651)
Fair value gains from fair value adjustments for sub- DM EAFEFHEZ

leased properties NEERE 15,183 =

Exchange realignment R (74,223) (239,910)

Carrying amount at end of year FARKREE 2,809,556 2,933,376

The Group's investment properties consist of 11 agricultural produce
exchange markets in Chinese Mainland. The investment properties
were revalued by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent professionally
qualified valuer, at 31 March 2024. The finance department of the Group
has a team that reviews the valuation performed by the independent
valuer for financial reporting purposes and reports directly to the senior
management of the Company. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between management and the valuers twice a year when
the valuation is performed for interim and annual financial reporting. At
the end of each reporting period, the finance department holds discussion
with the independent valuers to verify major inputs to the independent
valuation reports. The finance department also assesses property valuation
movements when comparing to the prior year valuation reports.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further details of which are included in note 15 to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s owned investment properties with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$1,703,001,000 (2023: HK$1,770,881,000) and
certain rental income generated therefrom were pledged to secure the
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 25).

At 31 March 2024, the Group's investment properties included right-
of-use assets with an aggregate carrying value of HK$36,223,000 (2023:
HK$11,056,000).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are included on
page 189.

AEBENKEDESENEPE AN EE R
THHE  c RZE-WME=A=+—8 -
BREYMERBYAERFEMGERM KT
EBEHNERAREHNGEE AEENTK
AR EEK  BEEZBILEEAMAMG
BERETHBHRE  TEERAQRARR
EHEER BUPHERFEMGEREE
THEER  EEEAGEMRLEERRER
HREFHETMAFTR - REREHRK -
HHEHPEB L EMETHw  ZEB
VB HRENESH AKE o BB I
Hp—FHHEERSETLEE - NFEHD
XHEES -

REMERBREHELBRTFE=F &
LR EHN P RERMES -

R-_E-_WE=ZA=+—H  AEEBEEZK
i BR T 42 {51,703,001,00058 7T (=T = = £ :
17708810008 70) < E B EMEREFTE
ERETHSKRA  AASEHERH—K
RITRLE EEAR (P 5E25) »

R-ZT-_ME=ZA=+—H  XEBE 2K
& W) ¥ B I BR M AR (83622300008 T (= &
T =4 1 11,056000/8 7T) HIEREEE -

AEBEBREMERZE-THBHEANF 18R -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FREMBERMEE)
31March2024 — - F=H=+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. REY%E @)
Fair value hierarchy AEEER
For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the fair value measurements BE_Z-_NMEK T -_=F=A=+—H

of all investment properties of the Group were categories within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy and details of their movements are disclosed above.

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the
Group's investment properties:

ﬁiﬁ AEBEMAREDENAFE
ENDEARAFEERE=H  EHFB
REXER -

TRINFAREREVENRAFEAEER

Fair value measurement using
significant unobservable input

(Level 3)
FREATABRG ASE
HWAFEE(E=R)
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-_=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Recurring fair value measurement for: LEMHATEFE

Agricultural produce exchange markets BEMRSMH 2,809,556 2,933,376

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023:
Nil).

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

RAFE  S-—REEFE_FzBALEAF
TEergﬁﬁé JTHET)\‘WTﬁ"*i&(*

T X &I E W 3 b (B P A ik (B B i B B 4
BARBEZHE

Significant
unobservable Range
inputs & [
Valuation techniques BERATHAEHE 2024
ik (B £ i (DN ¢ —E-mE
Agricultural produce exchange Direct comparison method Price per square HK$3,600 to HK$4,042 to
markets and investment method metre HK$4,497 HK$4,226
EERR NS HELBUERRKREZE BFFHRER 3,600 T & 40427 E
4,497 T 422678 7T
Estimated rental HK$13 to HK$11 to
value per square HK$94 HKS$80
metre and per
month
(EREESACSE P S 138TE B ITE
/8AR) 9438 T 80785 7T
Capitalisation rate 7% to 9% 7% to 9%
B AR 7%Z 9% 7%ZE9%

1 4 2 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (coninved)

17

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the valuations of investment properties were based on

either the investment method which capitalises the rent receivables from

the existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent of the
properties or the direct comparison method by reference to comparable

market transactions.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square metre in isolation

would result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental value
per square metre in isolation would result in a significantly higher/(lower)
fair value of the investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease)
in the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significantly lower/

(higher) fair value of the investment properties.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
SREMEERMEEE)

31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

16. REWE »

DNVERR (&)

RZB-_ME=RA=+—0 REMED
BREBEREE (B EZRKREEERS
REBEEERTSHESERNL) RERLEE
(BI2EAELBTSERS) £1TEE -

BEt S FH REREBRIFE N O D)
BCREVEZAFERBLEA (THE) -
FBEAKEHAESEBREEM Of)
ESREMELZAFENE LS (TR) -
EREBBEREEM BD) g8oRE
MEZAFERE TR, (EA) -

7. ERMERFFELEWR

2024 2023

—E_mE — =&

HK$’000 HKS$'000

F#&x FH&T

Properties under development EEYE 65,531 136,001
Properties held for sale FEHEWHE 1,176,509 1,194,108
Less: Write-down of properties held for sale B WURIS E I S WS (2,919) (6,400)
1,173,590 1,187,708

1,239,121 1,323,709

Properties under development expected to be completed within the
normal operating cycle and recovered:

BFHRERNESREFEERBHRANTR K
e :

2024 2023

—E-mE —E =4

HK$’000 HKS$'000

TExT FET

Within one year —FR = 2,607
After one year —FE1% 65,531 133,394
65,531 136,001

2024 Annual Report
—E-NEER

143



144

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

17. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND

17. EEVERBFELEEYE »

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (continued)

Notes:

(i) At 31 March 2024, the Group's properties held for sale with an aggregate
carrying value of HK$463,514,000 (2023: HK$366,550,000) were pledged to
secure the Group’s general banking facilities (note 25).

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2024, a write-down of properties held for
sale of HK$2,919,000 (2023: HK$6,400,000) was charged to profit or loss,
which was related to shops in one (2023: two) of the agricultural produce
exchange markets in Chinese Mainland with an aggregate carrying value
of HK$34,444,000 (2023: HK$261,261,000) as at 31 March 2024.

(i) Further particulars of the Group's properties under development and
properties held for sale are included on page 191.

CES

() R-E-_WF=ZA=+—0  XEBEDIEK
1 BR T 48 {H4635140008 L (ZE = F :
366,5500008 7T) ZIHEHEWME - BAE
B —MIRITEEEER (KisE2s) -

() BE-_Z-_WE=A=+—08 - #HEZH
YEH & ¥ $£2919000% T (Z T — = 4 :
64000007 L) E R EEZEMK - R T
—MF = A =+ — H BR ™ 4 834,444,000
gt (=T = = 4F : 261,261,000/ 7T) B — [
(Z2=Z=F : MA@ PEABEERR S
MGEEHR -

iy AEEEEVERBELEMENE—F
HBEHREINE

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES B S EWFIE
2024 2023
—E-mE —EZ=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Trade receivables 2 5 e FE 9,560 10,548
Impairment VEREE) (7,505) (8,584)
Net carrying amount BREFE 2,055 1,964

The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 days to its trade
customers. The Group may on a case-by-case basis, and after evaluation of
the business relationships and creditworthiness of its customers, extend
the credit period upon customers' request.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain individual customers.
At the end of reporting period, the five largest receivable balances
accounted for approximately 79.2% (2023: approximately 83.5%) of the
trade receivables and the largest trade receivable was approximately 66.0%
(2023: approximately 64.1%) of the Group's total trade receivables. The
Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing with counterparties which have
good credit history. Majority of the trade receivables that are neither past
due nor impaired have no default payment history.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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AEB - RETHEZEPIAZFAREE
Hi o A& E T EEE5ER &SR E
HEPZEBHRAREERR  EBEPHNE
REREES -

AEENEERBRETRETEAARE
RBERH AABRKRELESRGESHER
RIEH792% (Z B =4 : #835%) * &K
E5RKNFBLEBEASEEE S EKRIES
HHe60% (ZT - =F : 49641%) o K&EH
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Ageing analysis

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

mEMEERMET®)
31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

18. EZEWFIE &)

R 2 AT

RBREHR  REEZAHAERMNEE
ERERZEIBRUFERRITOT

2024 2023
—E-mE —E =4
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET T
Within 1 month —fEAR 1,199 1,335
1 to 3 months —Z={EA 726 313
Over 3 months but within 6 months BB =EARTHBNEA 77 51
Over 6 months NE A E 53 265
2,055 1,964

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables BEoRWHRBZREBEREZHET :

are as follows:

2024 2023

—E_g —E =4

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FET

At beginning of year R ) 8,584 8,208
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses), net JR{EEE, CREEEEE)

R (855) 993

Exchange realignment RS (224) 617)

At end of year RER 7,505 8,584

The Group will monitor trade receivables with long outstanding balances
and will engage in enforcement activities to recover the receivables due.
The Group closely monitors trade receivables balance due more than
30 days. Those trade receivables, due more than 90 days, with financial
difficulties, declining credit standing and poor historical payment pattern
will be considered as default. The Group will write off these unrecovered
receivables after all possible means of debt recovery activities.

The Group has credit policy to monitor the level of credit risk. In general,
the credit record and credit period for each customer or debtor are
regularly assessed, based on the customer’s or debtor’s financial condition,
their capacity to obtain guarantee from third parties, their credit records
and other factors such as current market condition. Management overall
considers the shared credit risk characteristic and the days past due of
the trade receivables to measure the expected credit losses. The Group
considered among other factors including forward looking information, and
analysed historical pattern.

AEERERRPAREZERNE FREK
1B - I BRER 58 ) 1T B) A 4 [ B 57 AR U AR
B ARBETIEZEBBIOANE HEK
RIEER - wSEHBEBEOR - AHEMB
R - FEFRTERERBEERBERRE
WEZREKERBERRBEL « WIELPT
BRIENEBREEEER - A% E & E
ZEARME 2 KA -

AEEFREERREEEERRBKTE -
—BmE  BREEPIEBANMBMR
RERF=ZTEGSERNED  KENE
ERSURENMERANEEMER @ T
PHEEEEFPHEFANGEECEREE
- EHEERRERESREFANKR
EERBREBRIIBAE LG EEHEEEE -
AEERERRZEAZEE (AT EFEAE
HEER) EoELRER o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

=
18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (coninveq) 18. EZERFTE (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TXEHIWERABEERAEERLIEEES
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: FEWRIBASHERE R :
More than
90 days but
Less than less than More than
90 days 180 days 180 days Total
H#iE90H
4 mRo0R B2 R180H #iB180H Azt
As at 31 March 2024 R=-Z-MF
=A=+-—H
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEEEX 9.1% 13.5% 99.3% 78.5%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRTEI4E (F & T) 2,118 89 7,353 9,560
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TEE{= B E5E
(F#&x) 193 12 7,300 7,505
As at 31 March 2023 R=®B=Z=
=A=+—H
Expected credit loss rate THEHEEREEX 34.3% -% 96.7% 81.4%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRTE 421 (F/&7T) 2,507 51 7,990 10,548
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHA{= B &5 18
(F&TT) 859 - 7,725 8,584
& &
19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 19. ARIE - RERHMMEKRR
RECEIVABLES 15
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TET FHT
Deposits for land acquisition U BE + IR & 53,947 55,337
Other deposits HEigs 7,072 9,299
Prepayments FEf FE 50,417 67,705
Other receivables H b fE YR8 71,935 59,361
Tax recoverable A W5 = 5 TE 4,540 5,609
Cost of obtaining contracts BERAHZKRAK 3,230 8,794
191,141 206,105
Less: impairment allowance R ERE (548) (754)
190,593 205,351
Less: Portion classified as non-current portion B DR EIERE IS 22D (6,787) =
Portion classified as current assets DEERBEEZ LD 183,806 205,351

1 4 6 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Cost of obtaining contracts represented the prepaid sales commission
paid in connection with the sales of properties. The Group has capitalised
the amounts paid and will charge them to profit or loss as selling and
distribution expenses when the revenue from the related property sale is
recognised. During the year ended 31 March 2024, sales commission of
HK$7,337,000 was charged to profit or loss (2023: HK$11,635,000).

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental deposits, deposits
with vendors and receivables from counterparties which have no history
of default. The financial assets included in the above balances were not
overdue and categorised in Stage 1 for the measurement of expected
credit losses, except for the balance of HK$ 15,934,000 (2023: HK$13,924,000)
which was categorised within Stage 2 for the measurement of expected
credit losses.

Management makes periodic collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based
on historical settlement records and past experiences.

In determining the 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss for these
receivables, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
payment experience and the corresponding historical credit loss rates, and
adjusted for forward-looking macroeconomic data. In assessing whether
the credit risk on these receivables have increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on these
receivables as at the reporting date with the risk of default occurring on
these receivables as at the date of initial recognition. Management would
re-assess these factors periodically for any deterioration or improvement
indications to determine if credit risk from these receivables has increased
or decreased.

The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
mEMEERMET®)
31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

19. AR FIEA - RERE BN

8 (#)

EMAEHNZRAEREEMEMNHTEN
HEME - AEBMEER LI NFE&BYT
7 HE BE ¥ 3 85 6 P 1S U T SR R R 1B 25 A 8
ELXDHERAIMNR - HBHE-_FT_WOF=A
=t+t—BLtFE 7337008 T (ZEE ==
F 0116350008 7m) 2HEMEERERN
gg&\ °

ReREMERKFBEIEEASES « 4
FEAZEGRRAVEENLB 2R 5Y
FoREWKFE FFALMBEGBRZTBHEE
WHEEGH  YHEREEEBEBENGEmS
D AEE—PEE - MERREE159340008 T (=
T =1 : 139240008 L) i TEHAEEE B
MetEMs D EAFEZME -

EEEEANBEAELEMNBERRERS
Ko B At & WK IR 2 AT [ W 1 E A 4 T B R AT
ft B (B B RE (G -

NEEE % T R R M 1218 A s 2 Hir0 78 58
EEEER  AEEZEAERAENTE
BRERER  SREEERERIAR
MBEEEERE  YRENEEZREL
BEBETAE - RAGEZFRRKEN
EERRB VIBERAREE AEEM
AEBBZFRUFARBE A MELNE
# B R 5% % PR MR IR I W) 4R FE R B HR B A
MENRBRETLR - EEESEDREN
FEZERE - AREEANS(HBEFTD
R EMEEZSFERRENEERRZ
BEMIORD -

FRABENMNRIE  ReERHEMBEKRKEBEZE
MEEREBERENZHOT

2024

—E-MEF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TExT FET
At beginning of year R ) 754 1,315
Reversal of impairment losses, net Rl (B 5 18 B B F 5 (187) (460)
Exchange realignment [E i, 3% (19) (101)
At end of year RER 548 754

2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FREMBERME 2
31 March2024:%:@$:ﬁ =+—AH

20. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 20 BRE R K F R

2024 2023
—EmE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$ (0]0[0]
FHET TAT
Loan and interest receivables, secured FEWE R EFE - B I (iif) 59,598 60,720
Loan and interest receivables, unsecured FEWE R R B - A 10,954 9,945
70,552 70,665
Less: impairment allowance B ORE RS (iv) (42,910) (43,586)
27,642 27,079

Less: Portion classified as non-current assets  J&t : DB AIERBEEZ
# > (8,021) (17,209)

Portion classified as current assets DERREBEE D 19,621 9,870

Notes: Bat -

(i)  Asat 31 March 2024, the loan receivables were stated at amortised cost at i) RN-E-_WNE=ZA=+—8 ' BEkKEXRK
average effective interest rates of 5.5% (2023: 5.8%) per annum. The credit BHEAARTE  BERFEF ?75’55 5% (=&
terms of these loan receivables range from 1 year to 5 years (2023: 1 year Z=F i 58%) c AERWERZEER
to 6 years). NFIESF (ZEZ=F : 186%F) °

(i) As at 31 March 2024, except for loan receivables of HK$8,021,000 (i) RZE-WME=RA=+—H ' k8021000
(2023: HK$17,209,000) with maturity over one year, the remaining loan B (ZZ =4 : 1720900078 7T) Z FEU
receivables are either overdue or with maturity within one year, and they BERR— 4 BB BRTEKRERABE
have been classified as current assets accordingly. BHSR—FANIE  ARESEARD

BE o

(i) As at 31 March 2024, the balance included loan and interest receivables (i) RZTE-_WME=ZA=+—8 ' £ AE
due from the beneficial owners of the non-controlling shareholder of a WA &= B BT B8 A |l JE @Hﬁﬂﬁﬁz g ﬁi\% a
subsidiary of the Group, and which were secured by the equity interest of ANERERERFE  AREEZHEAN
the relevant subsidiary beneficially owned by them. ELEL N NI 8 1’E A o

(iv)  The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of loan and interest vy BUWEREFEZREBERESZESHNOT :

receivables are as follows:

2024 2023

—E-NE —T-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

At beginning of year REA 43,586 44,538

Impairment losses, net REEIEFRE 414 2,403

Exchange realignment HE 3 58 B (1,090) (3,355)

At end of year RER 42,910 43,586
As at 31 March 2024, except for loan and interest receivables with gross RZZEZMF=A=+—H " BREELHL
amounts of HK$1,556,000 and HK$54,578,000 (2023: HK$ 1,596,000 and {B1,556,0007% 7T } 54,578,000/ 7T (= F = =
HK$55,985,000) which had a significant increase in credit risk since initial £ : 1,596,000 JT K& 55,985,0007% JT) 2 FE IR
recognition and were categorised within Stage 2 and Stage 3 for the ERRFEHEERRB ¥ 6 ERE AR
assessment of expected credit losses, respectively, none of the loan and 3% 10 3¢ Bt 78 B T*Ef E 188 qui msE 955
interest receivables were overdue and all of them were categorised within BEE-_NRFE=ZFREI HEKRERR
Stage 1 for the measurement of expected credit losses. T\'J TEJE maa H #MIE ,Hﬂ 1* EEEMNGE
CFTEZERKRERRFEESEAR

55 B

The Group's financial management policies and practices for credit risk AEBEKEREFNEEERBRZHBE

of loan and interest receivables are consistent with deposits and other BR R IE G RiR & H b fEURIE— 3K -

receivables and are set out in note 19 to the financial statements. BRI BRI 19 ©

1 4 8 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
SREMEERMEEE)

31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

- — 13 A =4 S
21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE Q. BN FERBEZARZERME
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS E
2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT T

Listed equity investments, at fair value EmRERE  BATE (a) 105 123

Put option Roh A (b) 370 232

Total #Et 475 355

Notes: Kt -

(@) The above equity investments were classified as financial assets at fair @ HRAEEEERTREMZERAEBRAD
value through profit or loss as the Group has not elected to recognise the FEK=ESNEE  LARERESBEARRE
fair value gain or loss through other comprehensive income. AFELRBEARZEREE -

(b) At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had put options to require the non- b) RZZEZNMER-ZFT-_=F=A=+—H -
controlling shareholder of Kingtex Investment Limited (“Kingtex”) and AEBEEREHE  AIERBERE
Jet Success Development Limited (“Jet Success”), subjected to certain ERAA ([BE]) REXERER A A
exercise conditions, to purchase all equity interests held by the Group in ([ER]) 2EERBRES TIEGKYE
each of Kingtex and Jet Success and the shareholder’s loan granted to each HWAEBRT - BEAEBEMBERGBERER
of Kingtex and Jet Success by the Group at the consideration of all monies SENFERERAEESAIBETEER
that the Group has paid or advanced to Kingtex and Jet Success. BERORRER  RERAEEETE

NTFREREXNMEESHE -

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND REBERBESEHEURCEFE

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS 1TER

2024 2023

—E_mE —E_=4F

HK$’000 HKS'000

FET FET

Cash and bank balances B & KRIR1T 8% (@) 283,046 340,951

Less: Pledged bank deposits B BRI ER (b) (39,611) (28,517)

Cash and cash equivalents BERBEEER 243,435 312,434
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

~ /L=
22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 2.RERREEEUARCEIFRIT
=+

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS (contined) 7™ )

Notes: Bat -

@@ The balance included restricted bank balances amounted to HK$5,699,000 () #%BIEX R R 1T 4 25,699,000/ 7T (=
(2023: HK$12,175,000) representing () deposits placed at designated bank T~ = F 121750007 jt) * Bl () AR B &K
accounts according to the relevant mortgage facility agreements signed ERETHEBARMEBRITRBENMES S
by certain subsidiaries of the Group with the banks for potential default EBREFNBEERNZENHBAIRERE
of mortgage loans advanced to property purchasers and such guarantee WE o THRETRITEFPZER © &
deposits will be released after the property ownership certificates of the BERERSENIEEVENMEREBEE
relevant properties are passed to the banks as collaterals for the mortgage RFPRITERBER Z IR RERER - KGi)
loans; and (ii) entrusted deposits from bank borrowings which are required BEBRETCRITERPZETEERSTR
to be placed in designated bank accounts and the deposits can only be ® - ReEVAERERERRIMEGE
used for the payments related to the operations of the specific agricultural BHRE o

produce exchange market.

(o) As at 31 March 2024, the bank balances amounting to HK$39,611,000 b R—FE-_NME=ZA=+—H ' x5EE
(2023: HK$28,517,000) were pledged to a bank to secure bank borrowings £ 5 5396110008 L (ZF = = F :
granted to the Group (note 25). 285170008 L) 2 IRIT# R - RAKEE

RRTTIEEEER (H5E25) o

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of RHFEHR  AEBUAREFEZRS
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$234,995,000 (2023: KSR 1T #5 84 52349950008 L (ZE =4
HK$272,763,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, 2727630008 7L) - AR TR EBE RS H
however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations b & - A - REFE A M HNE B IR R
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Bl R#EE - EERNEEERE © A%
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies AERBEETINEXEBHRTBEARKR
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. BREEME -

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and bank ReRBITERBERAEEMFR @ RIRT
balances that bear interest at prevailing market rates ranging from EER - RER TS E R EL005%E165% (=
approximately 0.05% to 1.65% (2023: approximately 0.001% to 1.95%) per T = =4 : #90001% F1.95%) 5 2+ RE|H
annum and have original maturity of three months or less. HRE=EAXMNAT -

1 5 O China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuec)
mEMBEMME)

31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

=%
23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 3. B RHMENAFIE
2024
—E-ME T ——fF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET T
Trade payables B ENRE 45,348 41,608
Deposits and other payables ReRHMENSRIE
Accrued charges fEstE A 21,174 28,240
Deposit received Bl 87,853 86,809
Interest payable JFE - F) B 16,241 17,488
Other tax payables H e 8518 16,006 15,926
Other payables H &~ /I8 68,882 196,570
Subtotal /e 210,156 345,033
Total 5T 255,504 386,641
The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, RAREHR  BREZZEHFAEZES
based on the invoice date is as follows: R RIERRTAOT -
2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH&IT
Within 1 month —fEAR 14,867 5,854
1 to 3 months —Z=={@A 105 1,346
Over 3 months but within 6 months B8 = & A8 a8 /< @ A 214 149
Over 6 months but within 12 months BiENEAETBE T @A 8,270 1,564
Over 12 months +=@EAUE 21,892 32,695
45,348 41,608
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of BES9RBRNHRBATEBEFABRAIE
30 to 360 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place 3608 o AEEE & E 8% R E R BKR
to ensure that all payables are within the credit time frame. NERAEEBNRIBENEERA
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within HMENKEBTEE  —RR-—FAHL
=E
one year. B °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

2. B E

AEBCHALETINERBENAE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to:

31 March 2024
T F
=A=t+-—H
HK$’000
FET

31 March 2023
=%
=A=+-8

1 April 2022
—E - F
mA—H
HKS$'000
FAT

HK$'000
B

EWERE PR RIA
MEHE

Advances received from customers:

Sales of properties 158,693 166,096 233,727

BHNABEERERALSENEREMBET K
BHMEKRBEFEMNRE - FRENEE
MOFEDETBEHNTRAZTFPHEME -
WY ETRE N E WIE P AN KIEE Ao
i -

Contract liabilities include advances received from customers in relation to
advances received from buyers in connection with the Group's pre-sales
of properties. The net decrease in contract liabilities during the year was
mainly due to the completion of sales of properties to customers, partly
offset by the increase in advances received from customers in relation to
the pre-sales of properties.

152

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25 s RRITREMEER
BORROWINGS
2024
“E-ME
Contractual Contractual
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$000 rate (%) Maturity
ERFIE(%) £ TET B #97 (%) 35
Current:
B
Bank loans — secured HIBOR+0.8/ 2024-2025 212,334 RMB base 2023-2024 126,991
RMB base lending rate
lending rate +(0.45 to 2.48)/
+(0.45 to 2.65)/ Fixed rate of
Fixed rate of 1.47-245
3.95
RITEH — BHA ERRTRE “EMEE AREEE —T--F%
FE+0.8/ “ECRE BRAE “E-ME
ARBEEER +045%248)/E B
F%E+(0.4522.65) 1478245
/ EB3.95
Current portion of long-term HIBOR+1.08/ 2024-2025 150,290 HIBOR+0.5/ 2023-2024 96,483
bank loan — secured RMB base lending RMB base lending
rate +(0.1 to 2)/ rate +1.05/
Fixed rate of 7.35 Fixed rate of 7.35
REARTE AN ERBTEE —E-MEZ BRRORAE Z—TZ=F%
By — BHEA FE+1.8/ —EChF FENM+05,/ —TopEE
ARBEZER ARBEEE
FE+01F2)/ HFIE11.05/
EE7.35 EB735
Other loan — unsecured N/A N/A - 73 2023 5,699
Hib B3 — &R TEA TEA —E-=F
362,624 229,173

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
SREMEERMEEE)

31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 5. 5P EHRITREMEBE »
BORROWINGS (continued)

2024
—E-mE

Contractual Contractual

interest INEEN
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
ERFE(%) )i TER B HIFI 2= %) g TET

Non-current:

FERE
Bank loans — secured HIBOR+1.08/ 2025-2029 571,889 HIBOR+0.5/ 2024-2029 658,555
RMB base RMB base
lending rate lending rate
+(0.1 to 2)/ +1.05/
Fixed rate of Fixed rate of
7.35 7.35
ROER—BER ERRTEAYX —B-1EZE ERRITA%X —T-NEZE
8+1.08/ “EChE FE+05/ SToNE
ARBEEE ARBEEEE
HA=E4(0.1F2)/ A= 4105,/
EB7.35 8735
Other loans — unsecured 10 2027 380,000 10 2027 390,000
Hin B — &R —ECZtF e o3
951,889 1,048,555
1,314,513 1,277,728
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

5. ERTREMEERE o)

2024 2023
—E-mE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&xT FH&T
Analysed into: b=
Bank loans repayable: BERITEK
Within one year —FR 362,624 223,474
In the second year FFRA 192,445 148,818
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EFERF
BIEERME 322,778 489,221
Beyond five years hEE 56,666 20,516
934,513 882,029
Other loans repayable: BEAMER
Within one year —FR = 5,699
In the second year E_FR - -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FFHE
BREEREMSE 380,000 390,000
380,000 395,699
1,314,513 1 oV AR

Notes:

(@)  Certain bank loans of the Group are secured by the Group's property, plant
and equipment (note 14), owned investment properties and certain rental
income generated therefrom (note 16), properties held for sale (note 17)
and pledged deposits (note 22).

(b) As at 31 March 2024, except for the bank loans of HK$244,833,000
(2023: HK$195,376,000) and other loans of HK$380,000,000 (2023:
HK$395,699,000) which bear interest at fixed rates, all bank loans bear
interest at floating interest rates.

(©0 Other loans from fellow subsidiaries of HK$380,000,000 (2023:
HK$390,000,000) were stated at amortised cost. These loans were
unsecured, carried interest at a fixed interest rate of 10% per annum with a
final maturity in May 2027.

(d)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings which are
denominated in the following currencies are as follows:

(a)

(d)

wa -

AEEETFTRAETAAEEODE - K
EEk#ziwm (HE4) BEREMERE
FrEAME THES KA () - #F1E
HEME (Ma17) REEMEFR (FE22)
fEEAR -

RZZT-_WME=A=+—H - F244833,000
BT (ZF = = & : 19537600058 jT) Z iR
17 B 3% &380,000000% ;T (=T = = & :
395,699,0007%% JT) < H fb B 5K LA & B 5t B
Oh 0 FTESRITEZRBENZEREE -

R B B R KB A A # E b & 3380,000,0007
7t (= = = 4 : 390,000,000/ JT) % & $4
RAGE - ZZERAEER BEEE
FFEI10%5HE - RZZT=ZLFH AR -

T EEFENAEERTREMME
EER@mENT ¢

2024
1 3

HK$’000
FEx

HKS BT
RMB AR

665,790
648,723

735,640
542,088

1,314,513 1,277,728

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERLF



26. UNSECURED NOTES 26.

Contractual
interest rate (%)
per annum

BREFIE(%)

Unsecured Notes 2024 R MEERAER 1%

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

mEMEERMET®)
31March2024 ZZE ZMF = A =+—H

EEARE

Maturity 2024 2023
ZEA “E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT TET

2024 = 124,146

On 19 May 2014, the Group established a HK$1,000,000,000 medium term
note program. The notes issued under the program were listed on the
Stock Exchange by way of debt issue to professional investors only. The
interest on the notes was payable annually in arrears at the interest rate of
1% per annum.

The Group issued 40 batches of notes with a total principal amount
of HK$400,000,000 which bore interest at 1% per annum in 2014 (the
“Unsecured Notes 2024"). The original maturity date of the entire
Unsecured Notes 2024 would be on 30 September 2024.

Details of the Unsecured Notes 2024 are as follows:

Redemption period by the Group: Three specified redemption dates from
31 December 2023 to 30 June 2024.

Redemption amount on the maturity date: 96.85% of the principal amount
The Group had repurchased and cancelled the Unsecured Notes 2024 in

an aggregate principal amount of HK$250,000,000 in prior years. As at 31
March 2023, a principal amount of HK$150,000,000 remained outstanding.

During the year, the Group has repurchased and redeemed the Unsecured
Notes 2024 in an aggregate principal amount of HK$110,000,000 (2023:
HK$140,000,000) and HK$40,000,000, respectively.

The interest expenses on the Unsecured Notes 2024 were calculated using
the effective interest method by using the effective interest rate of 11.6%.

Subsequent to the redemption of all outstanding Unsecured Notes 2024,
the Unsecured Notes 2024 were delisted on 8 April 2024.

RZZE—MmOERA+ALA  REERY
1,000,0000008 7T 2 R HA E H 5r &l - BIB A
BRI EBRNERNBEREERITESN
FRAREBRA LT - ZEFSBIEFHE
St FREARI% o

AEBMER T —MEHETOMESBE
£400,0000008 TFEFME BRI 2 EH ([=F
—HESKFER]) c 2T _NFE
REZEMNRIPEA-Z-_LNFEFALR =1
E| o

TR NMEEERRRZFEBOT

AEBZBEDHME : ZEREELD B Hh—
Sl s r A = S el e S R = SRS
ShlEks

REMBZEO SR : KE . 29685%

mﬂﬁi CAEEEBEEEEAS
48 %E250,0000008 T2 — T Z W F EEF R

ﬁ RZTEZ=F=ZA=+—H ' &~&8

150,000,0007%8 JT i K E 38 ©

FR - AEEEELDREBERANSLED
110,000,000 7T (= & = = 4 : 140,000,000
7 7T) £40,000,0007 JT 2 — T — P £ 4 K 3
=i o

—E_MFEERARERZNE R EAER
MED6% 2 BERMEAXFH o

REOMAREE - - WEEERRREZ
RO NEEERRBEER T -_MOFWA
JNBHBE EmAL -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FREMBERMEE)
31March2024 — - F=H=+—H

26. UNSECURED NOTES (continved)

The carrying value of the unsecured notes and their movements are as

follows:

26. BMIKHEE =)
mEMEENATERLEBHMT ;

s
|

At 1 April 2022
Accretion of interest
Early redemption
Interest paid/payable

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023

Accretion of interest
Early redemption

Interest paid/payable

HK$’000
THET
RZEZZFWA—A 216,542
2IEFE 20,995
RO (111,493)
B A FE (1,898)
R-_ZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—AKk
—E-_=FWA—H 124,146
ZIEF| B 9,210
REED (132,432)
Bt REAFE (924)

At 31 March 2024

R-ZE_W&E=A=+—8H

27. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as

follows:

(a) Deferred tax liabilities

27. ERAERLIE

FAELEHAERBEREEZESHNT ¢

() EEHBEME

Fair value
adjustments of
investment properties
Right-of- and properties held
use assets for sale Total
RENERFELE
EREEE WENATERR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER T
At 31 March 2022 WZZZZ4=f=+-H - 565,012 565,012
Effect of adoption of amendments RABBEHENENR 2B
to HKAS 12 (note 2.2(d) AR 8 (Hit220) 3,826 - 3,826
At 1 April 2022 (restated) R-E-—FWA—H
(& =5) 3,826 565,012 568,838
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss RIBEEMEG /(GTA) 743 (1,165) 422)
Exchange realignment X AR (287) (42,648) (42,935)
At 31 March 2023 and RZIBEZ=ZF=ZA=+—-HEK
1 April 2023 (restated) T =FPNA—H
(E=71) 4,282 521,199 525,481
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss RIBREMBR /(GTA) (2,753) 2,724 (29)
Exchange realignment 0E 5 AR (136) (13,068) (13,204)
At 31 March 2024 RZZZNE=A=+—H 1,393 510,855 512,248

1 5 6 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERLF



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
mEMEERMET®)
31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

27. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 27, I|MERIE ()

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as
follows: (continued)

(b) ELEHITEE

Loss available
for offsetting against

(b) Deferred tax assets

FREERBEBEREEZZSHNOT - (B)

future taxable profits Lease liabilities Total
Al PR 88 R SR B R B
ik i1 i -} HEAE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THER THT TET
At 31 March 2022 RZZE--—F=R=+-—-R = = =
Effect of adoption of amendments FRABRGHERE R
to HKAS 12 (note 2.2(d) BAIRZ TR W E220) - 3,826 3826
At 1 April 2022 (restated) RZZE-ZFNA-AR
(m=50) - 3,826 3,826
Credited to profit or loss FABRE E 74 743
Exchange realignment JE 5 = (287) (287)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZEZ=F=ZA=+—-AK
(restated) —T_=FMA—H
(mE51) - 4,282 4,282
Credited to profit or loss FFABER 4,719 547 5,266
Exchange realignment ERRE 49 (103) (54)
At 31 March 2024 R-E_MFE=R=+—H 4,768 4,726 9,494

2024
—B-@DmF

HK$’000
FTET

KR & MRS MLR AR

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the

2023
—E=4F
HKS$'000
FH T

consolidated statement of financial position EETIRE EFE 5,320 -
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the iR & BRI &R A TR

consolidated statement of financial position REFIBEEEHE (508,074) (521,199)
Net deferred tax liabilities RIETIE S EFE (502,754) (521,199)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

27. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 27. BIEFLIE ()

FRAEERBEEBEREEZEHNT : (B)

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as
follows: (continued)

(c) REEFRIELEDH

(c) Deferred taxation not recognised

158

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
arising in Chinese Mainland of HK$250,712,000 (2023: HK$287,914,000)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Except for tax
losses of HK$19,070,000 (2023: HKSNil) which have been recognised
as deferred tax assets, deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of the remaining amount of HK$231,642,000 (2023:
HK$287,914,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The Group also has unused tax losses arising in Hong Kong with an
aggregate amount of HK$39,566,000 (2023: HK$30,505,000) that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose, and deferred tax assets have not
been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Chinese Mainland. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled amounted to
HK$329,467,000 at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$316,999,000). In the
opinion of the Company's directors, the Company is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and, accordingly,
the Group has taken into consideration, among others, the probability
the temporary difference being reversed in the foreseeable future,
and recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable in the
foreseeable future on distribution of unremitted earnings by the
Company's subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect of
earnings generated.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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28. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

SREMEERMEEE)

31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

B.ERERFERERZZHEE

o) NG

BEEAFERERZIEZEMNBLRFS

interests: W
Proportion of
ownership
interests
Place of and voting rights Profits
incorporation/ held by non- allocated to Accumulated
registration controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of Company and operation interests interests interests
FEREREEN
ERRL/ ERR FEREER
NAER EEDY RERLA SREFERES 2 ER it ERER
2024 2024
—E-mE —E-mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT
SHRFEERRERAA The PRC/Chinese Mainland 49% 6,554 10,246 179,080 177,582
mE/hERD
INEERDERYETHERART  The PRCU/Chinese Mainland 49% 7,834 4965 184,488 183330
HE/HRE R
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 29,665 28474
ARFARERBRERNTELTERD
MEAR
393,233 389,386

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out below.
The summarised financial information below represents amounts before

intragroup eliminations.

(i) HwMNRFHEBRABRAA

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

MENEE
FRBEE
mEEE
FnRBEE
ZANCIE S PN oL F
FEfE R

FEHASEEEEEAFERERNIEA
AP BERMESRINT - ATHBHE
BB 2EEERYHEANER -

(i) HBMNEFHERRERQF

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT T
128,171 70,475
418,510 430,386
39,880 56,840
141,331 81,583
186,390 184,856
179,080 177,582

2024 Annual Report
—BMEFR

159



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FREMBERMEE)

31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

28. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH BEEERFERERZZHEE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS AT )
(continued)
(i) HMEFEEZRERAT continved) (i) BRMNRFEHEREERLT ()
2024 2023
—E-mF —T-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T T
Turnover LR 48,327 49,232
Other income H Al A 2,825 2,623
Net gain in fair value of investment properties HEMELNFEWZEFE 7,698 4,544
Expenses il 2 (45,475) (35,489)
Profit for the year F N A 13,375 20,910
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FH T
Profit attributable to owners of the Company RRAEE ANEIERF 6,821 10,664
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests FE 12 IR e 2 P (VA 6,554 10,246
Profit for the year F N A 13,375 20,910

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable R R RI#E B A E(HE2HE

to owners of the Company WA/ (E18) #a%8 1,534 (3,603)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable — JEIERRMEZR MG 2R A
to non-controlling interests (E18) B 1,498 (3,462)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ~ FRZFE WA (EIE) L5 3,032 (7,065)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests TR TIEERER ZRE - =
2024 2023
—E-mF —T-=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T T
Net cash flows from operating activities KETEFSIRES RE T 7,170 15,564
Net cash flows used in investing activities KREEHMARSREFRE (321) (6,313)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities B & EENFTE,(FTH)RE
mE R 14,370 (12,217)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash BERIBESEEEEM
equivalents ORid) 588 21,219 (2,966)

1 60 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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28. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(continued)

(i) EMRERBERBBTERRLIF

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
SREMEERMEEE)

31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

8. EEERFERERZHEERE
MR )

(i) EMRERBERBBTERRLT

2024
—E-MEF

MEEE
FRBEE
nEAE
FRBAE
RRABEE AEIERER
FEFER

HK$’000
TERT

626,260
1,308
211,363
39,699
192,018
184,488

2023
—E=F
HK$'000
T T

640,829
1,490
229,566
40,342
189,081
183,330

2024 2023

ZEZWEF —T_=%

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T T

Turnover e 31,461 84,645
Other income H A A 1,269 490
Expenses 53 (16,741) (75,002)
Profit for the year & N A 15,989 10,133
Profit attributable to owners of the Company KRB A AFE R F 8,155 5,168
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests I 122 AR 4 2 FE A i A 7,834 4,965
Profit for the year F (35 A 15,989 10,133
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

28. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(continued)

(i) EMEEEZRERMZETHEER DA continued)

8. BEERFERERZHEZE
MEATE )

(i) EMRERBERBBETERRLT

(#&)

2024 2023
—E-mE =4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#Ex T

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable N B1#EH AEGEE
to owners of the Company WA (E18) #a%8 2,937 (14,376)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable  FE{E IR RES (R 2 FEUA

to non-controlling interests (E18) B 1,158 (13,813)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ~ FRZFE WA (EIE) L5 4,095 (28,189)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests SR ER R E - =
Net cash flows used in operating activities KEEBFARESMEFE (3,519) (526)
Net cash flows used in investing activities REEDHMARSREFHE (1,341) (156)
Net cash flows from financing activities MEFEMEHRSREFE 201 1,009

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash ReERBLEEENM
equivalents CR) F%8 (4,659) 327

29. ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES 29.BRTRAKR B

(a) Authorised and issued share capital

(a) EFERCEITRAE

2024 3
-g-pg =%
Number of shares  Nominal value  Number of shares Nominal value
RAEE EE / EfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET FET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HKS0.01 (2023: HKS0.01) BREEBL (ZF==%:
each 001%7t) 2 EBR 30,000,000,000 300,000 30,000,000,000 300,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: Z&EHR  ERTRMR
At the beginning and the end of the year RENRER 9,953,067,822 99,531 9,953,067,822 99,531

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at shareholders’ meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally in regard to the Company’s residual assets.

There were no movements in the issued capital of the Company
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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29. ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continved)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by
section 40 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
the Company's shares repurchased which has been paid out of
the distributable reserves of the Company.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents (i) the difference between
the underlying net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired over
the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued pursuant
to group reorganisation in 1995, and (i) contribution arising from
capital reorganisation in 2003 and 20009.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended from
time to time), the contributed surplus is available for distribution
to shareholders. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make distributions out of contributed surplus if:

— it s, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

— the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.

Shareholders’ contribution

The shareholders’ contribution represents imputed interest
expense on the non-current interest-free loan from ultimate
holding company in 2005.

Other reserve

The other reserve of the Group was the difference between the
amounts of net consideration and the carrying values of non-
controlling interests acquired or disposed of for changes in the
Group's ownership interests in its subsidiaries that do not result
in the loss of control.

Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Chinese
Mainland, a portion of the profits of the Company’s subsidiaries
in Chinese Mainland has been transferred to the statutory reserve
which are restricted to use.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ReRBERME®)

31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

2. B RITRARGEE &
(b) EEZHEREN

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

IR 45 8
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EZ-NAN—FARERRIESEW
BRE -

BEXEEE

ERBEOFEEARACEDRH
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R o

BEARR
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BRREE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

(a) ARARZHMBRRE

30. A QT B ISR R K 2 B

2024 2023
—E-MNF —TZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FET
NON-CURRENT ASSET EMBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTB AR ZRE 164,855 164,855
CURRENT ASSETS mBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE YR BT /B8 2 R 5B 2,285,457 2,244,060
Other receivables H A Uk Z008 2,219 2,223
Cash and cash equivalents BeERREER 2,620 32,274
Total current assets mBEERTE 2,290,296 2,278,557
CURRENT LIABILITIES mBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE A<F B /B A B FR3E 1,055,140 786,594
Other payables H 1 JE 5 308 18,435 22,690
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings TERITREMEE 168,318 92,266
Income tax payable FERT RIS B 6,079 6,079
Total current liabilities mE B EAEE 1,247,972 907,629
NET CURRENT ASSETS mBEEFE 1,042,324 1,370,928
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES REERTBAE 1,207,179 1,535,783
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EmE B &
Unsecured notes R 2R = 124,146
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FRERITREMEER 500,056 643,374
Total non-current liabilities FERBAEARTE 500,056 767,520
Net assets BEFE 707,123 768,263
EQUITY T
Issued capital BETRA 99,531 99,531
Reserves i 1 607,592 668,732
Total equity R 707,123 768,263

Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
RinE
Director

EF

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERLF

Tang Ching Ho
BRE A
Director

EF



30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(b) A summary to the Company’s reserves is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
SREMEERMEEE)

31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

30 A AT B MR KRR AEFE R B

(%)

(b) AATRZEEBEMT :

Capital Share
Share  redemption  Contributed Shareholders’ Accumulated option
premium reserve surplus  contribution losses reserve Total
E4EE B4 S g3t BRE
R EE 4] B& i & i @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TiEn TiEn TER TiEn TiEn
At 1 April 2022 RZBZZ§MA-A 3923147 945 588,812 664 (3,787:409) 1139 727,298
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - (63213) 5 (63213)
Recognition of equity settled ~ BRBIEREE AR AR
share-based payment AT = = - = - 4647 4647
Lapse of share options EREX K = = B E 311 (311) <
At 31 March 2023 and RZE2-=%=A=1-H
1 April 2023 k=E-_=£mA-AH 3,923,147 945 588,812 664  (3,850,311) 5,475 668,732
Loss for the year rEEBE - - - - (64,978) - (64,978)
Recognition of equity -settled ~ AN EREEARD BE
share-based payment A WANE = - 5 = - 3,838 3,838
Lapse of share options BRELA - - = = 1,760 (1,760) o
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-RE=A=+-R 3,923,147 945 588,812 664 (3,913,529) 7,553 607,592

31. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

M URERGEEURNAERZ

TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2022 Scheme”)
with the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 26 August 2022 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives and recognition for the eligible participants
(the “Participants”) to take up options for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group with the same terms as the share option scheme
(the “2012 Scheme") adopted by the Company on 3 May 2012. Participants
include directors of the Group, including independent non-executive
directors and employees, who work for any member of the Group and/or
any person or entity that provides services to any member of the Group.
The 2022 Scheme became effective on 26 August 2022 and will remain in
force for a period of 10 years to 25 August 2032.

R5

EARAARBRRER=ZZE=__FN\NA=Z+,H
BOIZARBIBRRBAFERES L E - AQ
AN —ENERENE (2 =_F5
Bl FEEMARNAEKZ2HSE ([2H
) BREEHASEEDRAIEIELEZE
IR RBERREY  GREXQRFTRZT
——FRhA-HEMAZEREFE (=2
——Fz8]) BR - 2EEBERAEE
LEE (BEBIUIFENTES) KALKEE
BETREAMKEARIEZRBE R, RKAKE
E{ERKE R RIRERBAEMALREEE
—E - EHERN TN NA-_+H
AW BERBAETFE  E_FT=—%)\A
—t+HRBIE -

2024 Annual Report
—E-NEER

165



166

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

31. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Under the 2022 Scheme, the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board’) may grant share options to the Participants to subscribe for
the shares of the Company. The offer of a grant of share options must be
accepted by the relevant Participants within 14 days after the date of grant
upon payment of a consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share options
granted. The exercise price is to be determined by the Board and shall not
be less than the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to
eligible person in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the shareholders. Options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors, or any of
their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be
approved in advance by the shareholders. There is no specific requirement
that an option must be held for any minimum period before it can be
exercised but the Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any such
minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board
at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised for a period
of more than 10 years from the date of grant.

Pursuant to the 2022 Scheme, the maximum number of shares in the
Company in respect of which options may be granted when aggregated
with any other share option scheme of the Company is not permitted to
exceed 995,306,782 shares, representing approximately 10.0% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report. Subject to the
approval of the Shareholders at general meeting, the board may refresh the
limit at any time to 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date
of approval by the Shareholders at general meeting. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2022 Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company at any time shall not exceed
30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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31. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

No share option has been granted as at 31 March 2024 since the adoption

of the 2022 Scheme.

31.

During the current and prior years, no share options were granted,

exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the 2022 Scheme.

The following share options were outstanding under the 2012 Scheme
during the year.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuec)
mEMBEMME)

31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

LEZEEURDAER
-2 ))

BEMHN-_T -
F#=H=+—8H

HEUARBE—Fm
B R -

RAFERBEFER B —Fi 8l
ETHEBREERY - 76 SAEK
E

BE—T——F53 -
" RATE

ATEREREFEAN

2024
—EomE

Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
METITHEE BRERE METHIRE BREHE
HKS per share ‘000 HKS per share '000
BRET T4 BRET T
At beginning of year REA] 0.118 211,000 0118 226,000
Granted during the year RERE N/ATRER - N/A N R -
Lapsed during the year RERKH 0.118 (50,000) 0118 (15,000)
At end of year RER 0.118 161,000 0.118 211,000

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2024

Number of options

Exercise price*

Exercise period

RIEBRRMATEZ BREZTHEERTT
FHAIT -

—E-NEF

BREZE 1THEE*
‘000 HKS per share
T 14 gRET
32,200 0.118 3.1.2025 to 2.1.2032 —E_RFE—B=HEZ-ZE==-f—H=H
32,200 0.118 3.1.2026 to 2.1.2032 —E - RE—-A=HAE=-ZE=—"f—H=H
32,200 0.118 3.1.2027 to 2.1.2032 —E_t+tH—B=HE=-ZFT=-f—HZ=H
32,200 0.118 3.1.2028 to 2.1.2032 —E-_N\E—-A=HE=-ZE=-—f—HF=H
32,200 0.118 3.1.2029 to 2.1.2032 —E_hAF-—HA=HEZ-ZE=-F—HZ=H
161,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FREMBERMEE)
31March2024 — - F=H=+—H

31. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED BMLURRGEHEUROGR/ERZ
TRANSACTIONS (continueq) 3&% (#&)
2023 —E-ZfF
Number of options Exercise price*  Exercise period
EREHE 1T E"
‘000 HKS per share
T4 BRBTT
42,200 0.118  3.1.2025 to 2.1.2032 —E_hFE—-HA=RAZE-ZT=-%—HZH
42,200 0.118  3.1.2026 to 2.1.2032 ZEZXRF—A= ngz@_fi—ﬂza
42,200 0.118  3.1.2027 to 2.1.2032 —E_t+F—-H=HZ F—HZH
42,200 0.118  3.1.2028 to 2.1.2032 —EZN\F-R= El%‘e_%ﬁf_ﬁ A=A
42,200 0.118  3.1.2029 to 2.1.2032 R NF—RA=AE=T==-F—H=H
211,000
*  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case 5 E% A 2 T B T R AR S AL AR B 1T sk AR
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share NAIRARE A LA BN TUARE -
capital.
The fair value of the share options under the 2012 Scheme granted during REBEE-T-_—_F=-A=+—BHLEFEH
the year ended 31 March 2022 was HK$21,915,000 (HK$0.097 each), of - -——FHEETEREZATER
which the Group recognised a share option expense of HK$3,838,000 (31 2W,915,000/% T (B R0097E L) + HREHE
March 2023: HK$4,647,000) during the year ended 31 March 2024 —E_NE=ZRA=+—RHLEE x&E
T 52 B P #E 7 23,838000/8 L (Z B = =
A=+—8 : 4647,000# L) °
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year ended REBEEZT-_—_F=A=+—HILEFEEH
31 March 2022 was estimated as at the date of grant using a trinomial UNEREEZEREZ AFERKE B EE
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the R==EAREGGFG  EFEFEREER
options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model B2 ERRGHE - TREIFAAEKDL Z &
used: AEE -
2022
—E=-=
Dividend yield (%) AR B2 (%) -
Expected volatility (%) T8 5 /)§ ¢Ea(% 97.03
Historical volatility (%) JF 528 18 (%) 97.03
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4 [ B2 1 2= (%) 144
Expected life of options (year) TEHA B W EH (F) 10
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) nEFHRE (BRAET) 0.118

1 6 8 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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31. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

32

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the Company’s share price over the approximately previous 10 years. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the directors’
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had
161,000,000 share options outstanding under the 2012 Scheme.

BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON
CONTROL

During the year ended 31 March 2023, pursuant to certain sale and
purchase agreements, Wang On transferred its 60% equity interests in
Kingtex and Jet Success (collectively the “Acquired Companies’) and
loans owing by the Acquired Companies to Wang On (the “Shareholder’s
Loan”) to the Group for a consideration of HK$766,000 and HK$230,000
respectively. As the Group and the Acquired Companies are under the
common control of Wang On before and after the transfer, the transfer has
been accounted for as a business combination under common control. The
acquisition were completed on 1 October 2022.

As a part of the acquisition, the Group entered into put option deeds that
the non-controlling shareholder of the Acquired Companies (“Grantor”)
agreed to grant put options and the Group agreed to receive the put
options at consideration of HKS1 for both Acquired Companies. The put
options provide the right to require the Grantor to purchase all shares
of the Acquired Companies held by the Group, subject to the fulfilment
of the condition precedent set out in the option deed agreement. The
options may only be exercised by the Group if the accumulated losses of
the Acquired Companies equals or exceeds certain amounts at any point
of time or in a loss position for the consecutive period of 6 months or
inconsecutive 6 months in any 12 consecutive months.

The difference between the consideration paid, fair value of put options
and the carrying amounts of the net assets of the Acquired Companies and
the Shareholder’s Loan, net of the non-controlling interests, at the date of
common control combination amounting to approximately HK$393,000 is
recognised in other reserve.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
AR ERIHIE

31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

NURREEURDAER 2

32

X3

HEHREDEARBBETFREELIKE
MEE - ZBAMKRABZAFFHASRIE
EERIFEENE  TERIRTREEE
ARZEEMEREMAMBE -

8D T ER B AR L BB AR E R E s
o

R EZEMBERRER » AQRRE=
T — — £ 5 2 F161,000,0001D 14 & 17 1 88 A%
T o

HEZGTHERS 6

mylES s s B e = IRl = e (SR S iR )=
BEETEEWSE  ZLEHERNBERE
B (S8 [FTuR B8 2 F1) Z260% A% 1 & BT ik
BRAABREZZER (IRRER]) BE
FAREE - KR{ED 5 A766000% 7T & 230,000
BT c ARAKERAUE AR REER
BEZT R HERER - WEEE AR E
HREAZHTHEBEH - WESTHEERZ
E_—_F#+A—HEK °

EARBEEN D AEREFT LR
HERE  MRBARMFERRR (TR
FADRERLREHE  MAKERZ
W P T AT U & R RER RROE HIE - KB R
BT o ROLMEE T ASEERN 0 AER
BTABEASERFARMKBRABMNMAER
o MEZR 1 5 AR H 4 B4 15 58 P #L RO SEOR
fFfF - AAIEE - MEATKE AR M RETE
BEREMNERBENNBERE TEHE » &
i EefE A MM - HEEMEREAR
T EelE A RN EEMR - BALEGTA
TR B AHE o

BENRE RAHAERLFEEAMKERR
BEFELRBRREZNELERZH S 68 H
MEEE NBRIEERERS) 2RMNEELD
393,000/ TR E MR R o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FREMBERMEE)
31March2024 — - F=H=+—H

32. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 32 £ F#4I THXE K S »

CONTROL (continued)

The Acquired Companies are principally engaged in food and agricultural Fri g & ﬂ FERBENFROEREIER
by-products merchandising in Hong Kong. Details of the carrying accounts HE - RHERZEHEHBEH - FAKELA
of the assets and liabilities of the Acquired Companies, the Shareholder’s MEERBEMNEREEME  REERERML
Loan and fair value of put option at the date of common control HENDNTFEFENT -

combination are as follows:

Kingtex Jet Success Total
& 7354 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHE T FHET
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R 26 45 71
Prepayment, deposits and other FAfNRE Ze Kk
receivables H fth & WK IR 344 690 1,034
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBFEEHE 821 - 821
Trade and other payables E 5 K H h fE S 5RI8 (423) (143) (566)
Income tax payable TSR = (154) (154)
Amount due to the immediate holding ~ JEfT B A A
company FIH (766) (179) (945)
o) 259 261
Non-controlling interests FE 2 IR M (207) (208)
Assignment of Shareholder’s Loan EERRE N 766 179 945
Put option o HAE 280 111 391
1,047 342 1,389
Other reserve recognised EEREMEE (281) (112) (393)
766 230 996
Net cash (inflow)/outflow in respect of acquisitions: ERWEEEZES ORA) /Rl FaE -
Kingtex Jet Success Total
& 7354 At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHE T FHET
Cash consideration ReRE 766 230 996
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired & : B REEIR & K&
ReER (821) = (821)
(55) 230 175

1 7 0 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 March 2024

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value

BATEERGEAR SR

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuec)
mEMBEMME)

31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

3B3.1RWEHETHERMTE

RBERRSERNZ2ERTEZKREENT :

—E-HmNE=A=+—H
EHEE

Financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss
BEATELCBEEZEARZEREE
Designated
as such upon

Financial

assets at
amortised cost
RE AT R
LEMEE
HK$'000

TER

Mandatorily
designated
as such

initial
recognition
RERBEREN
R

HK$'000

Ti#x

Total

BHEmMILEE
HK$'000
FET

o
HK$'000
TR

through profit or loss BE

Listed equity investments LEmRERE 105 - - 105

Put options Roh - 370 - 370
Trade receivables B SRR - - 2,055 2,055
Loans and interest receivables EHEFREFE - - 27,642 27,642
Financial assets included in prepayments, T ATBIFE « HE R EME

deposits, and other receivables WRIBEz ¢ REE - = 132,406 132,406
Pledged deposits EEBER - - 39,611 39,611
Cash and cash equivalents BeRRSER - - 243,435 243,435

105 370 445,149 445,624

Financial liabilities THERE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBHEAETERZ

SREE

HK$’000

FTERT

Trade payables Z 5 T3R8 45,348
Financial liabilities included in deposits and other payables FTARS REMEMNRIEZ S/

(excluding lease liabilities) BE(TEEHEERRE) 172,976
Lease liabilities HEAR 32,869
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ATERITREMEER 1,314,513

1,565,706
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FREMBERMEE)

31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)

31 March 2023

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

BATESREAR EREE

BIRERHEIHNEMIA »

—E-=f=RA=+—H

THEE

Financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss

Designated
as such Mandatorily

upon initial designated
recognition as such

HEE  BEMLEE
HK$'000 HKS'000
T TBL

Financial
assets at
amortised cost

BEE
HKS$'000
THL

Total
@t

HK$'000
FiE7

Listed equity investments LERERE 123 - : 123
Put option Rh e = 232 = 232
Trade receivables Z 5 EWRFIE = = 1,964 1,964
Loans and interest receivables EREFRRFE - = 27,079 27,079

Financial assets included in prepayments, T ATEFFIE « & R E YK
deposits, and other receivables TEZEREE = = 123,243 123,243
Pledged deposits BEAFR - = 28517 28517
Cash and cash equivalents Be KRG EE = - 312434 312,434
123 232 493,237 493,592

Financial liabilities

TEEE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

R EK AR 2

TREE

HKS'000

FET

Trade payables E SN FA 41,608
Financial liabilities included in deposits and other payables FFARS REMENKIEZ &/

(excluding lease liabilities) BECTBEREEARE) 300,867
Lease liabilities HEAE 29,634
Unsecured notes IR IR 2 124,146
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTRERITREMEE 1,277,728

1,773,983

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERLF



34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 34.

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial instruments,
other than those carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair
values, are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

mEMEERMET®)
31March2024 —E & =HA=+—H

EMTAZAFERLIFEER

AEECRTAE (REEEAVYEAEMESE
WERMIARN) 2REERATENT :

Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE A¥E
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 2023 2024
—E-NE —=4% ZE-_NME
Er=1 =+—H =Z=BA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET FHET FHET
Financial liabilities A =Ri
Interest-bearing bank and other FPERITREAM
borrowings BE 1,314,513 T2 W23 1,548,113 1,579,666
Unsecured notes IR IR E R = 124,146 = 129,989
1,314,513 1,401,874 1,548,113 1,709,655
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, ERERTABEeRREEE  BEEAR

pledged bank deposits, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, loans and interest receivables
and financial liabilities included in trade and other payables approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the directors of the Company
are responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance department
reports directly to the Company’s directors and the audit committee. At
each reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements in
the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the Company's
directors. The valuation process and results are discussed with the audit
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

TERXR  BHREKFOR - FFARMKE -
ZehHEMBRERBAZEREE  BRE
ARMENRFABS REMENRAZE
MEEZAFERAEREAERE  T2R
ArRZETIANIBRRRE -

AEBZHBHPIBARAREEHER B
AR TAZAFEAEBHEBRRRIERF -
HEBEIEERNARAREEREREZEGE
HoREBRERH - MBEHMOMESRT
EEEZHR  YREGBERHEBZEZE
BWABRE - ARFAEEEHRLEMGE
VHEEZZBRERTHRFEMERREF
ETMREBALERFRERNTW

CRMEERBBZATENABERZTEE
AR5 CRABHBFEEERIIN ZTAA
BRUERMZ EBAR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of
the Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings as at 31 March 2024 were assessed to be insignificant. The fair
value of the unsecured notes are estimated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using an equivalent market interest rate for similar
securities with consideration of the Group's own non-performance risk.
These fair value measurements are recurring and are categorised in level 3
of the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of listed equity investments is based on quoted market
prices. The directors of the Company believe that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair
values, which are recorded in profit or loss, are reasonable, and that they
were the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of the put options is determined by valuation techniques
and based on assumptions on market conditions existing at the end of
the reporting period. The valuation model requires the input of subjective
assumptions, including the expected volatility and price-to-earnings ratio.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair value of the put options was not
significant to the Group's consolidated financial statements. The inputs
used and their sensitivity analysis were not disclosed as such disclosures
would result in particulars of excessive length and provide no additional
useful information to the users of the consolidated financial statements.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERLF

MEMIEACZAFERAFEER

(#)
AEEBHFRBOFTARBRMT :

ARRTREMEENERDED ZAFE
BRI TmEEUFHY  EEAR R
HENTANMNEEHRBERRRRERE
HE-R-ZF-_MOFE=ZA=+—R - £&
B SRTEREMEEATNTRORRE
HZAFEEHRFIHERITEKR - BE
HEBZAFEDANRLUESFNBS T 5
ERTRARAARKRReREGE - BEE
BASENTEAORR - ZFQXFEFE
BEEE  YHBRATEERNE=H -

FHREREZ R TFEVIZRTSREETE -
ARAREEHRE  BEGEEFEFSHOM
SARFE GIAREEBRRER) RAFE
MEBMES (GtAER) DESRE - BAR
HEMARNREEEE -

Ron Rz AFEDREGBERMNRERE
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the

Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 March 2024

R-FE-—pAE=H=1+—H

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuec)
mEMBEMME)

31 March 2024 — & — 9

(%)

DN EER

RATESELAE -

Fair value measurement using
ERTHREZAFEHNE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
REBTHEz EXATHERBRA EXTUEER
BEE-R BEEZR AHE(E=R
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THER THET TERT

F=A=+—8H

BETMITACZAFERAFEER

THREALEESRIAZAFEFEER

Total

At
HK$'000
TET

Financial assets at fair value BRATESBREARZEH
through profit or loss: BE:
Listed equity investment LikERE 105 - - 105
Put options Rk - - 370 370
105 - 370 475
As at 31 March 2023 R-F-=F=F=+—FH
Financial assets at fair value BEATELEEAEZ SR
through profit or loss: BE:
Listed equity investment ETRERE 123 - - 123
Put options R B - - 232 232
123 - 232 355
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

MEMIEACZAFERAFEER

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the years are

as follows:

(%)
DN FEERE)

RUATEE  E=ZHKATEFEZ2ZHN
™

HK$’000
TERT

RZEZZFWA—H =

At 1 April 2022

Acquisition of subsidiaries U B BT 8 2 ) 391
Fair value gains recognised in profit or loss, net REZREERZ AFEWTS F5E (159)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-EBE_=F=ZA=+—HK

—ET-=FMA—H 232
Fair value gains recognised in profit or loss, net RIBEFEER 2 A FEREFE 138
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_MF=A=+—H 370

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both

financial assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

35

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The

Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and unsecured notes disclosed
in notes 25 and 26 to the financial statements, net of cash and bank
balances and equity attributable to owners of the parent, which comprises

issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-annual
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or

the redemption of existing debt.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERLF
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

The Group's principal financial instruments include financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, financial assets included in prepayment,
deposits and other receivables, trade receivables, loans and interest
receivables, financial liabilities included in trade and other payables,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and unsecured notes. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board of
directors of the Company reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk

In relation to the Group’s deposits with bank, the Group limits its
exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with financial institutions with
high credit rating and no recent history of default. The directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk on the bank deposits is low.
Management continues to monitor the position and will take appropriate
action if their ratings should change. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the
Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in relation to deposits
with bank.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It
is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms
are subject to credit verification procedures. In order to minimise the credit
risk on trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, and loans and
interest receivables, the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for the determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual receivable at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the credit risk is
significantly reduced.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FEMBERMNEE
31March2024 —E —PUF = A :+* S|

5. ¥R EERERBUR @)

AEFRZTEcMTREREATFELESR
ABRZEREE  FAENKE  RER
E@%WﬁﬁZ@@ﬁ§~%%EWME~
EUREREME - FFAE S REMENK

Hze®AfE  HERTREMBEEUAR
BENEE TR ITAZHEBREH

MIsEH & -

AEBeMIEEE 2 ZZRMB AT EER
SNERE - EERBERBE SRR ZJS
AAESZEERNILREERZERAR ZBEE -
BEEBHEHGRMT -

EEER

RAEEFERRBIZIERME - A&HE
BB RFRRNAR *KE%&LQIE
i%%ﬁZ%@%ﬁ & DARLAR P ACHE 22
EE s ARREBERR 0 AEERTT
TTZEEHMFﬁ°§@E%E%$E
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ERFEERR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available without undue cost or
effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2024. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 March 2024

5. HEEMREEEEREE @

R ERKFERR

TRETERAEENEERRERNEEL X
kR EERR  TEERBMER (BKF
HitEMATHEBBENH T BERARKE )
BRTER)  RRZT-_WNFEF=A=+—
BENFEREERIE 2B RERE
ERREE -

R-Z-_ME=A=+-H

12 month
ECLs
128 A Lifetime ECLs
FEF#E 2HENEERSR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-KR FRR FZER Bt A% @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TEr TEr
Trade receivables* B 5 FE IR - - - 9,560 9,560
Loans and interest receivables EREFRRFE 14,418 1,556 54,578 - 70,552
Financial assets included in prepayments, FABMRE  ZE
deposits and other receivables** RE A EMFRIEZ
tREE" 116,952 16,002 - - 132,954
Pledged bank deposits EEMRITER 39,611 - - - 39,611
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEH 243,435 - - - 243,435
414,416 17,558 54,578 9,560 496,112
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZFE-_=F=A=+—H
Trade receivables* E 5 e E = = = 10,548 10,548
Loans and interest receivables BUREZ RS 13,084 1,596 55,985 = 70,665
Financial assets included in prepayments, FARMARE £
deposits and other receivables** REMERFHIEZ
SREE" 109,612 14,385 - - 123,997
Pledged deposits BEABITER 28,517 = = = 28,517
Cash and cash equivalents RBekReEE 312,434 = = = 312,434
463647 15,981 55,985 10,548 546,161

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach
for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in
note 18 to the financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk
arising from trade receivables and financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables (notes 18 and 19) and loans and interest
receivables (note 20) are disclosed in the corresponding notes to the
financial statements.

For certain secured loans and its related interest receivables, the Group
holds collateral in the form of capital over a subsidiary in Chinese Mainland
held by the non-controlling interest.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due. Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the Company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group's policy is to regularly monitor its current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and long term. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, there were no
unutilised facilities, except for the aggregated unutilised facilities from
fellow subsidiaries of HK$ 126,000,000 (2023: HK$116,000,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. K EREEBERBUER @)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continved)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESRM (&)
The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the end TRAVNRNEEBRREHARATAOREIRIR
of reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which CRERAERZETACREE (BERE
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest AR =S (WEBFRBREBEREHRBITLZ
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates FE) FFEZ2FMEMR) 2HBRTHERE -
current at the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can IR AEBBEEEERATE ZF A -

be required to pay:

2024
“E-mE
On demand or
within 1 year 1to 2 years 3to5years  Over5 years Total
R—FER —EmF ZERF RENE st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERIE 218,324 - - - 218,324
Interest-bearing bank and other TEBRIREMEE
borrowings 470,039 220,426 909,291 51,299 1,651,055
Lease liabilities HERE 8,048 6,083 13,861 15,432 43,424
696,411 226,509 923,152 66,731 1,912,803

On demand or

within 1 year 1to 2 years 3to 5 years Over 5 years

REEHR
R—ER —ZEWE =ZhfF AENE 1
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T 7 T 7 T
Trade and other payables EHREMERFIE 342475 = = = 342,475

Interest-bearing bank and other HERITREMEE

borrowings 310,296 226,026 1,019,996 27,263 1,583,581
Unsecured notes (note 26) EERAZR (Mit26) 1,500 146,775 - - 148275
Lease liabilities HERE 8,561 8,170 13,781 6,512 37,024
662,832 380,971 1,033,777 33,775 2,111,355

1 80 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to changes in market interest rates relates primarily
to the Group'’s bank and other borrowings, unsecured notes and cash and
cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise mainly cash at banks and in hand, with
the annual interest rates ranging from approximately 0.05% to 1.65% as at
31 March 2024 (2023: approximately 0.001% to 1.95%).

The interest rates of the Group’s bank and other borrowings and unsecured
notes are disclosed in notes 25 and 26 respectively. The Group is exposed
to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank and other
borrowings and unsecured notes.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in respect of its variable-
rate bank and other borrowings (see note 25) and bank balances (see note
22) due to changes of interest rates. It is the Group's present policy to
keep its borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair
value interest rate risk. The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant fixed-rate bank and other borrowings
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2024, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100
basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would
decrease/increase the Group's profit after tax and increase/decrease
accumulated losses by approximately HK$5,172,000 (2023: HK$5,150,000).
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end of reporting period and
had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative
financial instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis point increase
or decrease represents management's assessment of a reasonably possible
change in the respective interest rates over the period until the next annual
reporting period. The analysis is performed on the same basis as of 31
March 2023.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Currency risk

The Group has minimal transactional currency exposure arising from
sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies, and hence it does not have any foreign currency
hedging policies.

Part of the Group’s operating expenses are denominated in RMB, which is
currently not a freely convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes
controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies and, in certain
cases, the remittance of currency out of Chinese Mainland. Shortages in the
availability of foreign currencies may restrict the ability of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries to remit sufficient foreign currencies to pay dividends or other
amounts to the Group.

Under the PRC existing foreign exchange regulations, payments of current
account items, including dividends, trade and service-related foreign
exchange transactions, can be made in foreign currencies without prior
approval from the State Administration for Foreign Exchange Bureau by
complying with certain procedural requirements. However, approval from
appropriate PRC governmental authorities is required where RMB is to be
converted into a foreign currency and remitted out of Chinese Mainland
to pay capital account items, such as the repayment of bank loans
denominated in foreign currencies.

Currently, the Group’s PRC subsidiaries may purchase foreign exchange for
settlement of current account transactions, including payment of dividends
to the Company, without prior approval of the State Administration for
Foreign Exchange Bureau. The Group's PRC subsidiaries may also retain
foreign currencies in their current accounts to satisfy foreign currency
liabilities or to pay dividends. Since foreign currency transactions on the
capital account are still subject to limitations and require approval from
the State Administration for Foreign Exchange Bureau, this could affect
the Group’s subsidiaries” ability to obtain required foreign exchange
through debt or equity financing, including by means of loans or capital
contributions from the Group. There are limited hedging instruments
available in Chinese Mainland to reduce the Group's exposure to exchange
rate fluctuations between RMB and other currencies. To date, the Group
has not entered into any hedging transactions in an effort to reduce the
Group's exposure to foreign currency exchange risks. While the Group may
decide to enter into hedging transactions in the future, the availability and
effectiveness of these hedges may be limited and the Group may not be
able to hedge the Group's exposure successfully, or at all.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group's exposures to currency risk of foreign currencies are considered
insignificant by the directors and therefore no sensitivity analysis has been
prepared.

Capital management

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is net debt divided
by total equity. Net debt is calculated as a total of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and unsecured notes less cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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2024
—E-MEF

HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TAT

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings  FFERITREMEE 25 1,314,513 1,277,728
Unsecured notes I I R 26 = 124,146
Total debt (R 1,314,513 1,401,874
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BReRREER 22 (243,435) (312,434)

Pledged bank deposits EEIFRITER 27 (39,611) (28,517)
Net debt (ERaE] 1,031,467 1,060,923
Total equity e AL FE 2,068,744 2,127,412
Gearing ratio A&k 49.9% 49.9%

2024 Annual Report
—E-NEER

183



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

36. COMMITMENTS 36. I

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the RB|ERR AEEB2EREENOT -
reporting period:

2024 2023
—ECoME —E_=F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FH&T

Contracted, but not provided for: BETAERFTRE®E -
— Property, plant and equipment -ME - BERFZE 3,007 5,498
- Properties under development -BRPME = 20,738
— Properties held for sale -EHIEREME 7,282 789
- Investment properties -REWME 156,293 167,625

166,582 194,650

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37. 28R & R RKT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) FEHFRERS
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had non-cash HE-_ZT-_NF=A=+—BLEE
additions to right-of-use assets (including certain balances classified A AEERAELTHEEF2HE
as investment properties) and lease liabilities of HK$10,001,000 ZHRERAEEE (BEIERIREY
(2023: HK$28,021,000) and HK$10,001,000 (2023: HK$28,021,000), EXMETHS) REEABZHERLA
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for leased land and E 9 B A10001,0008 T (Z T = =4 ¢
buildings. 28,021,000% Jt) K&10,001,000% 7t (= &

T~ =4 : 28021,0008 7T) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37. Z 8B & REXME »

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities:

31March2024 ZZE ZMF = A =+—H

ReRBERME®)

(b) MEZFBRELERBE2HE

Interest-
bearing bank
Lease and other Unsecured
liabilities borrowings notes Total
FEBRTR
HEAE Hife & EREREE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER TET
(note 16(b)) (note 25) (note 26)
(KH&E16(b)) (KtzE2s) (Kt =E26)
Balance as at 1 April 2022 R-B-—FEMA—RAzk&EH 19,947 1,275,675 216,542 1,512,164
Change in cash flow, net BeREReFaE (5,964) 55,108 (98,537) (49,393)
Exchange realignment 0 5 = (1,498) (53,055) = (54,553)
Modification EH) (12,588) - - (12,588)
Other non-cash movement HinFR e % 29,737 - 6,141 35,878
Balance as at 31 March 2023 and R-ZE_=F=A=+—-HEk
1 April 2023 “T-oC-EMA-RAZEHR 29,634 1,277,728 124,146 1,431,508
Change in cash flow, net BenegyiE (8,387) 49,174 (118,326) (77,539)
Exchange realignment 0 5 (482) (14,972) = (15,454)
Modification EH) 10,001 - - 10,001
Other non-cash movement Hi R 2% 2,103 2,583 (5,820) (1,134)
Balance as at 31 March 2024 = eE S E == 7
#eh 32,869 1,314,513 - 1,347,382
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following material transactions with related
parties during the year:

(a) Compensation of key management personnel of the

3. AERS

RREMBRREMBOFRZZHIHN
AEERFAEBBIETUTERRS ¢

(a) AEEXTEEEABZHMH

Group
2024 2023
—E-OEF —T_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Short-term employee benefits HHEESEF 20,241 14,654
Post-employment benefits BB 12 1R A 94 102
Equity-settled share-based payment LAME 25 45 E AR D R EHE 2 T3k 1,258 1,986
21,593 16,742

The above compensation of key management personnel includes the
directors’ remuneration, details of which are set out in note 9 to the
financial statements.

(b) Transactions with related parties

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings T EHEEERBR A A

Limited and its subsidiaries REKMB AR
(“WYT Group’) (MzxcEEE])
— Interest expense on other - HaEERNERAXZ
borrowings
— Purchase of goods -BEEm
Wang On Group Limited and its RREBBERARRE
subsidiaries (excluding WYT Group) M@ DR (N edE
fTESH)
— Interest expense on other - HfEER SR
borrowings
- License fee paid - BT E
— Right-of-use assets recognised -BERRAEAEEE
- Management fee -EEB
— Acquisition of subsidiaries - U BEHI B A A

ERFEEBABZHMEBEESHMH -
ERAHBHR M B RERM T -

(b) EREBLSHNXS

2024
—ECNE

HK$’000
FTET

0] 39,100
(i) 1,383
0] -
(iif) 3,210
(iv) =
(iif) 300

2023
—E_=4F
HKS$'000
FAT

39,461
1,460

2,378
1,234
9,644
300
997

1 8 6 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(c)

Notes:

(i)  Theinterest was charged by related parties on loans advanced to the
Group. Details of the terms of the relevant loans are set out in note
25 to the financial statements.

(i) The purchases from the WYT Group were made according to the
published price and conditions that the WYT Group to their major
customers.

(i)~ The transactions were based on terms mutually agreed between the
Group and the related parties.

(iv) During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered into
various lease agreements with a subsidiary of Wang On in respect of
leasing certain retail premises for the Group's wet market operations
in Hong Kong. The amount of rent payable by the Group under the
leases ranged from HK$23,000 to HK$88,000 per month, which was
determined with reference to the prevailing market conditions in
the vicinity. At the commencement dates of the leases, the Group
recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in aggregate of
HK$9,644,000 and HK$9,644,000, respectively.

(v)  On 1 October 2022, the Group entered into shares transfer
agreements with a fellow subsidiary of the Group to acquire 60%
equity interests in each of Kingtex and Jet Success together with the
Shareholder’s Loan at a total consideration of HK$997,000. Details of
the transaction are disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements.

Outstanding balance with related parties

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had unsecured borrowings with
carrying amount of HK$74,000,000 and HK$306,000,000 from Wai Yuen
Tong Medicine Company Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of WYT Group, and Luxembourg Medicine Company Limited, a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of WYT Group, respectively (2023:
HK$84,000,000 and HK$306,000,000, respectively). These unsecured
borrowings are denominated in HKD and carry fixed interest rate at
10% per annum with maturity in May 2027.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
REMEERMEE)
31 March2024 —EZE=HA=+—8”

39. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

As at 31 March 2024, the Group provided guarantees of approximately
HKS$22,846,000 (2023: HKS$36,077,000) to customers in favour of certain
banks for the loans provided by the banks to the customers of the
properties sold. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of
default on mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of
the guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties owed
by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any sales proceeds as
described below.

Pursuant to the above arrangement, the related properties were pledged
to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, in the event of default on
mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the banks are entitled to take
over the legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through open
auction or other appropriate means. The Group is responsible for repaying
the banks when the proceeds from the auction of the properties cannot
cover the outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued
interest and penalties.

The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance of real estate ownership
certificates to the purchasers.

The fair value of the guarantees is not significant and the directors of
the Company consider that in the event of default on payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties can cover the repayment of the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and
penalties.
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40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

41

42

On 31 March 2024 (the "Redemption Date"), the Company has redeemed
all outstanding Unsecured Notes 2024 (i.e. in the principal amount of HK$40
million) pursuant to condition 6(B) (Early redemption right of the Issuer)
of the terms and conditions of the unsecured notes set out in the offering
circular dated 19 May 2014 (the “Offering Circular”’) and the pricing
supplement to the Offering Circular dated 26 May 2014, at a price equal to
92.88% of the principal amount excluding interest accrued to and including
the Redemption Date. Subsequent to the redemption of all outstanding
unsecured notes, the unsecured notes were delisted on 8 April 2024.

On 25 May 2024, the Group has entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “SPA”) with an independent third party (the “Purchaser”)
for the disposal of the entire equity interests of a subsidiary (the “Target
Company’) holding, among others, the property interests in the
Huai‘an Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market for an
initial consideration of approximately RMB28.9 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$31.9 million) subject to adjustments. The Purchaser
has also undertaken under the SPA to provide funding to the Target
Company in the amount of approximately RMB140.5 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$154.9 million) for the Target Company's repayment of
certain intercompany loans owned to the Company’s subsidiaries. Further
details of the disposal are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 25 May 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 17 June 2024.

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified and re-presented to
conform with current year's presentation, which mainly included the
reclassification of certain items in primary statements, and the presentation
of certain notes to the financial statements.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board on 26 June 2024.

40.

41.

42,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuec)
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
MEFR

31 March2024 R —ZZEZWME=A=+—H

190

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REWE
Attributable
interest
Location of the Group
4t 3 AEBEERS
Wuhan Baishazhou Agri-Products Market, Special Agricultural produce Medium term lease 100%
Nos.1 Qingling Street, Qingling Country, exchange market
Hongshan District, Wuhan City, Hubei Province, the PRC
mEBILERET AILEEEREZEE % REMRX 5% R EIE A
REBAYMNRBIERATS
Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International Agricultural produce Medium term lease 100%
Logistics Centre, west of Luoji Expressway, Old town exchange market
District, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC
REIEERETERE RS REBERR REMX 5T HIE A
RERERBERBBRDRS L
Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International Agricultural produce Medium term lease 100%
Logistics Centre, south of Kaigi Highway and East of exchange market
Xilin Public Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province,
the PRC
RET A RS TRE AR A RARRERA REMR 5% HEE A
AERERBEREREDRH O
Xuzhou Agri-Products Centre Wholesale Market, East of Agricultural produce Medium term lease 51%

Yingbin Avenue, Quanshan District, Xuzhou City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
F BT &R A 1R 2R L [ 3 K8 R MR
EMRRIERT OB ETS

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERAF
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES (continued)
MEFE®)
31 March2024 R —ZE Z_WME=/=+—H

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

FEHEME

Approximate saleable

Attributable interest

Location floor area (square feet) of the Group
3t BATEREEE (FAR) AEBEERES
Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International 693,000  Agricultural produce 100%
Logistics Centre, West of Luoji Expressway, Laocheng exchange market
District, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC
REGIEERETERE SR EBERA REMRX 5%
RERERBERERDRT L
Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International 127,000  Agricultural produce 100%
Logistics Centre, South of Kaigi Highway and East of Xilin exchange market
Public Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province, the PRC
B R E R TR AR A RARAZRA REMRX 5%
MEREREERERDRT L
Phase | of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri-Products Market, 467,000  Agricultural produce 51%
South of the Second Ring North Road, Yuzhou District, exchange market
Yulin City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC
B EREAL B REEME R ) REMRX 5%
ENEERBERBE TS —H
China — ASEAN (Qinzhou) Agri-Products Market, North of 1,673,000  Agricultural produce 100%

Jinhaiwan West Avenue (Entrance of Nanbei Highway),
Qinzhou City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
the PRC

HEERL B RERNTSEER AR
(FlemEHAR) RE — REB (SM) RERATIS

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

exchange market

Estimated
approximate
Approximate gross  Estimate Attributable
site area floorarea  completion Stage interest
Location (square feet)  (square feet) date of completion  of the Group
fE R4
Bt EER mEE X5E
i3 (FAR) EEFEAR) @EFzHEH ZHER bR
Phase Il of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri- Agricultural produce 32,000 84000 2025 Building 100%
Products Market, south of the 2nd Ring exchange market
North Road, Yuzhou District, Yulin City,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the
PRC
PEARANBEAAKEREINE=S BEMRSTS ZRT

RILREEENREBRIERBETS
=8
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FFEEE

Yearended 31 March 2024 HZE - —_NF=A=+—HLtFE

Fifteen

months from

1 January

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 2023 2022 2020

Bz 5z
—E-ME T--F ZZ-C —F-
=R=+—-H B=Er=6 ZEH=Er=6 ZH=r—E
ILEE HEE HEE +EE  G+AEEA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THT FET TET TAT

Results S|
Revenue Wz 579,132 596,400 868,685 650,529 1,091,437
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRELATEF,/ (BB) 83,117 27,903 105,793 644,463 171,800
Income tax expense A% (56,241) (9,402) (68,757) (143,293) (138,475)
Profit/(loss) for the year/period F/BMRE/ (BE) 26,876 18,501 37,036 501,170 33,325
Attributable to: AT AL :
Owners of the parent N/NGIE 2PN 7,353 6,836 6,401 489,602 5,880
Non-controlling interests FEE PR R A 19,523 11,665 30,635 11,568 27,445
26,876 18,501 37,036 501,170 33325
As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 202 2022
® i
—EC-ME 2 F ZZT-=F
=A=t+-H EH=+=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THL THT THT
Assets and liabilities BERAE
Total assets BEE 4,638,066 4915193 5,491,088 5,584,243 5,138,673
Total liabilities BmaE (2,569,322)  (2787,781)  (3139556)  (3378390)  (3,653:308)
2,068,744 2,127,412 2,351,532 2,205,853 1485,365
Attributable to: AT AL :
Owners of the parent AARIEEA 1,675,511 1738026 1939313 1,808,148 1,091,640
Non-controlling interests RS 393,233 389,386 412219 397,705 393,725

2,068,744 2,127,412 2,351,532 2,205,853 1,485,365

1 9 2 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
HEREMXZERAF
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